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Thursday, February 20, 2020
9:00 A.M.
7375 Utilities Road, Building 313, Punta Gorda, FL

AGENDA
1. Call to Order: Reminder to turn off your cell phones
2. Invocation: For those who wish to join, please rise for the invocation.
3. Pledge of Allegiance
4. Roll Call
5. Citizen’s Input: Anyone wishing to address the Board during this portion should state their
name for the record. Each citizen is allowed up to two minutes to express their opinion.
6. Additions and/or Deletions to the Agenda
7. Employee Service Recognition

Ms. Desguin

8. Consent Agenda: All matters listed under this item are considered routine and action will be
accomplished by one motion without separate discussion of each item. If discussion is desired
by a Commissioner, item(s) will be removed from the Consent Agenda and considered
separately.
Secretary/Treasurer
Minutes Regular Meeting – January 16, 2020
CEO
Enterprise Leasing Company of FL, LLC Lease – Enterprise Leasing Company
of FL, LLC would like to lease Building 212, units 4 and 5 to be utilized as vehicle
maintenance center. (This lease will be signed by Lessee prior to meeting date or it
will be pulled from the Consent Agenda.)
Staff Recommended Action: Board approve lease with Enterprise Leasing
Company of FL, LLC
9. Secretary/Treasurer’s Report
a. Accounts Receivables
b. Income Statement
c. Balance Sheet

Mrs. Coppola
Mr. Parish
Mr. Parish
Mr. Parish

10. Liaison Reports
a. Punta Gorda City Council
b. Board of County Commissioners
c. Metropolitan Planning Organization
d. Community
e. State Legislation

Mr. Hancik
Mr. Herston
Mr. Andrews
Mrs. Coppola
Chair Seay

11. Attorney’s Report

Attorney Carr

12. CEO’s Report
a. Development Update
b. Marketing Update
c. Aviation Report
d. Economic Development Partnership Overview

Mr. Parish
Mr. Ridenour
Mrs. Miller
Mr. Mallard
Mr. Parish

13. Old Business
a. Restaurant Proposal

Mr. Parish

14. New Business
a. Audit Presentation
b. State Infrastructure Bank (SIB) Loan
c. Set Date for Workshop

Mr. Parish
Mr. Parish
Mr. Parish

15. Citizen’s Input: Anyone wishing to address the Board during this portion should state their
name for the record. Each citizen is allowed up to two minutes to express their opinion.
16. Commissioner’s Comments
17. Adjournment

Agenda items for February 20, 2020 Meeting
A copy of all the attachments are at www.flypgd.com/airport-authority/meeting-minutes-and-agendas/
12. Old Business
a. Restaurant Proposal – Board discussion.
13. New Business
a. Audit Presentation – Presented by Tuscan & Company.
Staff Recommended Action: Board approve audit report.
b. State Infrastructure Bank (SIB) Loan – SIB loan documents have been provided by
FDOT for Board review. Once the Board has provided comments and approved submitting
the loan document back to FDOT, a final loan document will be received to be approved at
a later meeting.
Staff Recommended Action: Board provide comment and approve submitting document
back to FDOT.
c. Set Date for Workshop – In addition to the regularly scheduled April Board meeting, Staff
would like to hold a Workshop. The preferred date for both Staff and the Consultant is
April 7th. Alternative preferred days include April 1st, 2nd ,3rd or the afternoon of the 8th.
Staff Recommended Action: Board discretion.
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1. Call to Order
2.
10

Invocation
County Commissioner Deutsch gave the invocation.

3. Pledge of Allegiance
4. Roll Call
15

20

Present: Chair Seay; Commissioners Andrews, Coppola, Hancik and Herston (arrived at 9:05
A.M.); Attorney Carr; CEO Parish; Mr. Mallard; Ms. Hendren; Mr. Ridenour; Mrs. Cauley;
Ms. Desguin; Mr. Laroche; Mrs. Miller; Mrs. Delph; Ms. Straw; Mrs. Harper, and Ms. Pedigo.
Others present: Jim Kaletta; Lionel Shuman; Steven Henriquez; Gary Harrell; Lakshmi
Gurram; Councilmember Miller; Donna Jablonski; Venessa Oliver; Commissioner Deutsch,
others from the private sector and a member of the press.
5. Citizen’s Input

25

6. Additions and/or Deletions to the Agenda
7. Consent Agenda

30

Commissioner Andrews motioned to approve the Consent Agenda. Commissioner
Coppola seconded. Motion passed unanimously.
8. Secretary/Treasurer’s Report

35

Mr. Parish commented that finances are tracking well with the budget and cash continues to
rise but will fluctuate with current construction projects.
9. Liaison Reports

40

a) Punta Gorda City Council – Commissioner Hancik commented that the annual
community meeting is coming up and that he will be attending.
Commissioner Herston arrived at 9:05 A.M.

45

b) Board of County Commissioners – Commissioner Herston commented that there will
be a new permitting system to make the process of submitting projects easier.

50

c) Metropolitan Planning Organization – Commissioner Andrews had nothing to report
as the MPO has a presentation for the Board under agenda item 11e. CEO’s Report. He
commented that he’ll have more to report on next month as he’ll be attending the MPO
meeting on January 30th.
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d) Community – Commissioner Coppola reported that the Airport has had good publicity
recently and reviewed previous newspaper articles mentioning the Airport. She
commented that the Wings of Freedom Tour will be at the Naples Municipal Airport from
January 23rd through February 2nd, that she saw David Gammon is now within the
Economic Development Office and discussed the upcoming Fly on the Ford event at the
Airport from January 23rd through January 26th. She commented that she attended the
Women’s Republican Forum and a Trump Club meeting.
e) State Legislation – Chair Seay reported that Mr. Parish has been working with the
Airports Tallahassee liaison to keep track of the aviation fuel tax bill, a new development
regarding payments that come from any airport authority board or special district and the
PFAS exception. Mr. Parish commented that Senate Bill 1302, which has to do with
sovereign immunity, has no house companion and that he’s going to sit down with the
Airports legal counsel to review the proposed language changes. He commented that he is
keeping an eye on minor bills regarding tax exemption on aircraft sales, drones, public
procurement, diesel exhaust capture system and real ID requirements.
10. Attorney’s Report

20

Attorney Carr reported that all matters, except for the continuing acquisition of property, have
been concluded and that there is no threat of or pending litigation against the Airport.
11. CEO’s Report
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a) Development Update – Mr. Parish reported that the property acquisition for the runway
4-22 RPZ has been completed and that plans are in the process of being put out to fence
the area. He reported the property acquisition on the runway 33 end is still underway with
a late January or early February closing, he’s awaiting determination of SIS funding for
the roadway network project and that final plans have been received for the long-term
parking expansion project so it can be advertised sometime this month. He commented
that the Airport will now be using an online bidding service to deliver bid documents to
interested parties. He commented that design and cost evaluation is moving forward for
T-hangars, the administration building expansion is on hold, a funding application for
design has been submitted to the FAA for runway 4-22 reconstruction, the new GA center
and hangar 207 replacement is slowly moving forward and runway 15-33 phase one is
complete. Chair Seay opined that the Development Report is very detailed and that she
enjoys reading it.
b) Marketing Update – Mrs. Miller reported that the Why Fly PGD campaign is going well
and that she’s working on updating and completing the business card size destination
cards. Mr. Parish commented that Wink news ran an article this morning that said
Sunseeker Resort was going to have overflow parking at the Airport and that he hasn’t
been notified yet of that happening.
c) Aviation Report – Mr. Mallard reported on passenger counts, fuel sales and gallons
pumped, aircraft ops, and hangar vacancies. He commented that seasonal service to
Savannah, Georgia will begin on June 6th.
d) School Board of Charlotte County A&P Program Update – Mr. Parish reported that
the School Board has submitted a Pre-Application Statement of Intent (PASI) to the FAA,
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which is the statement that says they think they’re going to submit a formal application.
He commented that this means the FAA has 30 days to decide if the local division can
handle the application. He commented if the local FAA division finds they are unable to
handle the application, there is an additional 30 days for the FAA to attempt to find another
division that can handle it and if they are unable to find another division, it is sent back to
the local division, which will have another 30 days to assign the application to one local
individual. He commented that if you refer to the flowchart presented at a previous
meeting, this is the very first step in the chart and that two people on their staff have been
assigned to complete the process.
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e) MPO Presentation – Gary Harrell and Lakshmi Gurram gave a presentation on the
MPO’s Long Range Transportation Plan (LRTP) (see attached). Commissioner Hancik
inquired as to why there is a decline in K-12 student enrollment. Mr. Gurram commented
that when the last LRTP was completed in 2014, the consultant used a projection of 17
students per 100 people and the latest version is 10 students per every 100 people, which
is more accurate. Commissioner Herston inquired as to why the number of trips into the
Airport was not listed within the presentation. Mr. Gurram commented that today’s
presentation is the first step of the LRTP and that the next step involves traffic analysis.
Commissioner Herston inquired how Uber and Lyft will affect the Transit Program. Mr.
Harrell commented that Uber and Lyft were added to the Transportation Development
Plan Update that was adopted last year and spoke on possible solutions. Commissioner
Coppola inquired as to what natural spaces are. Gary Harrell commented that natural
spaces are preservations, which will not have any road built through it. Commissioner
Andrews commented that when his stepdaughter visited, she found it was cheaper to use
Uber rather than a rental car. Commissioner Coppola commented that when she was part
of the MPO a long time ago, she proposed an entrance to the Airport from I-75 but was
turned down as the MPO didn’t feel there was enough traffic at the time. Mr. Harrell
commented that in the future, Airport Road over I-75 could have an interchange but opined
that as of today, he doesn’t see it happening. Attorney Carr inquired if the LRTP impacts
the major road system that the legislators have been discussing regarding a road from
Naples moving northbound to US-17. Mr. Harrell commented that the legislators passed
the Multi-use Corridors of Regional Economic Significance (M-CORES) last year, that
there’s three different task force applying for it, and that he’s currently unsure of where it
will go. He commented that M-CORES and the LRTP will both be adopted in October of
2020 and that the LRTP will need to be adjusted afterwards to include M-CORES.
Attorney Carr confirmed that M-CORES is not being completed in conjunction with the
LRTP and that the study is to build a road from Collier County up to Orlando. Mr. Harrell
requested everyone visit www.CCMPO.com to complete the LRTP survey.
f) State of the Airport – Mr. Parish gave a presentation on the State of the Airport (see
attached). Commissioner Coppola opined that there’s been an amazing improvement from
the time she first joined the Board until today. Commissioner Herston inquired if the per
enplanement passenger revenue includes any rental car percentage. Mr. Parish commented
that it is included. Commissioner Herston inquired if the rental car revenue per enplaned
passenger is known. Mr. Parish commented that the revenue is broken down by every
source to follow trends and that for rental cars, the contracts are being adjusted to include
a radius clause to ensure revenues are not lost to Sunseeker.
12. Old Business

50
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13. New Business

5

a) Liaison Assignments – Chair Seay commented that she will stay State Legislation liaison
and opined that whoever is Chair should hold that position. She reported that
Commissioner Coppola will stay community liaison, Commissioner Hancik will stay the
Punta Gorda City Council liaison, Commissioner Andrews will stay the MPO liaison, and
Commissioner Herston will stay the Board of County Commissioners liaison and serve as
an alternate for the MPO.
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b) Restaurant Proposal – Mr. Parish reported that he’s received many inquiries as to the
operation of the restaurant next to the terminal and that he believes it will be three to five
years before the terminal is expanded. He commented that the current restaurant operators
are on the first year of a five-year lease extension and that there is concern within the
community and from other operators that the Airport is not receiving what they should out
of the current facility. He commented that there have been a lot of complaints received
from the public and GA community that the restaurant is not open on Saturdays and close
at 1:30 pm on other days. He commented that there is a clause within the contract that the
Authority can terminate the current lease with a year notice and inquired if the Board has
any desire to entertain getting a new operator. Commissioner Andrews opined that it
would be a good idea to look further into. Commissioner Hancik inquired if there’s any
known interest from other possible operators. Mr. Parish reported that there are currently
two interested parties that have approached staff without any marketing and opined that
due to that, there is some interest. Commissioner Hancik opined that the two interested
operators may have come to the Authority due to the knowledge of poor performance by
the existing operator and inquired if the future terminal expansion will encompass the
restaurant. Mr. Parish commented that it will. Commissioner Hancik opined that the
restaurant may not be open due to the knowledge of the onsite food trucks. Mr. Parish
commented that the food trucks were more of an answer to the restaurant not being open.
He commented that he met with the current restaurant operator a little over a year ago and
asked them to continue serving after 1:30 pm as they closed at 2 pm and the operator’s
solution was to close at 1:30 pm instead. Commissioner Coppola commented that they
close right over lunch time. Mr. Parish agreed and commented that the big crowd rush for
flights is 6 am to 9 am, 10 am to 2 pm, and the new rush is from 2 pm to 5 pm, which
means a lot of customers are not being served. He commented that he wanted to bring the
matter to the Board, that it’s not something he really wants to do, and opines that it’s
something that needs to be discussed. Commissioner Coppola confirmed with Mr. Parish
that the same couple is operating the restaurant that has been all along. Mr. Parish opined
that it’s a hard decision. Commissioner Hancik opined that when viewing the current
customer experience, the Airport has a number of customer experience problems which
includes traffic and parking. He commented that all of the current problems will be taken
care of but it does take time and money to fix and that with an added problem with the
restaurant, the operators should be put on notice that says they need to change or the
Airport will be seeking another operator. Mr. Parish opined that the previous agreement
from 2004, which would not be signed in the future, provides no control by the Airport as
to when the restaurant is open. He opined that the options available are to write a strongly
written letter asking for change or to terminate the current lease. Commissioner Herston
inquired if Attorney Carr can write a letter to the restaurant operators and commented that
he was surprised to hear that this was a problem. Commissioner Coppola commented that
she was surprised when the food trucks were announced and inquired if the restaurant
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operators understand the business, they’re losing by not being open. Mr. Parish
commented that his previous meeting with the operators was a little less than cordial and
that the operations have changed through the years. He commented that the reason the
matter is on the agenda is because two separate operators, one from St. Martin and one
local individual, are very interested in taking the restaurant space over. Commissioner
Andrews inquired what would happen to the food truck service if another operator took
the space over. Mr. Parish opined that it would be something that could work in
conjunction if there’s an agreement the restaurant will be open during certain hours and
the food trucks only come in on busy days or weekends. Chair Seay opined that it appears
the Board would like Mr. Parish to speak with the current restaurant operators to attempt
to find a resolution and bring it back in February for any additional action. Commissioner
Herston inquired if it would be a better idea to send Attorney Carr to meet with the current
operators. Mr. Parish opined that he would like to send friendly faces from the Airport
instead and that staff will move forward and bring it back next month.
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c) Supplemental Agreement No. 6 – On-Call Planning Services with AECOM – Mr.
Parish commented that AECOM is the organization who assembled the Master Plan and
Environmental Assessment and that it’s a requirement the Airport Layout Plan (ALP) and
electronic ALP stay up to date. He commented that presented is a contract not to exceed
$25,000, that includes subcontractors, that can be used over the next few years to update
finished projects on the ALP. Commissioner Herston motioned to approve
Supplemental Agreement Number 6 as presented up to an amount of $25,000.
Commissioner Hancik seconded. Motion passed unanimously.
d) FDOT Public Transportation Grant Agreements and Corresponding Resolutions for
Runway 15-33 Project, New General Aviation Terminal Project, Runway 4-22
Design, Rehabilitation and Construction Project and Back-Up Generator at the Fuel
Farm – Mr. Parish commented that there are four Public Transportation Grant
Agreements (PTGA): one for additional money the runway 15-33 rehabilitation project,
one for the first part of the million dollars for the general aviation terminal project, one in
the amount of $78,450 for 5% of the cost of runway 4-22 design and one in the amount of
$25,000 for a backup generator at the fuel farm. Commissioner Herston motioned to
accept all four PTGA’s and approve Resolutions 2020-01, 2020-02, 2020-03 and 202004 as presented. Commissioner Coppola opined that the generator is absolutely necessary
with the upcoming hurricane season. Motion passed unanimously.
14. Citizen’s Input

40
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Commissioner Deutsch – Commented that he’s been a long-term fan of the Airport. He
commented that when he flew out of the Airport recently, he parked in short-term as he has
trouble walking, that he was charged $79 for three days of parking and opined that it was
expensive. He inquired if the new flights with Allegiant are a sign that the snowbird population
is growing.
15. Commissioner’s Comments
Commissioner Herston – Thanked staff for their work and inquired if there’s any form of
reimbursement program for Commissioner Deutsch’s $79. Chair Seay commented that she’ll
have Mr. Parish look into it.

50
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Commissioner Andrews – Opined the MPO and State of the Airport presentations were
interesting and all about change. He commented that he enjoys being a part of the Airport and
its contribution to the community and economic impact. He thanked staff for their hard work.
5

Commissioner Coppola – Commented that there was a large sign displayed during a news
story in New Jersey that said, “We’re all moving to Florida”.

10

Chair Seay – Thanked Commissioner Deutsch and Councilmember Miller for attending the
meeting and Mr. Harrell for his presentation. She inquired if Venessa Oliver would be
interested in providing an update during next month’s meeting regarding what’s happening
with Economic Development. She requested everyone visit www.CCMPO.com to complete
the LRTP survey.
16. Adjournment

15
Meeting adjourned at 10:50 a.m.

20
____________________________________
Pamella A. Seay, Chair

25

___________________________________
Kathleen Coppola, Secretary/Treasurer

Form of Non-Capital / Non-Aeronautical
Lease on non-aeronautical land

COMMERCIAL BUILDING LEASE AGREEMENT

between

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY

and

ENTERPRISE LEASING COMPANY OF FLORIDA, LLC

dated as of
February 15, 2020

COMMERCIAL BUILDING LEASE AGREEMENT
(Non-aeronautical)
THIS COMMERCIAL BUILDING LEASE AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is
effective as of the 15th day of February, 2020, by and between the CHARLOTTE COUNTY
AIRPORT AUTHORITY, a public body corporate under the laws of Florida (the “Authority”),
and Enterprise Leasing Company of Florida, LLC, a Delaware Limited Liability Company
(the “Lessee” and, together with Authority, the “Parties” and each a “Party”).
RECITALS
WHEREAS, Authority is the owner and operator of the Punta Gorda Airport in the City
of Punta Gorda, Charlotte County, Florida (the “Airport”);
WHEREAS, Authority has the right, title and interest in and to the real property on the
Airport, together with the facilities, easements, rights, licenses, and privileges hereinafter
granted, and has full power and authority to enter into this Agreement in respect thereof;
WHEREAS, Authority owns that certain real property located within the Airport
described as 27240 Airport Road Road, Punta Gorda, Florida 33982, Exhibit A which
consists of 7200 square feet of building area and the exclusive use of Building 212 Unit 4 & 5
(such real property, together with all rights, privileges, easements and appurtenances benefiting
such real property, are collectively referred to herein as the “Leased Premises”);
WHEREAS, Authority desires to develop the Leased Premises for non-aeronautical
commercial use beneficial to the Charlotte County Airport Authority and the general public,
including but not limited to vehicle maintenance and repair uses;
WHEREAS, Lessee is qualified, ready, willing and able to undertake such use; and
WHEREAS, the Parties hereto wish to memorialize their agreement herein and they
agree as follows:
WHEREAS, Authority agrees to delineate tenants’ space with chain link fence and post
as illustrated on Exhibit A;
WHEREAS, Authority agrees to pay pre-agreed cost for Enterprise to move rental car
kiosk building and deduct the cost from rent:
AGREEMENT
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing Recitals, which by this reference
are hereby incorporated into this Agreement, and the mutual covenants contained in this
Agreement, the Parties hereto hereby agree as follows:

1
_____________AUTHORITY

____________LESSEE

ARTICLE I
LEASE OF LEASED PREMISES; TERM
Lease of Leased Premises. Authority hereby leases to Lessee, and Lessee hereby rents
from Authority for its exclusive use the Leased Premises, all herein described rights incident
thereto, for and during the Lease Term and upon and subject to the terms, provisions and
conditions herein set forth.
Section 1.1
Lease Term. The term of this Agreement (the “Lease Term”) shall be for
a period of two (2) years commencing on February 15, 2020 (the “Commencement Date”), and
unless sooner terminated pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement, shall terminate on
February 28, 2022. The Lease Term has an option to extend year to year for five (5) years with
CPI-U increase. The granting of such extension shall be in the sole discretion of Authority upon
a written request by Lessee to be provided to Authority not less than ninety (90) days prior to the
termination. No further extensions shall be granted by Authority. However, the foregoing shall
not preclude the Parties from entering a new lease to be effective after the expiration of Lease
Term.
Section 1.2
Early Termination Clause. During the Term of this Lease, Lessee may
terminate this Lease at any time upon not less than ninety (90) days advance written notice to
Authority. If Lessee elects to terminate this Lease, Tenant shall pay Authority an amount equal
to ninety (90) days of the then current Rent contemporaneously with written termination as
consideration for the early termination. Such termination consideration shall be in addition to,
and not in replacement, of the Rent (herein defined) due for the remainder of the period of
occupancy by Lessee until the early termination date. This Lease shall be specifically contingent
upon Lessee obtaining all necessary approvals that may be required by any County, municipal or
any other governmental agency, including but not limited to all approvals and permits, from fire,
building, and zoning agencies. In the event, Enterprise is unable to obtain necessary or required
permit or approval this Lease may be terminated by Enterprise upon written request to Authority.
Section 1.3

Holding Over; Rights at Expiration.

A.
If Lessee retains all or any portion of the Leased Premises after the termination of
the Lease Term by lapse of time or otherwise, such holding over shall constitute the creation of a
tenancy at will with respect to such retained portion, terminable by Authority at any time upon
thirty (30) days prior written notice to Lessee at a rental rate of one and one-half (1.5) times the
Rent amount in effect at the end of the Lease Term. All provisions of this Agreement shall
remain in full force and effect during such holdover period.
B.
Lessee further agrees that upon the expiration of the Lease Term, the Leased
Premises will be delivered to Authority in as good a condition as when this Agreement began,
reasonable wear and tear and matters covered by insurance excepted.
C.
As set forth elsewhere herein, Lessee shall have no rights with respect to any
improvements made to the Leased Premises during the Lease Term that are not otherwise
required to be removed by Authority. Lessee shall retain all rights with respect to its unattached
equipment and signage.
2
_____________AUTHORITY

____________LESSEE

Section 1.4
Inspection of Leased Premises; Access to Books and Records. Authority,
through its duly authorized agents, shall have at any reasonable time the full and unrestricted
right to enter the Leased Premises for the purpose of periodic inspection for fire protection,
maintenance and to investigate compliance with the terms of this Agreement; provided, however,
that except in the case of emergency, such right shall be exercised upon reasonable prior notice
to Lessee and with an opportunity for Lessee to have an employee or agent present, and will not
interfere with Lessee’s construction or operations. Lessee agrees to provide any documents that
may be requested by Authority to determine compliance with this Agreement within thirty (30)
days of such request.
Section 1.5
Ownership of Leased Premises. Authority and Lessee intend and hereby
agree that the Leased Premises shall be and remain the property of Authority during the entire
term of this Agreement and thereafter.
Section 1.6
Vacation of Leased Premises. Sixty (60) days prior to the cessation of this
Agreement, Lessee is required to contact Authority. The Authority will inspect Leased Premises
to determine Lessee responsibility for repairs or maintenance work required, if any, prior to
vacating the Leased Premises.
ARTICLE II
RENTAL; SECURITY DEPOSIT
Rent. In consideration for the use of the Leased Premises herein granted,
Lessee shall pay to Authority the following rental amounts (the “Rent”).
Beginning on the Commencement Date, Lessee shall pay to Authority, for first year
following the Commencement Date, the monthly rental amount of FORTY FIVE HUNDRED
DOLLARS ($4500.00) (plus any applicable sales tax) due on the first day of each month. Year
(2) two, the monthly rental amount of FIVE THOUSAND DOLLARS ($5000.00) (Plus any
applicable sales tax) due on the first day of each month beginning February 15, 2021. Thereafter,
the Rent shall be adjusted based upon increases in the Consumer Price Index for the Urban Area,
as established by the United States Bureau of Labor Statistics (“CPI-U”) as outlined below.
It is agreed by the Parties that should this Lease be extended as provided herein, the
annual rent shall be adjusted initially for each one (1) year extension after the second year term
of the Lease (each such date referred to herein as a “Rent Adjustment Date”) on the basis of
increases in the CPI-U.
If the corresponding CPI-U figure on the first Rent Adjustment Date exceeds the CPI
figure on the Commencement Date, then the annual current rent shall be increased by an amount
equal to the percentage of increase in the CPI-U. Similar adjustments shall be made on each
succeeding Rent Adjustment Date based on the percentage increase, if any, in the CPI-U from
the prior Rent Adjustment Date. All adjustments shall be effective on the applicable Rent
Adjustment Date. All adjustments shall be rounded to nearest 1/10th percent. No increase for
any period shall exceed five percent (5%). Notwithstanding any provisions to the contrary
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contained in this Agreement, it is agreed by the Parties that the Rent shall never be less than the
Rent paid prior to each succeeding Rent Adjustment Date.
Late Charge. There shall be an extra charge of THIRTY DOLLARS
($30.00) on any check returned by the bank for insufficient funds or account not existing. Any
rental payment not received within ten (10) days of its due date shall carry an additional charge
of one and one-half percent (1.5%) as a late penalty fee.
Time and Place of Payments. The Rent, as well as all other charges
hereunder, shall be payable in equal monthly installments in advance on or before the first
business day of each calendar month of the Lease Term at Authority’s principal place of business
at the address set forth in Section 8.3.
Delinquent Rent. In the event Rent due pursuant to Section 2.1 or any
other amounts payable by Lessee hereunder shall not be paid by Lessee on the due date thereof,
Lessee shall pay to Authority as additional Rent, an interest charge of the two percent (2%) of
the amount due for each full calendar month of delinquency, computed as simple interest, except
that if such amount exceeds the highest rate permissible by law the amount so collected shall be
reduced to the highest rate permissible by law. No interest shall be charged until payment is
thirty (30) days overdue, but any such interest assessed thereafter shall be computed from the due
date.
Security Deposit. Lessee shall deposit with Authority upon the execution
of this Agreement a sum TEN THOUSAND DOLLARS ($10,000.00).
OCCUPANCY, USE AND CONDITIONS OF LEASED PREMISES
Condition of Leased Premises. Lessee accepts the Leased Premises in
their present “as is” condition. Lessee acknowledges and agrees that Authority makes no
representation or warranty as to the condition of the Leased Premises, whether as to patent, latent
or other defects and general condition. Authority has no obligation to repair or replace the
Leased Premises or any component or part thereof, whether or not affixed to the building.
However, it is acknowledged that Authority shall construct a chain link fence and post on the
property delineating the tenant’s space as illustrated on Exhibit A. Lessee releases Authority and
holds it and its officers, directors, employees and agents harmless for any claims arising out of
any condition of the Leased Premises. Lessee agrees that the Leased Premises are now in a
tenantable and good condition. Lessee shall take good care of the Leased Premises and they
shall not be altered, repaired or changed without the written consent of Authority. Lessee shall,
at its expense, when surrendering said Leased Premises, remove from said Leased Premises and
said building, all partitions, counters, railing, etc., installed in Leased Premises by said Lessee.
All damage or injury done to the Leased Premises by Lessee, shall be paid for by Lessee. Lessee
shall, at the termination of this Agreement, surrender the Leased Premises to Authority in
tenantable and good condition.
Construction of Improvements.
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A.
Improvements to Existing Buildings and New Improvements. Lessee shall not
make any structural, electrical, or other modifications (including painting, wall and/or floor
coverings) to the existing buildings on the Leased Premises without first obtaining (i) Authority’s
express written consent, which shall not be unreasonably withheld; and (ii) Charlotte County or
City of Punta Gorda permit(s), as required. With written approval of Authority, Lessee has the
right at its own expense to construct improvements to the Leased Premises, all in compliance
with the provisions of this Agreement. In such event, the use thereof shall be enjoyed by Lessee
during the term hereof without additional rental therefor, but such additions, alterations or
improvements shall become the property of Authority and will remain at the Leased Premises at
the termination of this Agreement without compensation or payment to Lessee. All personal
property of Lessee which can be removed by Lessee without material damage to the Leased
Premises shall remain the personal property of Lessee and may be removed by Lessee at any
time during and at the end of the Lease Term. Lessee shall, in removing any such property,
repair all damage to the Leased Premises caused by such removal. All improvements to exterior
of the Leased Premises shall comply with 14 CFR Part 77 and all other applicable local, state or
federal requirements.
B.
Repairs. It is the responsibility of Lessee to report any damage, necessary repairs
or maintenance to the Leased Premises to Authority immediately. Lessee shall be liable for any
and all damage to the Leased Premises caused by Lessee’s use, including, but not limited to, bent
or broken interior walls, damage due to fuel spillage, or damage to hangar and entry doors due to
Lessee’s improper or negligent operation. When damage is due to the fault of the Lessee, Lessee
shall either promptly repair such damage or reimburse Authority for the cost of necessary repairs.
C.
Compliance with Fire Codes. Lessee agrees that construction of any
improvements to the Leased Premises shall be in accordance with the Charlotte County and City
of Punta Gorda Fire Codes. Lessee further agrees to be responsible for the custody of one (1)
twenty (20) pound ABC fire extinguisher assigned to the Leased Premises. Lessee is responsible
for the fire extinguisher assigned to the Leased Premises. If the fire extinguisher is misplaced or
lost it is the Lessee’s responsibility to pay for a replacement. There shall be no impairment to the
access of the fire extinguisher.
Access. Authority agrees that if Lessee is not in breach of this Agreement,
Lessee and Lessee’s employees, officers, directors, sublessees (that are approved by Authority
pursuant to this Agreement), contractors, subcontractors, suppliers, agents, invitees, and other
representatives (“Lessee’s Associates”) are authorized to ingress and egress across the common
areas of the Airport (in the areas designated by Authority, for the purposes for which they were
designed, and as permitted by applicable Laws and Regulations as defined in Section 2.9) on a
non-exclusive basis and to the extent reasonably necessary for Lessee’s use, occupancy, and
operations at the Leased Premises. Lessee agrees to comply with the Charlotte County Airport
Ground Vehicle Driver Training Program (“Driver Training Program”). Lessee further agrees to
ensure that Lessee’s Associates shall comply with the Driver Training Program. During special
events at the Airport, Lessee acknowledges that the standard operation procedure at the Airport
may be altered such that egress and ingress to the Leased Premises may be altered by Authority.
Authority will notify Lessee in writing of any special events or closures that will impede
Lessee’s use of the Leased Premises. Lessee’s failure to comply with the altered procedure is a
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default of this Agreement, and after notice and the opportunity for Lessee to cure, Authority may
proceed to terminate this Agreement.
Use of Leased Premises and Compliance with all Laws and Regulations.
Lessee shall use the Leased Premises only for Vehicle Maintenance and Repair and exclusive
use of the exterior parking area associated with Unit 4 and 5 Exhibit A for the parking and
storage of automobiles and Lessee and Lessee’s Associates shall comply at all times, at
Lessee’s sole cost, with any and all laws and regulations (as amended or otherwise modified
from time to time) that are applicable to Lessee’s construction of any improvements and the use,
occupancy, or operations at the Leased Premises or the Airport (the “Laws and Regulations”),
which include, but are not limited to, all laws, statutes, ordinances, regulations, rules, orders,
writs, judgments, decrees, injunctions, directives, rulings, guidelines, standards, codes, policies,
common law, and other pronouncements of any kind having the effect of law that may be
applicable at any time during the term of this Agreement including, but not limited to, the
Airport Rules and Regulations, Minimum Standards, master plans and zoning codes, and all
Laws and Regulations pertaining to the environment (the “Environmental Laws”); any and all
plans and programs developed in compliance with such requirements (including, but not limited
to, any Airport Security Plan); and all lawful, reasonable, and nondiscriminatory Airport policies
and other requirements. Lessee shall provide all required notices under the Laws and
Regulations. Upon a written request by Authority, Lessee will verify, within 60 days,
compliance with any Laws and Regulations.
No Unauthorized Use. Lessee and Lessee’s Associates shall use the
Leased Premises and the Airport only for purposes that are expressly authorized by this
Agreement and shall not engage in any unauthorized use of the same. Unauthorized uses
include, but are not limited to, damaging, interfering with, or altering any improvement;
restricting access on any road or other area that Lessee does not lease; placing waste materials on
the Airport or disposing of such materials in violation of any Laws and Regulations; any use that
would constitute a public or private nuisance or a disturbance or annoyance to other Airport
users; driving a motor vehicle in a prohibited Airport location; the use of automobile parking
areas in a manner not authorized by Authority; any use that would interfere with any operation at
the Airport or decrease the Airport’s effectiveness (as determined by Authority in its sole
discretion); and any use that would be prohibited by or would impair coverage under either
Party’s insurance policies or would cause an increase in the existing rate of insurance upon the
Leased Premise.
Permits and Licenses. Lessee shall obtain and maintain in current status
all permits and licenses that are required under any Laws and Regulations in connection with
Lessee’s construction of any improvements and the use, occupancy, or operations at the Leased
Premises or the Airport. In the event that Lessee receives notice from any governmental entity
that Lessee lacks, or is in violation of, any such permit or license, Lessee shall provide Authority
with timely written notice of the same.
Payment of Taxes. Lessee shall pay (before their respective due dates) all
taxes, fees, assessments, and levies that relate to Lessee’s use, occupancy, or operations at the
Leased Premises or the Airport and all other obligations for which a lien may be created relating
thereto (including, but not limited to, utility charges and work for any improvements). Lessee
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shall be responsible for any and all taxes generated by the Charlotte County Property Appraiser
and Tax Collector and will set up payments with the Charlotte County Tax Collector.
No Liens. No liens may be placed upon the Leased Premises. Within
thirty (30) days, Lessee shall pay all lawful claims made against Authority and discharge all liens
filed or which exist against the Leased Premises or any other portion of the Airport (other than
Lessee’s trade fixtures or trade equipment) to the extent such claims arise out of or in connection
with, whether directly or indirectly, the failure to make payment for work done or materials
provided by Lessee its contractors, subcontractors or materialmen. However, Lessee shall have
the right to contest the amount or validity of any such claim or lien without being in default
under this Agreement upon furnishing security in form acceptable to Authority, in an amount
equal to one hundred percent (100%) of such claim or lien, which insures that such claim or lien
will be properly and fully discharged forthwith in the event that such contest is finally
determined against Lessee or Authority. Authority shall give timely notice to Lessee of all such
claims and liens of which it becomes aware. When contracting for any work in connection with
the Leased Premises, Lessee shall include in such contract a provision prohibiting the contractor
or any subcontractor or supplier from filing a lien or asserting a claim against Authority’s real
property or any interest therein. Lessee is solely responsible for ensuring that all requirements
are met such that such lien waivers are effective and enforceable (such as filing such contracts, if
necessary). Furthermore, when completed, the improvements on the Leased Premises shall be
free from all construction liens.
ARTICLE III
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES
Representations by Authority. Authority represents and warrants that it
has the right, power, and legal capacity to enter into and perform its obligations under this
Agreement, has duly executed and delivered this Agreement, and that this Agreement constitutes
a legal, valid, and binding obligation of Authority.
Representations by the Lessee. Lessee represents and warrants that it has
the right, power, and legal capacity to enter into and perform its obligations under this
Agreement, has duly executed and delivered this Agreement, and that this Agreement constitutes
a legal, valid, and binding obligation of Lessee.
ARTICLE IV
OBLIGATIONS OF LESSEE
Operations and Maintenance.
A.
Lessee shall maintain the Leased Premises and all improvements in a condition
that is clean, free of debris, safe, sanitary, and in good repair and shall not accumulate or permit
the accumulation of any trash, refuse, or debris or of anything that is unsightly or which creates a
fire hazard or nuisance or causes inconvenience to adjoining properties. Lessee shall perform all
work in accordance with Laws and Regulations and in a good and workmanlike manner. Lessee
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shall promptly remedy any condition that fails to meet this standard. Without limiting the
foregoing obligations, Lessee shall not store on the Leased Premises any inoperable equipment,
discarded or unsightly materials, or materials likely to create a hazard; shall not use areas outside
of enclosed buildings for storage; and shall store trash in covered metal receptacles, except that
nothing herein shall prohibit Lessee from storing inside the building (but not outside) no more
than five (5) gallons of gasoline, and a reasonable amount of radiator fluid and motor oil, and
Lessee shall be permitted to have vehicles outside the building which are temporarily inoperable
while they are waiting to be repaired. Lessee shall not permit any vehicles to be on blocks
outside of the building or repaired outside of the building. Any substance or material that is
regulated by any Environmental Law (“Hazardous Materials”) shall be governed by Section 4.8.
B.
Lessee shall be responsible for maintaining and repairing the interior of the
buildings located on the Leased Premises, including pest and rodent control, interior ceilings,
walls, floors, plumbing and electrical fixtures, pipes, exterior doors, windows and airconditioning equipment, and will deliver up the Leased Premises at the expiration of this
Agreement, or any renewal hereof, or at its earlier termination, in as good condition as the
Leased Premises now are, reasonable wear and tear excepted. Authority will maintain the
exterior of the buildings located on the Leased Premises, including the roof and exterior walls, in
good and substantial repair; these agreements shall not apply to damage caused by fire or other
casualty beyond the control of Lessee.
C.
In addition, Lessee agrees to comply with all applicable provisions of Authority’s
National Pollution Discharge Elimination System and Pollution Prevention Plans.
Additions and Alterations.
A.
Lessee shall not make any alterations, additions or improvements to the Leased
Premises without the prior written consent of Authority. All contractors doing work on the
Leased Premises must be licensed by Charlotte County and the State of Florida. A permit must
be obtained from the Charlotte County Community Development Department prior to
commencement of any building, electrical or plumbing work on the Leased Premises and a copy
of these permits must be furnished to the Executive Director prior to commencement of any
work. A clearance also must be obtained from the Charlotte County Health Department if
applicable.
B.
Authority may, at the termination of this Agreement, require Lessee to remove
any alterations, additions or improvements made to the Leased Premises by Lessee, and restore
the Leased Premises to its original conditions. If Lessee does not remove such alterations,
additions or improvements in a timely manner, Authority may do so at Lessee’s sole expense.
Authority is authorized to deduct any such expenses from any funds or credits that may exist.
C.
No compensation will be paid by Authority on account of any improvements
Lessee may make and which are not removed at the termination of the lease.
Utilities. Lessee shall pay for telephone, gas, light bulbs, electricity,
water, sewer, and garbage and trash removal used by Lessee and shall make such deposits as are
required to secure service. Any repairs of the utility lines other than those which are not the
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responsibility of the utility service are the responsibility of Lessee. If utilities are billed to a
common meter, Lessee shall pay to Authority the pro-rated amount based on square footage
leased.
Operation of Business by Lessee. Lessee shall keep all merchandise,
boxes, furniture, etc., upon the Leased Premises and Lessee will keep the exterior free from all
merchandise, boxes, refuse and debris at all times. Lessee shall not allow storage or use of
property, equipment, vehicles, etc. associated with the operation of Lessee’s business. There
shall be no living quarters, nor shall anyone be permitted to live or cook within the Leased
Premises.
Signs. Lessee shall not place, or cause to be placed, any sign or signs on
the Leased Premises unless otherwise agreed to in writing by Authority. All signs are subject to
the approval of Authority and such signs shall be in conformity with the local custom and shall
be in good taste, and shall not conflict with the architecture of the building. The windows of the
Leased Premises shall not be cluttered with signs; however, this shall not prohibit customary and
normal use of said windows.
Security. Lessee is responsible to comply (at Lessee’s sole cost) with all
security measures that Authority, the United States Transportation Security Administration, the
United States Department of Homeland Security (“Homeland Security”), FAA, or any other
governmental entity having jurisdiction may require in connection with the Airport, including,
but not limited to, any access credential requirements, any decision to remove Lessee’s access
credentials, and any civil penalty obligations and other costs arising from a breach of security
requirements caused or permitted by Lessee or Lessee’s Associates. Lessee agrees that Airport
access credentials are the property of Authority and may be suspended or revoked by Authority
for security-related reasons in its sole discretion at any time. Lessee shall pay all fees associated
with such credentials, and Lessee shall immediately report to the Executive Director any lost
credentials or credentials that Lessee removes from any employee or any of Lessee’s Associates.
Lessee shall protect and preserve security at the Airport. Lessee acknowledges that FAA,
Homeland Security, or a subdivision of either may enact laws or regulations regarding security at
general aviation airports such that Authority may not be able to comply fully with its obligations
under this Agreement, and Lessee agrees that Authority will not be liable for any damages to
Lessee or Lessee’s personal property that may result from said noncompliance.
Obstruction Lights. Lessee shall, at its expense, provide and maintain
obstruction lights on any structure on the Leased Premises if required by Authority or FAA
regulations. Any obstruction lights so required shall comply with the specifications and
standards established for such installations by Authority or FAA.
Hazardous Materials.
A.
No Violation of Environmental Laws. Lessee shall not cause or permit any
Hazardous Materials to be used, produced, stored, transported, brought upon, or released on,
under, or about the Leased Premises or the Airport by Lessee or Lessee’s Associates in violation
of applicable Environmental Laws. Lessee is responsible for any such violation as provided by
Section 6.1.
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B.
Response to Violations. Lessee agrees that in the event of a release or threat of
release of any Hazardous Material by Lessee or Lessee’s Associates at the Airport, Lessee shall
provide Authority with prompt notice of the same. Lessee shall respond to any such release or
threat of release in accordance with applicable Laws and Regulations. If Authority has
reasonable cause to believe that any such release or threat of release has occurred, Authority may
request, in writing, that Lessee conduct reasonable testing and analysis (using qualified
independent experts acceptable to Authority) to show that Lessee is complying with applicable
Environmental Laws. Authority may conduct the same at Lessee’s expense if Lessee fails to
respond in a reasonable manner. Lessee shall cease any or all of Lessee’s activities as Authority
determines necessary, in its sole and absolute discretion, in connection with any investigation,
cure, or remediation. If Lessee or Lessee’s Associates violate any Environmental Laws at the
Airport (whether due to the release of a Hazardous Material or otherwise), Lessee, at Lessee’s
sole expense, shall have the following obligations, which shall survive any expiration or
termination of this Agreement: (i) promptly remediate such violation in compliance with
applicable Environmental Laws; (ii) submit to Authority a written remediation plan, and
Authority reserves the right to approve such plan (which approval shall not be unreasonably
withheld) and to review and inspect all work; (iii) work with Authority and other governmental
authorities having jurisdiction in connection with any violation; and (iv) promptly provide
Authority copies of all documents pertaining to any environmental concern that are not subject to
Lessee’s attorney-client privilege.
C.
Obligations upon Termination and Authorized Transfers. Upon any expiration or
termination of this Agreement or any change in possession of the Leased Premises authorized by
Authority, Lessee shall demonstrate to Authority’s reasonable satisfaction that Lessee has
removed any Hazardous Materials and is in compliance with applicable Environmental Laws.
Such demonstration may include, but is not limited to, independent analysis and testing to the
extent that facts and circumstances warrant analysis and testing, such as evidence of past
violations or specific uses of the Leased Premises. If the site is contaminated during Lessee’s
possession, Lessee shall bear all costs and responsibility for the required clean up, and shall hold
Authority harmless therefrom. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, the obligations of this
Section 4.8 shall survive any termination of this Agreement.
Trash, Garbage and Other Refuse. Lessee shall pick up, and provide for a
complete and proper arrangement for the adequate sanitary handling and disposal, away from the
Airport through the Master Refuse Hauler that Authority has contracted with through a periodic
bid or proposal process of all trash, garbage, and other refuse caused as a result of its operation
on the Leased Premises. Lessee is responsible for contacting the Master Refuse Hauler and
arranging for disposal and payment of such services. Lessee shall provide and use suitable
covered metal receptacles for all such garbage, trash and other refuse on the Leased Premises.
Lessee shall not pile boxes, cartons, barrels, pallets, debris or similar items in an unattractive or
unsafe manner, on or about the Leased Premises.
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ARTICLE V
INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE
Insurance. Lessee agrees to purchase general liability insurance in the
amount of $2,000,000 Combined single limit to cover Lessee’s operations as described in
Section 2.9. Insurance coverage shall include Authority as additional named insured, providing
15 days’ notice of cancellation. Lessee shall submit Certificate of Insurance to Authority within
10 working days after the effective date of this Agreement, and yearly thereafter.
Lessee’s Indemnification and Duty to Pay Damages.
A.
Lessee shall hold Authority exempt and harmless, to the extent allowed by general
law, from and against any and all claims, demands, suits, judgments, costs and expenses asserted
by any person or persons (including agents or employees of Authority, Lessee, or sublessee) by
reason of death or injury to persons or loss of or damage to property resulting from Lessee’s
operations, or anything done or omitted by Lessee under this Agreement except to the extent that
such claims, demands, suits, judgments, costs and expenses may be attributed to the intentional
acts or omissions of Authority, its agents or employees.
B.
Authority shall not be liable to Lessee for any damage by or from any act or
negligence of any co-tenant or other occupant of the same building, or by any owner or occupant
of adjoining or contiguous property.
C.
Lessee agrees to pay for all damages of Leased Premises caused by Lessee’s
misuse or neglect thereof, its apparatus or appurtenances.
D.
Lessee shall be responsible and liable for the conduct of Lessee’s Associates in
and around the Leased Premises.
ARTICLE VI
DEFAULT AND REMEDIES
Lessee’s Default. The occurrence of any of the following events shall
constitute a default by Lessee under this Agreement unless cured within [thirty (30)] days
following written notice of such violation from Authority: (i) Lessee fails to timely pay any
Rent; (ii) Lessee or Lessee’s Associates violate any requirement under this Agreement
(including, but not limited to, abandonment of the Leased Premises); (iii) Lessee assigns or
encumbers any right in this Agreement, delegates any performance hereunder, or subleases any
part of the Leased Premises (except as expressly permitted in this Agreement); (iv) Lessee files a
petition in bankruptcy or has a petition filed against Lessee in bankruptcy, insolvency, or for
reorganization or appointment of a receiver or trustee which is not dismissed within sixty (60)
days; (v) Lessee petitions for or enters into an arrangement for the benefit of creditors, or suffers
this Agreement to become subject to a writ of execution and such writ is not released within
thirty (30) days; (vi) Lessee defaults in constructing any improvements that are required to be
constructed under this Agreement; or (vii) Lessee dissolves or dies. If the nature of Lessee’s
obligation is such that more than thirty (30) days are reasonably required for performance or
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cure, Lessee shall not be in default if Lessee commences performance within such thirty (30) day
period and thereafter diligently prosecutes the same to completion.
Default by Authority. Authority shall not be in default under this
Agreement unless Authority fails to perform an obligation required of Authority under this
Agreement within thirty (30) days after written notice by Lessee to Authority. If the nature of
Authority’s obligation is such that more than thirty (30) days are reasonably required for
performance or cure, Authority shall not be in default if Authority commences performance
within such thirty (30) day period and thereafter diligently prosecutes the same to completion.
Remedies for Failure to Pay Rent. If any Rent required by this Agreement
shall not be paid when due, Authority shall have the option to:
A.
Terminate this Agreement, resume possession of the Leased Premises for his own
account, and recover immediately from Lessee the differences between the Rent and the fair
rental value of the property for the term, reduced to present worth.
B.
Resume possession and re-lease the Leased Premises for the remainder of the
term for the account of Lessee, and recover from Lessee, at the end of the term or at the time
each payment of Rent comes due under this Agreement as Authority may choose, the difference
between the Rent and the rent received on the re-leasing or renting.
In either event, Authority shall also recover all expenses incurred by reason of breach,
including reasonable attorney’s fees.
Remedies for Breach of Agreement. If Lessee shall fail to perform or
breach any provision of this Agreement other than the agreement of Lessee to pay Rent,
Authority shall provide written notice to Lessee specifying the performance required. Ten (10)
days after such notice is provided under this Section 6.4, Authority may terminate this
Agreement or take any such action it is legally entitled to take, including instituting litigation to
compel performance of this Agreement. Should litigation be filed by Authority and it is the
prevailing party in that litigation, Lessee shall be liable for all expenses related to such litigation,
including Authority’s attorney’s fees.
Survival. The provisions of this Article VI and the remedies and rights
provided in this Article VI shall survive any expiration or termination of this Agreement.
ARTICLE VII
ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLEASING
Assignment by Lessee. Lessee shall not assign any of its rights under this
Agreement, including, but not limited to, rights in any improvements, (whether such assignment
is voluntarily or involuntarily, by merger, consolidation, dissolution, change in control, or any
other manner), and shall not delegate any performance under this Agreement, except with the
prior written consent of Authority to any of the same, in Authority’s sole discretion. As a
condition of obtaining such consent, the transferee receiving any such right shall be required to
execute a new lease agreement provided by Authority. Regardless of Authority’s consent,
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Lessee shall not be released from any obligations for matters arising during the time when this
Agreement was in effect. Any purported assignment or delegation of rights or delegation of
performance in violation of this Section 7.1 is void.
Assignment by Authority. Authority shall have the right, in Authority’s
sole discretion, to assign any of its rights under this Agreement (and in connection therewith,
shall be deemed to have delegate its duties), and upon any such assignment, Lessee agrees that
Lessee shall perform its obligations under this Agreement in favor of such assignee.
Encumbrances. Lessee shall not encumber or permit the encumbrance of
any real property at the Airport. Lessee shall not encumber or permit the encumbrance of any of
Lessee’s rights under this Agreement without Authority’s prior written consent, in Authority’s
sole discretion. Lessee shall not record this Agreement or any document or interest relating
thereto.
Any purported encumbrance of rights in violation of this Section 7.3 is void.
In connection with Authority’s consent to any encumbrance, at a minimum the following
shall apply: (i) such encumbrance shall only encumber Lessee’s leasehold interest for the
purpose of securing financing for Lessee’s authorized improvements (no other encumbrance
shall be permitted); (ii) such encumbrance shall be subordinate to Authority’s interests; (iii) the
lienholder must agree to maintain current contact information with Authority and provide
Authority with concurrent copies of any notices or communications regarding a default; (iv) the
lienholder must certify to Authority that it has reviewed this Agreement and accepted provisions
that may affect the lienholder, and that no loan requirements conflict with or materially erode
any provisions of this Agreement; (v) any default relating to such encumbrance shall be a default
of this Agreement; (vi) the lienholder must agree that upon any default, Authority shall have a
lien with first priority on all Lessee-owned improvements and other property at the Leased
Premises; (vii) the lienholder must agree that Authority has complete and sole discretion as to
whether to approve the substitution of a tenant by the lienholder and whether Authority
terminates this Agreement (which would result in a termination of the lienholder’s interests in
this Agreement); and (viii) such encumbrance shall terminate prior to the expiration or
termination of this Agreement and the lienholder must agree to promptly remove such
encumbrance when the obligation that it secures has been satisfied. The Authority may, in its
sole discretion, require any other conditions. If (while such encumbrance is in effect) Lessee
defaults under such encumbrance or this Agreement, and if such lienholder is in compliance with
the provisions set forth in this Section 7.3 and cures Lessee’s defaults of this Agreement within
twenty (20) days after the first such default, Authority will permit such lienholder to provide a
substitute tenant (which must be acceptable to Authority in its sole discretion) for a period of up
to twelve (12) months after the date when such lienholder cured all defaults so long as such
lienholder fully performs this Agreement during such period. If such lienholder fails to comply
with any of the foregoing requirements, such failure shall be a default of this Agreement and
Authority may at any time (but is not required to) terminate this Agreement and exercise any
rights hereunder. Authority shall have no obligation to provide any notices to any lienholder,
and Authority shall have no liability of any kind to any lienholder.
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Subleasing. Subject to Authority’s prior written consent, which Authority
may provide or withhold in Authority’s sole discretion, provided reasonable consent shall not be
withheld, Lessee shall have the right to sublease portions of the Leased Premises subject to the
terms required by Authority. Lessee shall impose on all approved sublessees the same terms set
forth in this Agreement to provide for the rights and protections afforded to Authority hereunder,
including but not limited to, the subordination to the Grant Assurances under Section 8.7 and the
inclusion of all of the required federal clauses under Section 8.18. Lessee shall reserve the right
to amend Lessee’s subleases to conform to the requirements of this Agreement, and all such
subleases shall be consistent with and subordinate to this Agreement as it is amended from time
to time. Such subleases shall include an agreement that the sublessees will attorn to and pay rent
to Authority if Lessee ceases to be a party to this Agreement. Authority shall have the right to
approve any sublease in Authority’s sole discretion, and Lessee shall provide to Authority a copy
of every sublease executed by Lessee. No sublease shall relieve Lessee of any obligation under
this Agreement.
ARTICLE VIII
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS
Damage by Fire or Other Casualty. If the Leased Premises is damaged by
fire or other casualty to the extent of fifty percent (50%) or more, Authority shall have the option
to rebuild and repair the Leased Premises or to terminate this Agreement. If damaged to a lesser
extent, Authority will rebuild and repair. In event of damage by fire or other casualty, the Rent
shall abate, in proportion to the impairment of the use that can reasonably be made of the Leased
Premises for the purpose permitted by this Agreement, until the Leased Premises is rebuilt and
repaired (or until this Agreement is terminated in accordance with this paragraph). Provided,
however, that if the damage is due to Lessee’s willful act or negligence, the rental sums shall not
abate.
Waiver of Exemption. Any constitutional or statutory exemption of
Lessee of any property usually kept on the Leased Premises, from distress or forced sale, is
waived.
Addresses. All rent payable and notice given under this Agreement to
Authority shall be paid and given at 28000 A-1 Airport Road, Punta Gorda, FL 33982, or such
other place as Authority shall specify in writing. All notices given under this Agreement to
Lessee shall be sent to:
Name Enterprise Leasing Company of Florida, LLC.
Address 1905 Boy Scout Drive
City, State, ZIP Fort Myers, FL 33907
Telephone Number 239-275-3393

FAX 855-848-8345

E-mail address Marvin.Sealy@ehi.com
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Any notice properly mailed by certified mail or registered mail, postage and fee prepaid (with
proof of delivery service requested) shall be deemed delivered when mailed, whether received or
not.
No Waiver. The waiver by Authority of any breach of any term, covenant
or condition herein contained shall not be deemed to be a waiver of such term, covenant or
condition or any subsequent breach of the same or any other term, covenant or condition herein
contained. The subsequent acceptance of rent hereunder by Authority shall not be deemed to be
a waiver of any preceding breach by Lessee of any term, covenant or condition of this
Agreement, other than the failure of Lessee to pay the particular rental so accepted, regardless of
Authority’s knowledge of such preceding breach at the time of acceptance of such rent.
Lessee’s Subordination. Lessee hereby subordinates and makes this
Agreement inferior to all existing and future mortgages, trust indentures or other security interest
of Authority or Authority’s successor in interest. Lessee shall execute and deliver any
documents required to evidence and perfect such subordination.
Additional Charges as Rent. Any charges against Lessee by Authority for
services or for work done on the Leased Premises by order of Lessee or otherwise accruing under
this Agreement shall be considered as Rent due.
Subordination to Grant Assurances. This Agreement shall be subordinate
to the provisions of any existing or future agreements between Authority and the United States of
America, relative to the operation and maintenance of the Airport, the terms and execution of
which have been or may be required as a condition precedent to the expenditure or
reimbursement to Authority of federal funds for the development of the Airport (“Grant
Assurances”). In the event that this Agreement, either on its own terms or by any other reason,
conflicts with or violates any such Grant Assurances, Authority has the right to amend, alter or
otherwise modify the terms of this Agreement in order to resolve such conflict or violation.
Non-Interference With Operation of the Airport. Lessee expressly agrees
for itself, its successors and assigns that Lessee will not conduct operations in or on the Leased
Premises in a manner that in the reasonable judgment of Authority, (i) interferes or might
interfere with the reasonable use by others of common facilities at the Airport, (ii) hinders or
might hinder police, fire fighting or other emergency personnel in the discharge of their duties,
(iii) would or would be likely to constitute a hazardous condition at the Airport, (iv) would or
would be likely to increase the premiums for insurance policies maintained by Authority unless
such operations are not otherwise prohibited hereunder and Lessee pays the increase in insurance
premiums occasioned by such operations, (v) is contrary to any applicable Grant Assurance; (vi)
is in contradiction to any rule, regulation, directive or similar restriction issued by agencies
having jurisdiction over the Airport including FAA, Homeland Security, Transportation Security
Administration and Customs and Border Patrol, or (vii) would involve any illegal purposes. In
the event this covenant is breached, Authority reserves the right, after prior written notice to
Lessee, to enter upon the Leased Premises and cause the abatement of such interference at the
expense of Lessee. In the event of a breach in Airport security caused by Lessee, resulting in
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fine or penalty to Authority of which Lessee has received prior written notice, such fine or
penalty will be charged to Lessee.
Section 8.9
Emergency Closures. During time of war or national emergency,
Authority shall have the right to enter into an agreement with the United States Government for
military or naval use of part or all of the landing area, the publicly-owned air navigation facilities
and/or other areas or facilities of the Airport. If any such agreement is executed, the provisions of
this Agreement, insofar as they are inconsistent with provisions of the agreement with the
Government, will be suspended.
Interpretation.
A.
References in the text of this Agreement to articles, sections or exhibits pertain to
articles, sections or exhibits of this Agreement, unless otherwise specified.
B.
The terms “hereby,” “herein,” “hereof,” “hereto,” “hereunder” and any similar
terms used in this Agreement refer to this Agreement. The term “including” shall not be
construed in a limiting nature, but shall be construed to mean “including, without limitation.”
C.
Words importing persons shall include firms, associations, partnerships, trusts,
corporations and other legal entities, including public bodies, as well as natural persons.
D.
Any headings preceding the text of the articles and sections of this Agreement,
and any table of contents or marginal notes appended to copies hereof, shall be solely for
convenience of reference and shall not constitute a part of this Agreement, nor shall they affect
the meaning, construction or effect of this Agreement.
E.
Words importing the singular shall include the plural and vice versa. Words of the
masculine gender shall be deemed to include correlative words of the feminine and neuter
genders.
Force Majeure. No act or event, whether foreseen or unforeseen, shall
operate to excuse Lessee from the prompt payment of rent or any other amounts required to be
paid under this Agreement. If Authority (or Lessee in connection with obligations other than
payment obligations) is delayed or hindered in any performance under this Agreement by a force
majeure event, such performance shall be excused to the extent so delayed or hindered during the
time when such force majeure event is in effect, and such performance shall promptly occur or
resume thereafter at the expense of the Party so delayed or hindered. A “force majeure event” is
an act or event, whether foreseen or unforeseen, that prevents a Party in whole or in part from
performing as provided in this Agreement, that is beyond the reasonable control of and not the
fault of such Party, and that such Party has been unable to avoid or overcome by exercising due
diligence, and may include, but is not limited to, acts of nature, war, riots, strikes, accidents, fire,
and changes in law. Lessee hereby releases Authority from any and all liability, whether in
contract or tort (including strict liability and negligence) for any loss, damage or injury of any
nature whatsoever sustained by Lessee, its employees, agents or invitees during the Lease Term,
including, but not limited to, loss, damage or injury to the aircraft or other personal property of
Lessee that may be located or stored in the Leased Premises due to a force majeure event.
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Governing Law and Venue. This Agreement has been made in and will be
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Florida. In any action initiated by one
Party against the other, exclusive venue and jurisdiction will be in the appropriate state courts in
and for Charlotte County, Florida.
Amendments and Waivers. No amendment to this Agreement shall be
binding on Authority or Lessee unless reduced to writing and signed by both Parties. No
provision of this Agreement may be waived, except pursuant to a writing executed by the Party
against whom the waiver is sought to be enforced.
Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is determined to be
invalid, illegal, or unenforceable, the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall remain in full
force and effect if both the economic and legal substance of the transactions that this Agreement
contemplates are not affected in any manner materially adverse to any Party. If any provision of
this Agreement is held invalid, illegal, or unenforceable, the Parties shall negotiate in good faith
to modify this Agreement to fulfill as closely as possible the original intents and purposes of this
Agreement.
Merger. This Agreement constitutes the final, complete, and exclusive
agreement between the Parties on the matters contained in this Agreement. All prior and
contemporaneous negotiations and agreements between the Parties on the matters contained in
this Agreement are expressly merged into and superseded by this Agreement. In entering into
this Agreement, neither Party has relied on any statement, representation, warranty, nor
agreement of the other Party except for those expressly contained in this Agreement.
Relationship of Parties. This Agreement does not create any partnership,
joint venture, employment, or agency relationship between the Parties. Nothing in this
Agreement shall confer upon any other person or entity any right, benefit, or remedy of any
nature.
Further Assurances. Each Party shall execute any document or take any
action that may be necessary or desirable to consummate and make effective a performance that
is required under this Agreement.
Required Federal Clauses. Lessee and Lessee’s Associates shall comply
with all Laws and Regulations, including all of the required federal clauses in this Section 8.18.
A.
During the performance of this contract, the Lessee, for itself, its assignees, and
successors in interest (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Lessee”) agrees as follows:
1. Compliance with Regulations: The Lessee will comply with the Title VI List
of Pertinent Nondiscrimination Acts And Authorities, as they may be amended
from time to time, which are herein incorporated by reference and made a part of
this Agreement.
2. Non-discrimination: The Lessee, with regard to the work performed by it or
use of the Leased Premises during the Lease Term, will not discriminate on the
grounds of race, color, or national origin in the selection and retention of
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contractors, including procurements of materials and leases of equipment. The
Lessee will not participate directly or indirectly in the discrimination prohibited
by the Nondiscrimination Acts and Authorities, including employment practices
when the contract covers any activity, project, or program set forth in Appendix
B of 49 CFR Part 21.
3. Solicitations for Contracts, Including Procurements of Materials and
Equipment: In all solicitations, either by competitive bidding, or negotiation
made by Lessee for work to be performed under a contract, including
procurements of materials, or leases of equipment, each potential contractor or
supplier will be notified by the Lessee of the Lessee’s obligations under this
Agreement and the Nondiscrimination Acts And Authorities on the grounds of
race, color, or national origin.
4. Information and Reports: The Lessee will provide all information and reports
required by the Acts, the Regulations, and directives issued pursuant thereto and
will permit access to its books, records, accounts, other sources of information,
and its facilities as may be determined by the sponsor or the Federal Aviation
Administration to be pertinent to ascertain compliance with such
Nondiscrimination Acts And Authorities and instructions. Where any
information required of Lessee is in the exclusive possession of another who fails
or refuses to furnish the information, Lessee will so certify to Authority or the
Federal Aviation Administration, as appropriate, and will set forth what efforts it
has made to obtain the information.
5. Sanctions for Noncompliance: In the event of Lessee’s noncompliance with
the Non-discrimination provisions of this contract, Authority will impose such
sanctions as it or the Federal Aviation Administration may determine to be
appropriate, including, but not limited to cancelling, terminating, or suspending
the Lease, in whole or in part.
6. Incorporation of Provisions: The Lessee will include the provisions of
paragraphs one through six of this Section 8.18(A) in every contract, including
procurements of materials and leases of equipment, unless exempt by the Acts,
the Regulations and directives issued pursuant thereto. The Lessee will take
action with respect to any contract or procurement as Authority or the Federal
Aviation Administration may direct as a means of enforcing such provisions
including sanctions for noncompliance. Provided, that if the Lessee becomes
involved in, or is threatened with litigation by a contractor, or supplier because of
such direction, the Lessee may request Authority to enter into any litigation to
protect the interests of Authority. In addition, the Lessee may request the United
States to enter into the litigation to protect the interests of the United States.
B.
Lessee for itself, its heirs, personal representatives, successors in interest, and
assigns, as a part of the consideration hereof, does hereby covenant and agree as a covenant
running with the land that in the event facilities are constructed, maintained, or otherwise
operated on the property described in this Agreement for a purpose for which a Federal Aviation
Administration activity, facility, or program is extended or for another purpose involving the
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provision of similar services or benefits, the Lessee will maintain and operate such facilities and
services in compliance with all requirements imposed by the Nondiscrimination Acts and
Regulations listed in the Pertinent List of Nondiscrimination Authorities (as may be amended)
such that no person on the grounds of race, color, or national origin, will be excluded from
participation in, denied the benefits of, or be otherwise subjected to discrimination in the use of
said facilities.
C.
Lessee for itself, its heirs, personal representatives, successors in interest, and
assigns, as a part of the consideration hereof, does hereby covenant and agree as a covenant
running with the land that (1) no person on the ground of race, color, or national origin, will be
excluded from participation in, denied the benefits of, or be otherwise subjected to
discrimination in the use of said facilities, (2) that in the construction of any improvements on,
over, or under such land, and the furnishing of services thereon, no person on the ground of race,
color, or national origin, will be excluded from participation in, denied the benefits of, or
otherwise be subjected to discrimination, and (3) that the Lessee will use the Leased Premises in
compliance with all other requirements imposed by or pursuant to the List of discrimination Acts
And Authorities.
D.
During the performance of this contract, the contractor, for itself, its assignees,
and successors in interest (hereinafter referred to as the “contractor”) agrees to comply with the
following non-discrimination statutes and authorities; including but not limited to:
i.

Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. § 2000d et seq., 78 stat.
252), (prohibits discrimination on the basis of race, color, national origin);

ii.

Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. § 2000d et seq., 78 stat.
252), (prohibits discrimination on the basis of race, color, national origin);

iii.

49 CFR Part 21 (Non-discrimination In Federally-Assisted Programs of The
Department of Transportation—Effectuation of Title VI of The Civil Rights
Act of 1964);

iv.

The Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies
Act of 1970, (42 U.S.C. § 4601), (prohibits unfair treatment of persons
displaced or whose property has been acquired because of Federal or Federalaid programs and projects);

v.

Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, (29 U.S.C. § 794 et seq.), as
amended, (prohibits discrimination on the basis of disability); and 49 CFR
Part 27;

vi.

The Age Discrimination Act of 1975, as amended, (42 U.S.C. § 6101 et seq.),
(prohibits discrimination on the basis of age);

vii.

Airport and Airway Improvement Act of 1982, (49 USC § 471, Section
47123), as amended, (prohibits discrimination based on race, creed, color,
national origin, or sex);

viii.

The Civil Rights Restoration Act of 1987, (PL 100-209), (Broadened the
scope, coverage and applicability of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964,
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The Age Discrimination Act of 1975 and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation
Act of 1973, by expanding the definition of the terms “programs or activities”
to include all of the programs or activities of the Federal-aid recipients, subrecipients and contractors, whether such programs or activities are Federally
funded or not);
ix.

Titles II and III of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, which prohibit
discrimination on the basis of disability in the operation of public entities,
public and private transportation systems, places of public accommodation,
and certain testing entities (42 U.S.C. §§ 12131 – 12189) as implemented by
Department of Transportation regulations at 49 CFR Parts 37 and 38;

x.

The Federal Aviation Administration’s Non-discrimination statute (49 U.S.C.
§ 47123) (prohibits discrimination on the basis of race, color, national origin,
and sex);

xi.

Executive Order 12898, Federal Actions to Address Environmental Justice in
Minority Populations and Low-Income Populations, which ensures nondiscrimination against minority populations by discouraging programs,
policies, and activities with disproportionately high and adverse human health
or environmental effects on minority and low-income populations;

xii.

Executive Order 13166, Improving Access to Services for Persons with
Limited English Proficiency, and resulting agency guidance, national origin
discrimination includes discrimination because of limited English proficiency
(LEP). To ensure compliance with Title VI, you must take reasonable steps to
ensure that LEP persons have meaningful access to your programs (70 Fed.
Reg. at 74087 to 74100); and

xiii.

Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, as amended, which prohibits
you from discriminating because of sex in education programs or activities
(20 U.S.C. 1681 et seq).

E.
The Lessee and its transferee agree to comply with pertinent statutes, Executive
Orders and such rules as are promulgated to ensure that no person shall, on the grounds of race,
creed, color, national origin, sex, age, or disability be excluded from participating in any activity
conducted with or benefiting from Federal assistance. This provision obligates the Lessee or its
sublessee for the period during which Federal assistance is extended to the airport through the
Airport Improvement Program. In cases where Federal assistance provides, or is in the form of
personal property; real property or interest therein; structures or improvements thereon, this
provision obligates the Party or any transferee for the longer of the following periods: (i) The
period during which the property is used by the airport sponsor or any transferee for a purpose
for which Federal assistance is extended, or for another purpose involving the provision of
similar services or benefits; or (ii) he period during which the airport sponsor or any transferee
retains ownership or possession of the property.
F.
In the event of breach of any of the above Nondiscrimination covenants,
Authority will have the right to terminate the Lease and to enter, re-enter, and repossess said
lands and facilities thereon, and hold the same as if the Lease had never been made or issued.
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G.
This Lease incorporates by reference the provisions of 29 CFR Part 201, the
Federal Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA), with the same force and effect as if given in full text.
The FLSA sets minimum wage, overtime pay, recordkeeping, and child labor standards for full
and part time workers. The Lessee has full responsibility to monitor compliance to the
referenced statute or regulation. The Lessee must address any claims or disputes that arise from
this requirement directly with the U.S. Department of Labor – Wage and Hour Division.
H.
This Lease incorporates by reference the requirements of 29 CFR Part 1910 with
the same force and effect as if given in full text. Lessee must provide a work environment that is
free from recognized hazards that may cause death or serious physical harm to the employee.
The Lessee retains full responsibility to monitor its compliance and any sublessee’s compliance
with the applicable requirements of the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970 (20 CFR
Part 1910). Lessee must address any claims or disputes that pertain to a referenced requirement
directly with the U.S. Department of Labor – Occupational Safety and Health Administration.
I.
Lessee agrees that it shall insert the above eight provisions (Section 8.18(A)
through Section 8.18(H)) in any agreement by which said Lessee grants a right or privilege to
any person, firm, or corporation to render accommodations and/or services to the public on the
Leased Premises herein leased or owned.
J.
Lessee agrees to furnish service on a fair, equal, and not unjustly discriminatory
basis to all users thereof, and to charge fair, reasonable, and not unjustly discriminatory prices for
each unit or service; provided that Lessee may be allowed to make reasonable and
nondiscriminatory discounts, rebates, or other similar types of price reductions to volume
purchasers. (Grant Assurance 22)
K.
It is hereby specifically understood and agreed that nothing herein contained shall
be construed to grant or authorize the granting of an exclusive right to provide aeronautical
services to the public as prohibited by the Grant Assurances, and Authority reserves the right to
grant to others the privilege and right of conducting any one or all activities of an aeronautical
nature. (Grant Assurance 23)
L.
Authority reserves the right to further develop or improve the landing area of the
Airport as it sees fit, regardless of the desires or view of Lessee, and without interference or
hindrance. (FAA Order 5190.6B)
M.
Authority reserves the right, but shall not be obligated to Lessee, to maintain and
keep in repair the landing area of the Airport and all publicly-owned facilities of the Airport,
together with the right to direct and control all activities of Lessee in this regard. (FAA Order
5190.6B)
N.
This Agreement shall be subordinate to the provisions of and requirements of any
existing or future agreement between Authority and the United States, relative to the
development, operation, or maintenance of the Airport. (FAA Order 5190.6B)
O.
Lessee agrees to comply with the notification and review requirements covered in
Part 77 of the Federal Aviation Regulations in the event any future structure or building is
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planned for the Leased Premises, or in the event of any planned modification or alteration of any
present or future building or structure situated on the Leased Premises. (FAA Order 5190.6B)
P.
It is clearly understood by Lessee that no right or privilege has been granted
which would operate to prevent any person, firm, or corporation operating aircraft on the Airport
from performing any services on its own aircraft with its own regular employees (including but
not limited to, maintenance and repair) that it may choose to perform. (Grant Assurance 22(f))
[SIGNATURE PAGES FOLLOW]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have set their hands and seals as of the Effective
Date hereinabove defined.
WITNESS:

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT
AUTHORITY

_______________________________________
(First Witness)
_______________________________________
(Second Witness)

By:
James W. Parish, CEO

ENTERPRISE LEASING COMPANY OF
FLORIDA, LLC, a Delaware limited
liability company
_______________________________________
(First Witness)
_______________________________________
(Second Witness)

By:

Signature Page to Commercial Building Lease Agreement between
Charlotte County Airport Authority and [LESSEE]

Accounts Receivable Over 60 Days
As of December 31, 2019
0.7

Customer Name
Allegiant Air
Avis Rental Car ( F Valentine)
Jerry Gordon
Hertz
Worfl

0-30 Days

31 - 60 Days

$5,635.81

$6,054.88

37.77

$329.03
$7,378.34
$8,809.77

$321.00
$7,090.43
$0.00

61 - 90 Days

$5,978.49
$984.81
$19.26
$3,101.48
$5,380.20

91 and Over

$493.49
$2,518.03

$230.00

SUB-TOTALS
All Other Current Customer Balances

$22,190.72
$74,396.76

$13,466.31
$6,850.45

$15,464.24
$0.00

$3,241.52
$0.00

TOTALS

$93,500.04

$20,316.76

$15,464.24

$3,241.52

N Delph

Total Balance at
7/31/19

$18,162.67
$3,502.84
$669.29
$17,570.25
$14,419.97

EXPLANATION as of 01/31/2020
Paid in full
Contacted corporate, they are addressing the matter
call customer and email statement, turned off badge
Paid in full
Paid $13,893.36

$54,362.79
$78,159.83
$132,522.62

2/5/2020
1:32 PM

Charlotte County Airport Authority
STATEMENTS OF REVENUE, EXPENSES
AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION (Income Statement)
For the Three Months Ending Tuesday, December 31, 2019

December
Actual
OPERATING REVENUES
Fuel and Oil Sales
Industrial and Commercial Park Leases
T Hangar Rentals and Tiedowns
Concessions, Vending and Fees
Airline Related Revenues
Advertising
Auto Parking
Car Rentals,Security & Fuel Fees
Concessions
Food & Beverage
Ground Handling Fuel
Ground Transportation
Terminal Use Fees
LEO Award
Sida Badging
Total Airline Related Revenues
Other Revenues
TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES
OPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries & Wages
Payroll Taxes & Retirement
Personnel Expenses
Cost of Fuel & Oil Sales
Advertising
Bank Charges
Dues & Subscriptions
Insurance
Legal & Professional
Licenses & Permits
Marketing & Promotional
Mowing
Postage
Repairs & Maintenance
Computer Maintenance & Expense
Supplies
Communications
Travel & Auto Allowance
Utilities
Security Expense
Airline Related Expense
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES
OPERATING GAIN (LOSS)
NON-OPERATING REVENUE & EXPENSES
Miscellaneous Revenues / (Expenses)
Gain/Loss of Asset Disposal
OPEB Post Retirement Benefit Accrual
Interest on Investments
Cost to Finance
Bank Fees
NET NON-OPERATING REVENUE & EXPENSES
GAIN OR (LOSS) BEFORE
CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS & DEPRECIATION
CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS
Capital Grants & Contributions
TOTAL CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS
INCREASE OR (DECREASE) IN
NET POSITION w/CONTRIBUTIONS
DEPRECIATION
Depreciation
TOTAL DEPRECIATION
INCREASE OR (DECREASE) IN
NET POSITION

Budget

YTD
Variance

Actual

Budget

Variance

$266,167
108,423
64,305
1,616

$249,261
105,752
63,918
1,620

$16,906
2,671
387
-4

$922,238
319,894
192,987
4,847

$815,084
317,255
189,517
4,860

$107,154
2,639
3,470
-13

6,594
386,091
483,617
25
54,696
10,983
9,177
14,051
11,934
1,345
978,513
708
$1,419,732

4,600
382,471
489,182
29
54,542
17,143
8,926
14,648
13,040
400
984,981
0
$1,405,532

1,994
3,620
-5,565
-4
154
-6,160
251
-597
-1,106
945
-6,468
708
$14,200

19,364
907,505
1,287,931
61
135,985
35,109
22,824
43,262
35,766
3,735
2,491,542
21,672
$3,953,180

13,800
900,025
1,296,486
70
132,582
50,088
20,187
43,944
35,823
1,200
2,494,205
0
$3,820,921

5,564
7,480
-8,555
-9
3,403
-14,979
2,637
-682
-57
2,535
-2,663
21,672
$132,259

$262,956
55,282
83,619
150,357
56
3,603
6,241
43,847
15,659
4,397
13,206
1,054
1,324
44,680
-25,372
28,036
4,745
0
32,808
2,949
184,189
$913,636
$506,096

$243,745
53,227
81,350
131,598
170
3,500
3,800
33,333
18,850
1,833
16,917
2,375
458
45,655
16,553
22,368
3,871
922
35,022
2,500
176,332
$894,379
$511,153

$19,211
2,055
2,269
18,759
-114
103
2,441
10,514
-3,191
2,564
-3,711
-1,321
866
-975
-41,925
5,668
874
-922
-2,214
449
7,857
$19,257
-$5,057

$751,956
151,693
241,634
527,038
93
15,397
15,693
220,695
48,540
10,430
57,821
3,513
2,123
134,081
22,141
64,869
12,366
11,702
98,762
6,062
433,209
$2,829,818
$1,123,362

$752,959
176,194
258,156
450,620
510
10,500
11,400
99,999
56,550
5,499
67,751
7,125
1,374
140,965
59,659
82,153
11,613
9,433
105,060
7,500
495,124
$2,810,144
$1,010,777

-$1,003
-24,501
-16,522
76,418
-417
4,897
4,293
120,696
-8,010
4,931
-9,930
-3,612
749
-6,884
-37,518
-17,284
753
2,269
-6,298
-1,438
-61,915
$19,674
$112,585

$494,765
6,000
-435
17,927
-6,094
-493
$511,670

$443,308
0
-537
16,500
-6,094
-575
$452,602

$51,457
6,000
102
1,427
0
82
$59,068

$1,392,134
6,000
-1,305
55,518
-18,281
-1,818
$1,432,248

$1,141,424
0
-1,611
49,500
-18,281
-1,725
$1,169,307

$250,710
6,000
306
6,018
0
-93
$262,941

$1,017,766

$963,755

$54,011

$2,555,610

$2,180,084

$375,526

719,589
$719,589

5,600
$5,600

713,989
$713,989

796,201
$796,201

87,200
$87,200

709,001
$709,001

$1,737,355

$969,355

$768,000

$3,351,811

$2,267,284

$1,084,527

-301,754
-$301,754

-260,000
-$260,000

-41,754
-$41,754

-917,625
-$917,625

-780,000
-$780,000

-137,625
-$137,625

$1,435,601

$709,355

$726,246

$2,434,186

$1,487,284

$946,902

2/6/2020
11:30 AM

Charlotte County Airport Authority
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION (Balance Sheet)
12/31/2019

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Net Receivables
Inventories
Prepaid Expenses
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS
CAPITAL ASSETS
Land
Buildings
CCAA Master Plan
Capital Improvements
Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment
Donated Surplus
Less: Accumulated Depreciation
Construction in Progress
TOTAL CAPITAL ASSETS, NET
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCESPENSIONS
TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITES
Accounts and Contracts Payable
Accrued Expenses
Deferred Revenue
Client Deposits
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Estimated Liability for Compensated Absences
State Infrastructure Bank Loan
Net OPEB Obligation
Net Pension Liability
TOTAL LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
TOTAL LIABILITIES
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES-PENSIONS
NET POSITION
RESERVES
Non Catastrophic Exp Reserve
Contaminated/Pollutant Reserve
Insurance Escrow Reserve
Building Reserve
Parking Lot Reserve
Air Traffic/Navigation/Safety Reserve
Rental Car Improvement Reserve
T-Hangar Reserve
TOTAL RESERVES
Retained Earnings
NET PROFIT / LOSS
TOTAL NET POSITION
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION

$15,387,919
2,352,700
74,858
307,339
18,122,815
5,533,331
51,386,723
1,727,490
42,718,008
6,172,082
67,300
(48,310,498)
6,180,861
65,475,297
1,335,189
$84,933,301

$1,893,731
208,180
251,806
221,243
2,574,960
90,895
2,510,347
26,088
3,191,880
5,819,211
8,394,170
279,775
29,112
107,500
233,683
1,984,816
1,072,293
198,070
46,522
33,341
$3,705,337
70,119,832
2,434,186
76,259,356
$84,933,301
2/6/2020
11:37 AM

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
APPROVED FOR COLLECTION & USE
42948
2,475,793.00

REVISED 11/1/18
PFC

PFC 1

73,024.00

TOTAL APPROVED

2,548,817.00

EXPIRES 6/1/2023

APPROVED FOR USE 8/9/19

8/1/2017

$

PFC 1
ALLEGIANT'S
CHECK #
454307
457900
462046
464929
468753
470689
473876
476653
480288
4888595
496557
500424
504586
10306
14254
11089
11472
11848
12223

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
APPROVED FOR COLLECTION & USE
8/1/2020
6,804,381.00

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
APPROVED FOR COLLECTION & USE
REQUEST FOR FAA DRAWDOWN

2,750,000.00

PFC 2
TOTAL APPROVED

PFC 1

$2.00/PASSENGER FEE
$4.50/ PASSENGER FEE 1/1/19
Received
DATE
AMOUNT
10/2/2017
57,588.30
10/24/2017
43,035.30
11/29/2017
97,095.97
12/19/2017
100,636.83
1/25/2018
115,620.75
2/20/2018
115,420.02
4/2/2018
129,433.53
4/30/2018
182,165.76
6/6/2018
250,517.61
7/2/2018
176,554.35
8/2/2018
166,170.20
9/5/2018
115,534.30
10/1/2018
117,467.79
11/5/2018
120,808.80
12/3/2018
136,592.67
1/2/2019
134,619.03
2/5/2018
111,046.95
3/5/2019
376,964.91
4/1/2019
1,359.53

MITIGATE WETLANDS
PAX
Month
31-Aug-17
30-Sep-17
31-Oct-17
30-Nov-17
31-Dec-17
31-Jan-18
28-Feb-18
31-Mar-18
30-Apr-18
31-May-18
30-Jun-18
31-Jul-18
31-Aug-18
30-Sep-18
31-Oct-18
30-Nov-18
31-Dec-18
31-Jan-19
28-Feb-19

ALLEGIANT'S
CHECK #
12223
12594
12966
133342
13716
14084
14463
14845
15220

Received
DATE
4/1/2019
4/29/2019
6/3/2019
7/1/2019
7/31/2019
9/5/2019
9/30/2019
11/1/2019
12/4/2019

6,804,381.00

PFC 2
$4.50/PASSENGER FEE

AMOUNT
379,864.68
345,792.27
284,612.48
312,774.33
278,268.93
272,526.81
252,591.82
285,170.01
329,074.86

PAX
Month
28-Feb-19
31-Mar-19
30-Apr-19
31-May-19
30-Jun-19
31-Jul-19
30-Aug-19
30-Sep-19
31-Oct-19

ALLEGIANT'S
CHECK #
15220
15599
15972

Received
DATE
12/4/2019
1/6/2020
2/5/2020

AMOUNT
2,172.59
306,681.01
369,753.57

PAX
Month
31-Oct-19
30-Nov-19
31-Dec-19

GRANT
BALANCE
INTEREST
Total Revenue Rec'd
TOTAL GRANT
REMAINING

2,548,632.60

BALANCE

184.40
2,548,817.00
2,548,817.00
0.00
DONE

2,740,676.19

INTEREST
Total Revenue Rec'd

9,323.81
2,750,000.00

TOTAL GRANT
REMAINING

2,750,000.00
0.00

PFC 1
TOTAL COLLECTIONS APPROVED

PFC 1

5,298,817.00

TOTAL COLLECTED
TOTAL INTEREST
TOTAL RECEIVED

5,289,308.79
9,508.21
5,298,817.00

REMAINING

-

BALANCE

678,607.17

INTEREST
Total Revenue Rec'd

5,674.06
684,281.23

TOTAL GRANT
REMAINING

6,804,381.00
6,120,099.77

ALL PFC 1 & 2
TOTAL COLLECTIONS APPROVED
TOTAL COLLECTED
TOTAL INTEREST
ALL PFC 1 & 2
TOTAL RECEIVED

PFC 2

12,103,198.00
5,967,915.96
15,182.27
5,983,098.23

6,120,099.77

DONE
PFC 1 (COLLECT&USE)
PFC 1 (COLLECT&USE)
PFC 2 (COLLECT &USE)
TOTAL ALL COLLECTED
REMAINING COLLECTIONS

PAYMENT (PFC2)

2,548,817.00 DONE
2,750,000.00 DONE
5,298,817.00
6,804,381.00
12,103,198.00
5,983,098.23
6,120,099.77

0085 - PFC.xls
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Property Acquisition
CIP No.
0100

Project Title
Property Acquisition - Runway 33 RPZ

Design-Permitting
CIP No.
0106
0108

Project Title
T-Hangar Development
Runway 22 RPZ Security Fencing

Secure Funding
CIP No.
0095
0098
0107
0101

Project Title
Roadway Network Improvements
Terminal Curbside Traffic Improvements
Runway 4-22 Rehabilitation / Reconstruction
Construct Replacement Hangar for Building 207

Bidding Phase
CIP No.
0103
0104

Project Title
Long-Term Passenger Parking Expansion
New General Aviation Center

Construction Phase
CIP No.
0096
0092

Project Title
Runway 15-33 Rehabilitation and Extension
Wetland Mitigation Phase 1

Closeout Phase
None to report currently.

Planning
None to report currently.

C A P IT A L I M P R O V E M E N T P RO G RA M R E P O RT – J A N U A RY 2020
P RO J E C T R E P O RT

Property Acquisition
PROJECT TITLE
Property Acquisition - Runway 33 RPZ – CIP No. 0100

PROJECT DESCRIPTION
This project consists of acquiring real property for approximately 2.7 acres of property (actual acquisition will be about 3.74 acres to square
off the actual acquisition) that will be within the Runway Protection Zone (RPZ) on the south end of Runway 33 once it is extended to the
south. The FAA’s airport design guidelines recommend that airports own the property underneath approach and departure areas to the
limits of the RPZ, where practicable. The guidelines further recommend that the RPZ be cleared of all above ground objects where
practicable. The purpose of this project is to achieve compliance with FAA guidance for land uses within RPZs.

STATUS OF PROJECT
Following the January 17, 2020 meeting with Airport Staff, Southwest Engineering Design, Banks Engineering, and the Farr Law Firm, work
on the due diligence items continues. Updated surveys are being prepared to address actual field conditions and incorporate title work
exceptions. The Developers Agreement has been revised to reflect the survey changes. The closing is now expected to occur in late
February or early March 2020.

PROJECT FUNDING
Description
Acquire Real Property
Due Diligence Items & Attorney Fees

Estimated Cost

FAA
FDOT
PFC
Costs and fees are contained in the Developers Agreement

See Below

PROJECT SCHEDULE
Milestone Description
FAA Coordination Meeting
Developers Agreement – CCAA
Approval
Due Diligence Items - Title Report,
Surveys, Appraisal, Environmental
Property Closing

PROJECT SKETCH
Completion
Date
08/27/18
09/19/19

Completed

Dec-19

✓

✓
✓

Property Acquisition
Required (2.7 Acres)
Actual (3.74 Acres)

Mar-20

CONTRACTS
Firm Name
Services Provided
Banks
Boundary Survey
Steele Environmental Consulting, Inc.
Environmental
Riverside Appraisal Services, Inc.
Appraisal

Fee
By
Developer
$1,700
$6,000

CCAA

C A P IT A L I M P R O V E M E N T P RO G RA M R E P O RT – J A N U A RY 2020
P RO J E C T R E P O RT

Design-Permitting
PROJECT TITLE
T-Hangar Development – CIP No. 0106

PROJECT DESCRIPTION
This project includes design and permitting services for the preparation of construction plans and specifications for 24 aircraft T-hangars
units adjacent to the existing 600 series T-hangar units. Door openings are to be 42 feet wide, depth is to be 34 feet and door height is to
be 12 feet. The design will proceed to a 30% design stage and construction quotes will be obtained. Then, lease rates will be calculated and
presented to CCAA for review and comment.

STATUS OF PROJECT
No Change for Previous Report
The 50% / 60% plans, specs and cost estimate were submitted on October 31, 2019. The total construction cost estimate with a 10%
contingency is $3,339,395. The cost estimate was discussed at the November 2019 Charlotte County Airport Authority commission
meeting. Staff is researching funding options and will report results to the Charlotte County Airport Authority at a future meeting.

PROJECT FUNDING
Description
Design and Permitting Only
Construction
Total

Estimated Cost
$99,789 (Actual)
3,339,395
TBD

FAA

CCAA Request Project
Develop Scope, Fee, Schedule
CCAA Approve Scope of Work
Issue Notice to Proceed
50% / 60% Design
Future Task TBD

PROJECT SKETCH
Completion
Date
05/16/19
06/13/19
06/20/19
06/20/19
10/31/19

Completed
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓

CONTRACTS
Firm Name
Services Provided
AECOM
Engineering Design
TBD
Construction

PFC

CCAA
100%
100%

PROJECT SCHEDULE
Milestone Description

FDOT

Fee
$99,789

C A P IT A L I M P R O V E M E N T P RO G RA M R E P O RT – J A N U A RY 2020
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Design-Permitting
PROJECT TITLE
Runway 4-22 RPZ Security Fencing - CIP No. 0108

PROJECT DESCRIPTION
This project will construct approximately 6,000 feet of security fencing within the limits of the future Runway 22 End Runway Protection
Zone.

STATUS OF PROJECT
The FDOT grant was accepted by the Charlotte County Airport Authority on December 19, 2019. FDOT issued the formal fully executed
grant agreement on December 27, 2019. As a result, Airport Staff will begin work on the preparation of the bidding documents and
submittals to FDOT. The schedule is to advertise for construction bids in late February or early March 2020.

PROJECT FUNDING
Description
Design and Construction
Total

Estimated
Cost
200,000
200,000

FAA

Receive FDOT Grant Offer
CCAA Accept FDOT Grant
Prepare Bidding Documents /
FDOT Approval
Advertise for Bids
Open Bids / Recommendation of
Award submit to FDOT
FDOT Award/Contract Approval
CCAA Contact Approval
Begin Construction
End Construction
Closeout

PROJECT SKETCH
Completion
Date
12/5/19
12/19/19
Mar-20

Completed
✓
✓

Mar-20
Apr-20
Apr-20
Apr-20
May-20
TBD
TBD

CONTRACTS
Firm Name
Services Provided
In-House
Design and Bidding
TBD
Construction

PFC
50%

PROJECT SCHEDULE
Milestone Description

FDOT

Fee

PGD Staff
TBD

CCAA
50%

C A P IT A L I M P R O V E M E N T P RO G RA M R E P O RT – J A N U A RY 2020
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Secure Funding Phase
PROJECT TITLE
Roadway Network Improvements – CIP No. 0095

PROJECT DESCRIPTION
This project will construct; A right turn lane on Piper Road at Viking Avenue, one additional lane on Viking Avenue between Piper Road and
Golf Course Blvd. and one additional lane on Airport Road between Piper Road and Golf Course Blvd.

STATUS OF PROJECT
On January 28, 2020 FDOT informed the Airport that there is no funding available for this current fiscal year. As a result, FDOT has added
this project to next year’s funding cycle for consideration. In August 2020, the Airport will follow up with FDOT to check on the status of
funding.

PROJECT FUNDING
Description
Design, Permitting, Bidding,
Construction Services, Closeout
Construction
Total

Estimated Cost
78,990 Actual

FAA

330,000
578,990

50%

PROJECT SCHEDULE
Milestone Description
Select Consultant
Develop Scope, Fee, Schedule
CCAA Approve Scope of Work
Issue Notice to Proceed
Submit FDOT Grant Application
Design and Permitting (100%)
Secure Funding
Finalize Bid Documents and
Advertise for Construction Bids
Begin Construction
End Construction
Closeout

FDOT SIS

PROJECT SKETCH
Completion
Date
05/17/18
05/17/18
05/17/18
05/29/18
7/8/19
10/23/19
TBD
TBD

Completed
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓

TBD
TBD
TBD

CONTRACTS
Firm Name
Services Provided
Southwest Engineering and Design
Engineering Design, Permitting, Bidding,
Construction Services, Closeout
TBD
Construction

Fee
$78,990

PFC

CCAA
100%
50%

C A P IT A L I M P R O V E M E N T P RO G RA M R E P O RT – J A N U A RY 2020
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Secure Funding Phase
PROJECT TITLE
Terminal Curbside Traffic Improvements – CIP No. 0098

PROJECT DESCRIPTION
This project will add a fourth lane to the terminal curbside pick-up and drop-off lanes. It includes slight modifications to the short-term
parking lot. This project is planned to be constructed as part of the Roadway Network Improvements project.

STATUS OF PROJECT
This project is being coordinated with the Roadway Network Improvements project as described above. On January 28, 2020 FDOT
informed the Airport that there is no funding available for this current fiscal year. As a result, FDOT has added this project to next year’s
funding cycle for consideration. In August 2020, the Airport will follow up with FDOT to check on the status of funding.

PROJECT FUNDING
Description
Design, Permitting
Construction
Total

Estimated Cost
34,600
175,000
234,600

FAA

PROJECT SCHEDULE
Milestone Description
Select Consultant & Approve Scope
and Fee
Issue Notice to Proceed
Submit FDOT Grant Application
Design and Permitting (100%)
Secure Funding
Finalize Bid Documents and
Advertise for Construction Bids
Begin Construction
End Construction
Closeout

PROJECT SKETCH
Completion
Date
08/02/18

Completed

08/10/18
7/8/19
10/28/19
TBD
TBD

✓
✓
✓

✓

TBD
TBD
TBD

CONTRACTS
Firm Name
Services Provided
Southwest Engineering and Design
Engineering Design, Permitting
TBD
Construction

FDOT

Fee
$34,600
TBD

CFC

CCAA
100%
100%

C A P IT A L I M P R O V E M E N T P RO G RA M R E P O RT – J A N U A RY 2020
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Secure Funding
PROJECT TITLE
Runway 4-22 Rehabilitation / Reconstruction - CIP No. 0107

PROJECT DESCRIPTION
Rehabilitate the existing Runway 4-22 pavement, reconstruct applicable portions of the existing base and electrical improvements. The last
rehabilitation (mill and overlay – no base reconstruction) was completed in 1999. The pavement and original 1940’s base has reached their
design life. To meet safety and usability standards the runway will require reconstruction and/or rehabilitation to provide adequate
pavement strength for the existing aircraft fleet operating at PGD, as well as to conform to FAA and FDOT minimum standards for
pavement condition.

STATUS OF PROJECT
The design only FAA grant application was submitted on January 6, 2020. We are expecting a grant offer in March 2020. The FDOT funding
has been secured. Once the FAA grant offer has been accepted, design will begin.

PROJECT FUNDING
Description
Consultant Design and Airport Admin
Construction
Total

Estimated
Cost
425,000
15.8M
TBD

FAA
90%
90%

PROJECT SCHEDULE
Milestone Description
Select Consultant
Submit FAA & FDOT Pre Application
(Design)
Develop Scope, Fee, Schedule
Complete IFE Process
Submit FAA & FDOT Application
(Design)
Secure FAA & FDOT Funding
(Design)
Begin Design
End Design / Advertise for
Construction Bids
Submit FAA & FDOT Application
(Construction)
Secure FAA & FDOT Funding
(Construction)
Begin Construction

PFC
5%
5%

PROJECT SKETCH
Completion
Date
08/02/18
11/01/19

Completed

Dec-19

✓

Jan-20

✓

Mar-20

FDOT 1/16

✓
✓

Mar-20
Jan-21
Feb-21
Apr-21
Jun-21

CONTRACTS
Firm Name
Services Provided
Kimley-Horn
Design Only
TBD
Construction

FDOT

Fee
$420,675

TBD

CCAA
5%
5%

C A P IT A L I M P R O V E M E N T P RO G RA M R E P O RT – J A N U A RY 2020
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Secure Funding Phase
PROJECT TITLE
Construct Replacement Hangar for Building Number 207 – CIP No. 0101

PROJECT DESCRIPTION
This project consists of the construction of six (6) new replacement hangars for tenants located in Building 207, and four (4) additional
hangars. Building 207 will need to be demolished when the terminal access road is expanded to the north or if this area is designated for
expansion of rental car parking. During the design process, other improvements will be determined. The replacement hangars will be
located west of the New GA Terminal Facility and is planned to be constructed as part of the New GA Terminal Facility project.

STATUS OF PROJECT
No change from previous report.
This project is being bid as part of the New GA Terminal Facility as described above. Following discussion at the May 16, 2019 Board
meeting, Airport staff submitted an FDOT SIB loan application on June 19, 2019. If approved, the funds are not available until at least July
1, 2020. In the meantime, the project is on hold.

PROJECT FUNDING
Description
Building 207 Replacement Hangar
Design and Construction
Total

Estimated Cost
3.2M

FAA

3.2M

Select Consultant
Develop Scope, Fee, Schedule
CCAA Approve Consultant Fee
Issue Notice to Proceed
Design and Permitting
Advertise for Construction Bids
Submit FDOT SIB Loan Application
Secure FDOT SIB Loan
Advertise for Construction Bids
Construction
Closeout

PROJECT SKETCH
Completion
Date
08/02/18
09/27/18
10/23/18
10/23/18
05/01/19
05/07/19
06/19/19
Jul-20
Aug-20
TBD
TBD

Completed
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓

CONTRACTS
Firm Name
Services Provided
AECOM
Engineering Design, Bidding, Construction Services,
Closeout
TBD
Construction

CFC

CCAA
100%

PROJECT SCHEDULE
Milestone Description

FDOT

Fee
$121,165

C A P IT A L I M P R O V E M E N T P RO G RA M R E P O RT – J A N U A RY 2020
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Bidding
PROJECT TITLE
Long-Term Passenger Parking Expansion - CIP No. 0103

PROJECT DESCRIPTION
The project consists of design and permitting for approximately 2,500 long term parking spaces and a site grading plan for a future 2-acre
site. The project construction will be phased. Phase 1 is planned to construct approximately 500 spaces. The lot will have its own separate
entrance and exits, and provisions will be made for bus shelters and bus access and egress.

STATUS OF PROJECT
The project was advertised for construction bids on January 30, 2020. The pre-bid meeting was held on February 12, 2020. Bids are
scheduled to be opened on February 26, 2020.

PROJECT FUNDING
Description
Design, Permitting, Bidding
Construction
Total

Estimated Cost
268,511
2,000,000
2,268,511

FAA

Select Consultant
Develop Scope, Fee, Schedule
CCAA Approve Consultant Fee
Issue Notice to Proceed
Complete Design
Advertise for Construction Bids
Open Bids
Award Contract
Begin Construction
End Construction
Closeout

CCAA

PROJECT SKETCH
Completion
Date
11/15/18
12/10/18
12/20/18
01/02/19
Dec-19
01/20/20
Feb-20
Feb/ Mar-20
Apr-20
TBD
TBD

Completed
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓

CONTRACTS
Firm Name
Services Provided
AECOM
Design, Permitting, Bidding
TBD
Construction

CFC
TBD

PROJECT SCHEDULE
Milestone Description

FDOT

Fee
$268,511

Future Phases
Approximately
2,000 Spaces

100%
TBD

C A P IT A L I M P R O V E M E N T P RO G RA M R E P O RT – J A N U A RY 2020
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Bidding Phase
PROJECT TITLE
New General Aviation Center – CIP No. 0104

PROJECT DESCRIPTION
This project consists of the design, permitting and construction of a new General Aviation Center Facility on the north side of the Airport,
east of the 600 series T-Hangars. The project includes; GA Terminal, Café, Parking, Access Road, Apron, Taxiway and Taxilane
improvements.

STATUS OF PROJECT
Apron, Taxiways and Taxilanes – The project was advertised for construction bids on January 30, 2020. The pre-bid meeting was held on
February 12, 2020. Bids are scheduled to be opened on March 3, 2020.
Terminal, Parking and Access Road – The Airport is evaluating various sources for construction funding. Currently, FDOT has issued a PTGA
in the amount of $200,000 and Amendment 1 for $1,000,000. In addition, the Airport is awaiting receipt of the terms and conditions of the
SIB Loan application (submitted on 6/19/19) and results of a FDOT SIS funding application that was submitted on 12/30/19.

PROJECT FUNDING
Description
Apron, Taxilane, Taxiway
Design and Construction
Terminal, Café, Parking Lot, Access
Road -Design and Construction
Total

Estimated Cost
10.0M

FAA
6.0M

6.0M
16.1M

PROJECT SCHEDULE
Milestone Description
Select Consultant
Develop Scope, Fee, Schedule
CCAA Accept FDOT Funding &
Approve Consultant Fee
Secure FDOT Funding
Submit FAA Grant Pre-Application
Issue Notice to Proceed
Stakeholder Presentation
Design
Advertise for Construction Bids
Canceled – No FAA Funding
Submit FDOT SIB Loan Application
Submit FDOT SIS Grant Application
Secure FDOT SIB Loan
Advertise for Construction Bids
Apron, Taxiways
Construction
Closeout

FDOT
PFC
4.0M
(FDOT Special Legislation and/or PFC)
50% (SIB Loan / Existing PTGA
/ SIS Funding)

PROJECT SKETCH
Completion
Date
08/16/18
10/17/18
10/23/18

Completed

10/30/18
11/02/18
11/05/18
12/13/18
05/01/19
05/07/19

✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓

06/19/19
12/30/19
Jul-20
01/30/20

✓
✓

✓
✓
✓

✓

TBD
TBD

CONTRACTS
Firm Name
Services Provided
Avcon
Independent Fee Estimate
Michael Baker International, Inc.
Engineering Design, Permitting, Bidding,
Construction Services, Closeout

Fee
$2,600
$1,676,977

CCAA

50%
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Construction Phase
PROJECT TITLE
Runway 15-33 Rehabilitation and Extension – CIP No. 0096

PROJECT DESCRIPTION
This project consists of constructing a 593-foot extension on the south end of Runway 15-33 and rehabilitating the existing runway
pavement. In addition, Woodlawn Drive will be re-aligned to be outside the limits of the new Runway Protection Zone (RPZ) on the south
end of Runway 33 once it is extended to the south. One wetland will be mitigated as part of the re-alignment.

STATUS OF PROJECT
Phase 1 work (Taxiway “D”, “G” and “A”) was completed in mid-January 2020. Phases 2 and 3 (Runway 15-33 and Taxiway “E”) work is in
progress and scheduled to be completed by the end of March 2020.

PROJECT FUNDING
Description
Rehabilitation of Existing Runway
Design and Construction
Runway 33 End Extension
Design and Construction
Woodland Drive Relocation
Design and Construction
Total

Estimated Cost
5.2M

FAA

Select Consultant
Develop Scope, Fee, Schedule
CCAA Accept FDOT Funding &
Approve Consultant Fee
Secure FDOT Funding
Submit FAA Grant Pre-Application
Issue Notice to Proceed
Design and Permitting
Advertise for Construction Bids
Submit FAA Grant Application
Secure FAA Funding
Begin Construction in Field
End Construction
Closeout

PFC
5%

4.95M

50%

50%

1.85M

50%

50%

12.0M

PROJECT SKETCH
Completion
Date
08/02/18
09/30/18
10/23/18

Completed

10/30/18
11/02/18
11/05/18
4/15/19
04/19/19
06/07/19
08/26/19
11/4/19
Aug-20
Sep-20

✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓

✓
✓
✓

CONTRACTS
Firm Name
Services Provided
EG Solutions, Inc.
Independent Fee Estimate
Kimley-Horn
Engineering Design, Permitting, Bidding,
Construction Services, Closeout
Wetland Mitigation Bank
Wetland Mitigation Fees
Ajax Paving Industries of Florida, LLC
Construction

CCAA

5%

PROJECT SCHEDULE
Milestone Description

FDOT
90%

Fee
$3,000
$1.2M

$250,000
$10.5M
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Construction Phase
PROJECT TITLE
Wetland Mitigation Phase 1 – CIP No. 0092

PROJECT DESCRIPTION
This project has been revised due to funding. This project consists of the design, permitting and construction required to fill approximately
14 acres of existing wetlands within the airport operations area. WL ID’s B1, C, F and H. This project also includes the purchase of required
wetland mitigation credits. These wetlands were identified in the Airport’s 2016 Wildlife Hazard Management Plan as having the potential
to attract hazardous wildlife. This project is planned to be constructed as part of the Runway 15-33 Rehabilitation and Extension project.

STATUS OF PROJECT
Only Change from Previous Report – Wetlands Mitigation is on Hold – Pending Receipt of ACOE Permit
This project is being coordinated with the Runway 15-33 Rehabilitation and Extension project as described above. The fillings of Wetlands
“F” and “H” are included in Phase 2 of the project which was scheduled to begin in January 2020. Wetlands “B1” and “C” will be filled in
Phase 7 which is scheduled to begin in April 2020.

PROJECT FUNDING
Description
Wetland Mitigation Phase 1

Estimated Cost
1.8M

FAA

PROJECT SCHEDULE
Milestone Description
Select Consultant
Develop Scope, Fee, Schedule
CCAA Approve Scope of Work
(Phase 1)
Amendment 1 – Add Phase 2
(Permitting – No Design)
Submit FAA Grant Pre-Application
Complete Initial Permitting
Issue Amendment 2 - Design
Design and Permitting
Advertise for Construction Bids
Submit FAA Grant Application
Secure FAA Funding
Begin Construction
End Construction in Field
Closeout

FDOT
90%

Completed

09/21/18

✓

11/02/18
11/29/18
01/07/19
04/15/19
04/19/19
06/07/19
08/23/19
Mar-20
Aug-20
Sep-20

✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓

✓
✓
✓

CONTRACTS
Firm Name
Services Provided
Kimley-Horn
Independent Fee Estimate
EG Solutions, Inc. – Design, Permitting, Bidding,
Construction, Closeout
Wetland Mitigation Bank
Wetland Mitigation Fees
Ajax Paving Industries of Florida, LLC
Construction

Fee
$2,000
$100,000
$775,000
$906,843

CCAA
10%

PROJECT SKETCH
Completion
Date
01/18/18
04/05/18
04/19/18

PFC

Page 15 of 16

2019

Rehab Taxiway D (MPU #14)
Rehab Runway 9-27 (MPU #5)
Construct New Taxiway - GA Apron to Taxiway A (MPU #15)
Construct New GA Apron - East of GAC Apron
Wetland Mitigation Phase 2

Project List

2022

Reconstruct / Rehabilitate Runway 4-22 (MPU #4) Construction
Rental Car Parking - Convert GA Ramp (MPU #30)
Rental Car Parking - Building 207 Demo Area (MPU #31)
Roadway Realignment - Airport (Golf Course to Piper) (MPU#27)
Rental Cars - Landscaping

Project List

2021

Reconstruct / Rehabilitate Runway 4-22 (MPU #4) Design
New Long-Term Parking Lot - Design/Construction
New GA Facility - Taxiway/Apron/Self-Serve
New GA Facility - Terminal/Parking/Access
Construct Replacement Hangar for Building 207 (#37)
Roadway Network Improvements - Construction
Terminal Curbside Improvements - Construction
Runway 22 RPZ - Security Fencing
Backup Generator for Fuel Farm
Administration Expansion (Buildout)

Project List

2020

Acquire Property - RW 33 RPZ (MPU #1) - Part of 15-33 Extension
Acquire Property - RW 22 RPZ (MPU #2)
Roadway Network Improvements - Design
Terminal Curbside Improvements - Design
New Long-Term Parking Lot - Phased Project - Design
T-Hangar Development
Wetland Mitigation Phase 1
Runway 15-33 - Rehab
Runway 15-33 - Woodlawn RPZ
Runway 15-33 - Extension

Project List

$
$
$
$
$
2022 Totals $

$
$
$
$
$
2021 Totals $

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
2020 Totals $

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
2019 Totals $

6,900,000

$

$

6,371,811 $

-

$

$

$

$

$

$

3,690,000

FAA DISC

7,380,246

7,380,246

FAA DISC

6,000,000

6,000,000

FAA DISC

-

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

FAA DISC

2,681,811

FAA ENTL

6,900,000

FAA ENTL

382,500

$

$

382,500

FAA ENTL

6,354,840

$

$

1,638,807
4,716,033

FAA ENTL

$
$

2,979,790 $
690,226
4,100,000 $
5,700,000
4,300,000
17,770,016 $

COST
ESTIMATE

15,866,940
224,650
756,596
673,306
20,000
17,541,492

COST
ESTIMATE

425,000
2,300,000
10,000,000
6,000,000
3,200,000
330,000
175,000
200,000
50,000
200,000
22,880,000

COST
ESTIMATE

20,000
600,000
28,990
14,600
268,511
99,789
1,820,897
5,240,035
1,869,151
4,976,124
14,938,097

COST
ESTIMATE

$

$

-

-

$

$

$

$
$
$
$

-

$

5,700,000 $

FL Job Growth
$
5,700,000

$

$
$
$
$
$
1,950,000 $

1,950,000

FDOT Job Growth

$

$

$

FDOT Special Leg

$

345,113 $

345,113

FDOT 50%

FDOT 50%

3,377,500

165,000
87,500
100,000
25,000

$
$
$
$
$

3,000,000

FDOT 50%

934,576
2,488,062
3,442,638

20,000

FDOT 50%

$

$
$
$

$

353,990 $

205,000

148,990

FDOT 5%

793,347

793,347

FDOT 5%

21,250

21,250

FDOT 5%

262,001

262,001

FDOT 5%
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-

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$
$
$
$
$

$

$
345,113 $

345,113

CCAA

CCAA

165,000
87,500
100,000
25,000
200,000
4,727,500

3,000,000

1,150,000

CCAA

411,890

28,990
14,600
268,511
99,789

CCAA

21,250

$
$
$
$
$

$

$

$

$

4,300,000
4,653,990 $

205,000

148,990

PFC

793,347

793,347

PFC

2,071,250

2,050,000

PFC

182,090
262,001
934,576
2,488,062
4,466,728

600,000

PFC

-

CFC

-

224,650
756,596
673,306
20,000
1,674,552

CFC

4,350,000

3,200,000

1,150,000

CFC

CFC
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2023

2025

Construct Holding Bay at RW 4 Approach (MPU #12)
North Apron Rehab
Airport Safety Complex
Construct New Hangars
Runway 4-22 Extension - EA

Project List
$
$
$
$
$
2025 Totals $

$
$
$
$
$

$
$
$
2023 Totals $

Terminal Expansion (MPU #22) - Construction P1
Purchase ARFF Vehicle
Construct Perimeter Road P1 (TW D to Henry) MPU #16
Construct Perimeter Road P2A (South Ramp to East Side) MPU#17
2024 Totals

Project List

2024

Terminal Expansion (MPU #22) - Design
Roadway Realignments - Terminal Access/Curbside (MPU#26)
New Maintenance Building

Project List

1,100,000 $
436,343
1,150,000
3,300,000
339,313 $
6,325,656 $

COST
ESTIMATE

10,000,000 $
750,000 $
158,814
3,056,000 $
13,964,814 $

COST
ESTIMATE

1,500,000 $
1,514,055
1,100,000
4,114,055 $

COST
ESTIMATE

$

$

$

305,382
1,295,382 $
-

-

-

$

FAA DISC

FAA DISC

FAA DISC

990,000

FAA ENTL

2,750,400
4,425,400 $

1,000,000
675,000

FAA ENTL

1,350,000 $

1,350,000

FAA ENTL

-

-

$

$

$
$

55,000 $

55,000

FDOT 5%

FDOT 5%

FDOT 5%

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM
MASTER FINANCIAL SUMMARY

-

$

$

1,000,000 $

1,000,000

FDOT 50%

FDOT 50%

550,000
550,000 $

FDOT 50%

-

$

$
$

$
$

$
3,450,000 $

1,150,000
2,300,000

CCAA

$
4,158,814 $

158,814

$

CCAA
4,000,000

$
$

$
550,000
550,000 $

$

1,000,000 $

1,000,000

FDOT

-

$
$

CCAA

$

33,931
525,274 $

55,000
436,343

PFC

305,600
4,380,600 $

4,000,000
75,000

PFC

150,000 $

150,000

PFC

CFC

CFC

-

-

1,514,055

1,514,055

CFC
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M ARKETING & C OMMUNICATIONS R EPORT | J ANUARY 2020
PGD BUZZ
& E-News

BUZZ e-news, blog page & news releases:
•

Why Fly PGD Spotlight on Civil Air Patrol – 1/3/20

•

AeroGuard Flight Training Tuition Credit – 1/6/20

•

Memphis Destination Spotlight – 1/8/20

•

Upcoming Events, Discounts, Destination Spotlight & More!
– 1/10/20

•

Allegiant Announces Nonstop Service to Savannah – 1/14/20

•

CEO Report, Special Air Trek Promo, K-9 Comfort Crew, Why
Fly & More – 1/31/20

Seven Tenant Touchdown BUZZ editions emailed out:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

News & Media
Coverage

Reminder – Temporary Airfield Closure – 1/5/20
Air Traffic Control Tower Survey - We want YOUR feedback! –
1/13/20
Tenant Updates – Airfield Construction & Top Off Tuesday –
1/13/20
Enter Drawing by Thursday for Free Avgas & Prizes – 1/15/20
Taxiway E Closure on Tuesday – 1/17/20
Taxiway D Closure Tonight – 1/23/20
FAA Safety Team – Construction Impacts Seminar – 1/30/20

• National news dominated by Allegiant’s largest service expansion
in company history, announcement of new Savannah route
• Local news dominated by single-engine plane nosewheel collapse,
K-9 Comfort Crew and EAA’s Ford Tri-Motor visit
• News reached nearly 29 million people with estimated advertising
value at $265K
• Summary of January News Coverage
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FlyPGD.com
Website Reach

Outreach & Events

• 140K total web page views in January, relatively consistent throughout the month
• Top performing subpages in order for January: terminal wi-fi portal, arrivals/departures,
airlines, parking/directions, rental car info, main terminal, destinations map, employment

January:
• EAA Ford Tri-Motor Rides
• Various meetings/outreach: United Way, Charlotte
County Chamber, Punta Gorda Chamber, Tourism
Development Council and Economic Development
Winter/Spring:
• Feb. 6 - Port Charlotte Middle School Career Night
• Feb. 6 – James Parish Presentation for Urban Land
Institute
• Feb. 17 – Junior Leadership Charlotte Tour
• April 7 – Congressional Art Competition Reception
• April 27 – Purdue University Hospitality Students
Tour
• May 2 – Veterans Honor Flight

Google Search
Engine Reach

Facebook

982K Google users found PGD via Google maps listing, and 72K found PGD via Google search

• Facebook likes reached 4,284 by Jan. 31 with post reach ranging from 5K to 26K
• Facebook posts with the most positive reactions/engagement were about new Savannah
route, Memphis destination spotlight, Why Fly PGD prize drawing, and K-9 Comfort Crew
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Facebook

Twitter
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Terminal Updates

Advertising &
Marketing

• Flybrary: Punta Gorda Public Library organized
and replenished bookshelves with 223 items in
January.
• Current advertisers: NEW: Coldwell Banker
Sunstar, City of Punta Gorda, Seminole Casino
Hotel, Babcock Ranch, Capri Realty, CD Real
Estate, City of Cape Coral EDO, City of Ft Myers
CRA, Florida Weekly, Island Harbor Beach Club
(Palm Island), Laser Lounge Spa, Lennar, Five
Guys Burgers & Fries, Tropical Smoothie Café,
Seminole Casino & Hotel, Smugglers
Enterprises, Waterman Broadcasting (NBC-2),
Westchester Gold & Diamonds, West Villages

• Harbor Style: Business Magazine ad
(to the left, coming out in Spring)
• Charlotte Sun Online: Animated ad
prompts viewers to enter “Why Fly
PGD” contest and features tenant’s
photos (sample below)
• Outdoor billboards: Punta Gorda,
Englewood, Cape Coral, Port
Charlotte, North Port & Venice
• Community Guides: Englewood
Chamber, Charlotte County
Chamber, Punta Gorda Chamber,
Charlotte County Tourism Bureau’s
Adventure Journal

Charlotte County Airport Authority
Total Passengers CY 2014 thru 2020
250,000

200,000
CY 20
CY 19

CY 18

150,000

CY 17
CY 16

CY 15
CY 14

100,000

50,000

0
January

March

Total Passengers per year
CY 08
CY 09
CY 10
29,152
9,587
17,283
31,788
9,995
21,991
40,599
15,013
28,534
13,751
19,390
7,759
6,629
9,521
8,238
9,190
10,262
7,652
8,326
5,547
4,830
8,258
7,606
1,077
13,411
17,571
15,180
7,305
19,341
31,763
15180 109,921 129,025 182,423

CY 07
January
February
March
April
May
June
July
August
September
October
November
December
TOTALS

February

April

CY 11
29,628
34,072
44,449
36,394
13,685
14,130
16,292
12,942
9,409
17,783
27,164
35,678
291,626

May

CY 12
33,988
38,695
26,630
9,343
7,486
10,382
18,652
14,131
10,871
11,690
16,720
20,769
219,357

June

CY 13
19,225
20,939
33,779
28,203
28,479
31,915
32,888
22,377
10,559
15,433
39,040
50,774
333,611

July

CY 14
47,091
56,001
76,917
71,894
51,752
52,167
53,826
38,744
26,423
37,083
53,126
63,051
628,075

August

CY 15
CY 16
58,948
76,538
66,254
91,130
93,171
121,695
74,994
98,101
65,759
87,352
78,276
98,430
85,468
106,142
60,240
81,800
38,693
64,226
62,355
89,084
71,025
96,188
81,289
107,617
836,472 1,118,303

September

October

November

CY 17
CY 18
CY 19
CY 20
105,188 122,901 129,315 154,805
109,866 140,076 148,118
141,802 192,947 221,326
120,764 147,871 172,893
97,304 118,050 122,555
108,502 135,860 134,598
116,799 145,426 146,788
88,678 111,335
98,060
51,836
74,068
57,069
114,113 129,086 117,484
110,097 128,121 130,623
128,388 131,423 166,087
1,293,337 1,577,164 1,644,916 154,805
Overall total: 8,534,215

December

Operations Reported By Tower
November
Air Carrier
AirTaxi
Military
GA
Total

December

January

830
72
36
5204
6142

1026
86
28
3450
4590

915
99
19
5853
6886

0
0

0
1

1
0

Hangars
600 Series
200 Series

119
98

Allegiant Cities Served
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20

21
22
23
24

Albany, NY
Allentown, PA
Appleton, WI
Ashville, NC
Belleville, IL
Cedar Rapids, IA
Charleston, SC
Cincinnati, OH
Cleveland, OH
Columbus, OH
Concord/Charlotte, NC
Dayton, OH
Des Moines, IA
Elmira, NY
Flint, MI
Ft. Wayne, IN
Grand Rapids, MI
Harrisburg, PA
Huntington, WV
Indianapolis, IN
Kansas City, MO
Knoxville, TN
Lexington, KY
Louisville, KY

25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43

44
45
46
47
48

Memphis, TN
Moline, IL
Nashville, TN
Niagara Falls, NY
Norfolk, VA
Omaha, NB
Peoria, IL
Pittsburg, PA
Plattsburg, NY
Portsmouth, NH
Providence, RI
Raleigh/Durham, NC
Richmond, VA
Rochester, NY
Rockford, IL
Saint Cloud, MN
Savannah, GA
Sioux Falls, SD
Southbend, IN
Springfield, IL
Stewart/Newburgh, NY
Syracuse, NY
Toledo, OH
Traverse City, MI

Charlotte County Airport Authority
Avgas Gallons Sold, FY2019 VS FY2020
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Charlotte County Airport Authority
Jet A Gallons Sold, FY2019 VS FY2020
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Charlotte County Airport Authority
Airline Gallons Pumped, FY2019 VS FY2020
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CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
TOGETHER WITH ADDITIONAL REPORTS
YEARS ENDED
SEPTEMBER 30, 2019 AND 2018

DRAFT
Discussion Items:
● Request Centennial "public" confirm letter next year
● 250.4 add PFC column to report
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Board of Commissioners
Charlotte County Airport Authority
28000 A-1 Airport Road
Punta Gorda, Florida 33982
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying basic financial statements of the business-type activities of Charlotte
County Airport Authority (the "Authority") as of and for the years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, and
the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Authority's basic financial
statements as listed in the table of contents.
Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

DRAFT

Auditor's Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We did not audit
the financial statements of the Florida Retirement System Pension Plan (FRS) or the Health Insurance Subsidy
Pension Plan (HIS) as of and for the years ended June 30, 2019 or 2018. The Authority is required to record its
proportionate share of the FRS and HIS liability in the Authority's government-wide financial statements as of
September 30, 2019 and 2018 and for the years then ended. Those financial statements (FRS & HIS) were
audited by other auditors whose report thereon has been furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates
to the amounts included for Charlotte County Airport Authority's government-wide financial statements, is
based on the report of the other auditors. We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained
in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States of America. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of
the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly,

Board of Commissioners
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we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, based on our audits and the report of other auditors, the financial statements referred to above
present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the business-type activities of
Charlotte County Airport Authority as of September 30, 2019 and 2018, and the respective changes in financial
position and cash flows thereof, for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.
Emphasis of Matters
As discussed in Note A, the basic financial statements present only Charlotte County Airport Authority and
are not intended to present fairly the financial position of Charlotte County, Florida, as of September 30, 2019
and 2018, and the results of its operations and the cash flows of its business type activities for the fiscal years
then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

DRAFT

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's
discussion and analysis on pages i - xx, Schedule of the Authority's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension
Liability - Florida Retirement System Pension Plan (FRS), Schedule of Authority Contributions - Florida
Retirement System Pension Plan (FRS), Schedule of the Authority's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension
Liability - Health Insurance Subsidy Pension Plan (HIS), Schedule of Authority Contributions - Health
Insurance Subsidy Pension Plan (HIS), Notes to the Required Supplementary Information and Schedule of
Changes in the Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios - GASB No. 75 and Related Notes to the Schedule, as
listed in the table of contents, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information,
although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards
Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements
in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to
the required supplementary information - management's discussion and analysis (MD&A), Schedule of the
Authority's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability - Florida Retirement System Pension Plan (FRS),
Schedule of Authority Contributions - Florida Retirement System Pension Plan (FRS), Schedule of the
Authority's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability - Health Insurance Subsidy Pension Plan (HIS),
Schedule of Authority Contributions - Health Insurance Subsidy Pension Plan (HIS), Notes to the Required
Supplementary Information and Schedule of Changes in the Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios - GASB
No. 75 and Related Notes to the Schedule, as listed in the table of contents, in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management
about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with
management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained
during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on
the required supplementary information - management's discussion and analysis (MD&A), Schedule of the
Authority's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability - Florida Retirement System Pension Plan (FRS),
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Schedule of Authority Contributions - Florida Retirement System Pension Plan (FRS), Schedule of the
Authority's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability - Health Insurance Subsidy Pension Plan (HIS),
Schedule of Authority Contributions - Health Insurance Subsidy Pension Plan (HIS), Notes to the Required
Supplementary Information and Schedule of Changes in the Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios - GASB
No. 75 and Related Notes to the Schedule, as listed in the table of contents, because the limited procedures do
not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.
Other Required Supplementary Information
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that collectively
comprise Charlotte County Airport Authority's basic financial statements. The required supplementary
information other than MD&A - budgetary comparison information is presented for purposes of additional
analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements.
The required supplementary information other than MD&A - budgetary comparison information is the
responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and
other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures,
including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records
used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other
additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. In our opinion, the required supplementary information other than MD&A budgetary comparison
information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.
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Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements of Charlotte
County Airport Authority that collectively comprise the Charlotte County Airport Authority's basic financial
statements. The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards for the year ended September 30,
2019 as required by the Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, "Uniform Administrative
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards" is presented for purposes of
additional analysis and is not a required part of the financial statements. Such information is the responsibility
of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used
to prepare the financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in
the audit of the financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling
such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial
statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the accompanying
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards for the year ended September 30, 2019 is fairly stated, in all
material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.
Other Information
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the Authority's basic financial statements. The Exhibit - Management's Response to Independent
Auditor's Report to Management is not a required part of the basic financial statements but is required by
Government Auditing Standards. Such information has not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied
in the audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any
assurance on it.
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Other Reporting Required by Section 218.415, Florida Statutes
In accordance with Section 218.415, Florida Statutes, we have also issued a report dated January 22, 2020, on
our consideration of Charlotte County Airport Authority's compliance with provisions of Section 218.415,
Florida Statutes. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of compliance and the
results of that testing, and to provide an opinion on compliance with the aforementioned Statute. That report
is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Sections 218.39 and 218.415, Florida Statutes in
considering Charlotte County Airport Authority's compliance with Section 218.415, Florida Statutes.
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated January 22, 2020,
on our consideration of the Authority's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contract and grant agreements and other matters. The
purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial
reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards in considering the Authority's internal control over financial reporting and
compliance.
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TUSCAN & COMPANY, P.A.
Fort Myers, Florida
January 22, 2020

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS
(MD&A)
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (MD&A)
The following management discussion and analysis of the Charlotte County Airport Authority’s
financial performance provides an overview of the financial activities of the Airport for the fiscal
year ended September 30, 2019. The information contained in this discussion should be
considered in conjunction with the financial results, footnotes, and supplemental information in
the Airport’s basic financial statements.

Mission Statement
The Charlotte County Airport Authority (the “Airport”) is an independent special district pursuant
to the State constitution and the Laws of Florida, particularly Chapter 98-508 (codification) as
amended by Laws of Florida, Chapter 2011-263, Section 4 and by Chapter 2013-254. It is not a
component unit of Charlotte County. The Airport has jurisdiction, control, supervision and
management of the Airport and surrounding land within its legal boundaries, governed by a five
(5) member elected Board of Commissioners. The Airport is self-supporting, generating its
revenues from aviation and non-aviation leases, concessions, airline revenues and fuel sales. The
Airport facility is located in Charlotte County, Florida and was officially named the Punta Gorda
Airport in 2010.
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The Airport strives to ensure the safety and security of the traveling public. It is dedicated to
maintaining a superior and reliable level of Airport services for local residents and tourists and is
committed to supporting the development of air linkages and facilities, which are integral parts of
its future economic growth as well as that of Southwest Florida.
Punta Gorda Airport is the only public use/public owned facility serving both the general aviation
and commercial aviation needs of the community. The Airport is a hub for Allegiant Airlines, a
low-cost carrier that offers direct flights to over 40 destinations. The Airport is open 24 hours a
day, 7 days a week and serves as a base airport for general aviation aircraft owners and operators
in the surrounding area. The Punta Gorda Airport boasts a strong personal and recreational flying
community.
The Airport occupies approximately 1800 acres of land east of I-75, south of US 17, and
approximately two miles south of the Peace River. It’s the highest elevation in Charlotte County,
at 25 feet above sea level. The Airport has within its boundaries a Foreign Trade Zone and three
runways accommodating private and commercial aircraft.
The Airport plays an important role in the enhancement of community services as well. The
Airport is the staging area for the First In Team for disasters and serves the U.S. Forestry Service
as a temporary fire tanker base. The Airport serves as a base of operation for the Charlotte County
Sheriff’s Office and Charlotte County Mosquito Control. The Airport is also home to an active
division of the Civil Air Patrol. The Airport began offering commercial airline passenger service
in 2007.
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GASB 34
The Annual Financial Statement summarizes the activity of all the Airport’s funds. The statements
have changed in format as a result of implementing Governmental Accounting Standards Board
GASB 34 for the year ended September 30, 2004, the year implementation was required. The
discussion on the implications of GASB 34 can be extensive. For the purposes of this report, a
brief overview is included herein.
In June, 1999, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) - which sets accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (Financial reporting rules) for all
state and local governments - established a new framework for the financial reports of state and
local governments. The new framework or financial reporting model represents the biggest single
change in the history of governmental accounting. GASB 34, known as Statement No. 34: Basic
Financial Statements - and Management’s Discussion and Analysis - for State and Local
Governments, represent a fundamental revision of the current financial reporting model, which has
been in place since 1979.
The GASB 34 model includes new features, such as government-wide financial reporting,
narrative overview, analysis (management’s discussion and analysis - MD&A) and infrastructure
reporting.
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Overview of the Financial Statements

The Airport is structured as an enterprise fund. The Airport’s basic financial statements are
prepared on the accrual basis in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America promulgated by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board
(GASB). Therefore, revenues are recognized when earned, not when received. Expenses are
recognized when incurred, not when they are paid. Capital assets are capitalized and (except for
land and construction in progress) are depreciated over their useful lives. Refer to the notes of the
basic financial statements for a summary of the Airport’s significant accounting policies.
Following this Management Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) are the basic financial
statements and supplemental schedules of the Airport. This information, taken collectively, is
designed to provide readers with an understanding of the Airport’s finances.

ii

The Statement of Net Position presents information on all the Airport’s assets, deferred
outflows/inflows, and liabilities, with the difference between the two reported as net position.
Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of the Airport’s
financial position. Below is a comparative of the components of the Airport’s net position.

COMPARATIVE NET POSITION
$70,000,000
$60,000,000
$50,000,000
9/30/18
9/30/19

$40,000,000
$30,000,000
$20,000,000
$10,000,000
$-
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Net Invest in cap assets

Net position - unrestricted

NET POSITION
Net Invest in cap assets
Net position - unrestricted

$

9/30/18
56,377,678
9,681,981

9/30/19
$ 61,709,601
12,115,569

Increase
(Decrease)
$ 5,331,923
2,433,588

Total Net position

$

66,059,659

$ 73,825,170

$ 7,765,511
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% Inc
(Dec)
9.5%
25%
11.8%

Operating Revenues
The following chart shows major operating revenue sources and the percentage of operating
revenue for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2019.

OPERATING REVENUES BY CATEGORY
YEAR ENDED 9/30/2019
Other Revenue, 49,262 ,
0.3%

Sales - Jet fuel,
$2,247,080 , 14.6%
Sales - Avgas fuel,
782,248 , 5.1%
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Sales - Jet fuel
Sales - Avgas fuel

Industrial park rentals,
1,209,715 , 7.9%
Hangar rentals
& tiedowns,
766,498 , 5.0%

Airline Related Revenue,
10,284,754 , 67.0%

Industrial park rentals
Hangar rentals & tiedowns
Concession, vending & Fees
Airline Related Revenue
Other Revenue

Concession, vending
& Fees, 19,424 ,
0.1%
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In comparison with the previous fiscal year ending September 30, 2018

OPERATING REVENUES BY CATEGORY
YEAR ENDED 9/30/2018

Other Revenue, 130,820 ,
0.9%
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Sales - Jet fuel, $2,237,184
, 15.4%

Sales - Avgas fuel,
725,737 , 5.0%

Sales - Jet fuel
Sales - Avgas fuel
Industrial park rentals

Industrial park rentals,
1,094,035 , 7.5%

Hangar rentals &
tiedowns,
777,209 , 5.3%

Airline Related Revenue,
9,559,165 , 65.7%

Concession,
vending & Fees,
19,475 , 0.1%

v

Hangar rentals & tiedowns
Concession, vending & Fees
Airline Related Revenue
Other Revenue

The following schedule shows net operating income (loss) before Depreciation for the past five
fiscal years ending September 30, 2019:

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE
DEPRECIATION
$4,500,000.00

$4,000,000.00

$3,500,000.00

$3,000,000.00

$2,500,000.00

$2,000,000.00

$1,500,000.00

$1,000,000.00
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$500,000.00

$2015

2016

2015
2016
2017
2018
2019

2017

$
$
$
$
$

2018

2,045,892.00
2,595,302.00
2,681,745.00
3,966,017.00
4,058,794.00
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2019

The Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position presents information
showing how the Airport’s net position changed during the most recent year. All changes in net
assets are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of
the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses for some items are reported in this
Statement that will result in cash flows in future periods.
The Statement of Cash Flows relates to the flow of cash and cash equivalents. Consequently,
only transactions that affect the Airport’s cash accounts are recorded in this statement. The
reconciliation is provided at the bottom of the Statement of Cash Flows to assist in the
understanding of the difference between cash flows from operating activities and operating
income.
Budgetary Highlights
September 30, 2019
For the years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, the Airport completed its required audit in a
timely manner.
Original Budget to Actual Variance
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Total operating revenues were $15,358,981, a variance of $571,581 over the original budgeted
amount of $14,787,400. This was largely due to an increase in Airline Related Revenue along
with an increase in projected fuel sales and an increase in projected lease income.
Total operating expenses were $11,300,187, which was $480,677 more than the original budgeted
amount of $10,819,510.
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CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
GRAPH - COMPARATIVE SUMMARY OF OPERATIONS
Years Ended September 30, 2015 - 2019
COMPARATIVE OPERATING ACTIVITIES
$18,000,000
$16,000,000
$14,000,000
$12,000,000
$10,000,000
$8,000,000
$6,000,000
$4,000,000
$2,000,000
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2015

$(2,000,000)

Operating
Revenue
Fiscal
Year
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019

$ 7,848,227
$ 8,580,192
$ 9,787,656
$ 12,032,255
$ 14,543,625
$ 15,358,981

2016

2017

2018

Non-Cash

Operating
Expenses

Operating Inc
(Loss)

Depreciation

Before Depr

Before Depr

Expense

$ 6,626,303
$ 6,534,300
$ 7,192,354
$ 9,350,480
$ 10,577,608
$ 11,300,187

$
$
$
$
$
$

1,221,924
2,045,892
2,595,302
2,681,745
3,966,017
4,058,794
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$
$
$
$
$
$

2,829,426
2,967,210
3,104,269
3,712,009
3,341,419
3,364,989

2019

Operating
Inc (Loss)
$ (1,607,502)
$
(921,318)
$
(508,967)
$ (1,030,264)
$
624,598
$
693,805

Non-Capital Assets
The Airport’s non-capital assets as of September 30, 2019, and 2018 amounted to
$16,941,226 and $12,472,935 respectively. This change is largely due to an increase in Cash and
Cash Equivalents of $4,185,549 along with an increase in Grants Receivable of $272,618.

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
GRAPH - COMPARATIVE SUMMARY OF NON-CAPITAL
ASSETS
September 30, 2018 & 2019
COMPARATIVE NON-CAPITAL ASSETS
$18,000,000
$16,000,000
$14,000,000
$12,000,000
$10,000,000
$8,000,000
$6,000,000
$4,000,000
$2,000,000
$-
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9/30/18

Cash & cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Grants receivables
Other receivables
Inventories
Prepaid expenses
Total Non-Capital Assets

$

11,267,898

$

222,360
291,171
522,683
49,267
119,556
12,472,935

9/30/19
$

15,453,447

$

109,332
563,789
572,804
77,829
164,025
16,941,226
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Inc(Dec)

9/30/18
9/30/19

% Inc(Dec)

$

4,185,549

37%

$

(113,028)
272,618
50,121
28,562
44,469
4,468,291

-51%
94%
10%
58%
37%
36%

Capital Assets
The Airport’s net capital assets as of September 30, 2019, and 2018 amounted to $64,368,593 and
$59,615,334, respectively. This difference of $4,753,259 accounts for a $10,237,885 increase in
depreciable capital assets, a $2,119,637 decrease in construction in process, and an increase in
accumulated depreciation of $3,364,989. Additional information on the Airport’s capital asset
activity can be found in Note E of the Financial Statements.
The Airport primarily acquires its capital assets with proceeds from federal and state grants along
with Airport matching funds and more recently with the assistance of PFC’s. Below is the
comparative chart of capital assets as of September 30, 2018 and 2019:
CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
GRAPH-COMPARATIVE CAPITAL ASSETS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2018 & 2019

$120,000,000
$100,000,000
$80,000,000
$60,000,000
$40,000,000
$20,000,000
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9/30/18
9/30/19

$Land
$(20,000,000)

Construction in Depreciable
progress
capital assets

Accumulated
depreciation

$(40,000,000)
$(60,000,000)

9/30/18
Land
$
5,533,331
Construction in progress
6,585,071
Depreciable capital assets
91,558,832
Accumulated depreciation
(44,061,900)
Total Capital Assets - Net $ 59,615,334

9/30/19
$
5,533,331
4,465,434
101,796,717
(47,426,889)
$ 64,368,593
x

Increase
(Decrease)
$
(2,119,637)
10,237,885
(3,364,989)
$ 4,753,259

% Inc
(Dec)
0.0%
-32.2%
11.2%
7.6%
8.0%

Current Liabilities
As of September 30, 2019, the Airport’s current liabilities totaled $3,345,370 compared to
$1,828,254 in the previous fiscal year.
COMPARATIVE CURRENT LIABILITIES

$2,500,000
$2,000,000
$1,500,000
9/30/18
9/30/19

$1,000,000
$500,000
$-

DRAFT

A/P & accrued Rental & fuel
expenses
advances

CURRENT
LIABILITIES
A/P & accrued expenses
Rental & fuel advances
Deferred revenue
Client deposits
State Infrastructure Loan
(SIB)

9/30/18
$

Subtotal

$

Deferred
revenue

Client deposits

State
Infrastructure
Loan (SIB)

9/30/19

INC(DEC)

%
INC(DEC)
1,493,488 179%
23,474 64%
(33,571) -17%
17,811 10%
15,914 3%

835,545
36,702
192,766
184,577
578,664

$

2,329,033
60,176
159,195
202,388
594,578

$

1,828,254

$

3,345,370

1,517,116

83%

Long-Term Liabilities
As of September 30, 2019, the Airport’s long-term liabilities totaled $5,397,081 compared to
$5,381,838 in the previous fiscal year. Differences include a 22% decrease in the SIB loan amount
and a 24% increase in Net Pension Liability
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COMPARATIVE LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

$3,500,000
$3,000,000
9/30/2018

$2,500,000
$2,000,000

9/30/2019

$1,500,000
$1,000,000
$500,000
$Compensated
absences

Net OPEB
Obligation

State
infrastructure
bank loan

Net Pension
Liability
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LONG-TERM
LIABILITIES
Compensated absences
Net OPEB Obligation
State infrastructure bank
loan
Net Pension Liability

9/30/2018

9/30/2019

INC(DEC)

$
$
$

100,448
38,122
2,658,992

$ 116,004
$
24,783
$ 2,064,414

$
$
$

15,556
(13,339)
(594,578)

%
INC(DEC)
15%
-35%
-22%

$

2,584,276

$ 3,191,880

$

607,604

24%

Subtotal

$

5,381,838

$ 5,397,081

$

15,243

0.3%

xii

Financial Highlights
•

In FY 2019, net position increased by $7,765,511, substantially due to an increase in total
Capital Assets and an increase in Net-Operating and Non-Operating Income.

•

Total operating revenues were $15,358,981, an increase of $815,356 compared to FY 2018.
This increase was mostly due to a $725,589 increase in airline related revenues

•

Total operating expenses were $11,300,187, an increase of $722,579 in comparison to FY
2018. This increase is largely due to the required GASB 68 entry for FRS retirement
expense in the amount of $537,455
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The Year 2019 in Review
The Board and its staff have made strides in the current fiscal year in an effort to promote the
Airport. The Punta Gorda Airport is one of the most modern airports in Southwest Florida and
continues to improve. In 2019 PGD won a bronze award for Creativity in Public relations for its
Destination Spotlights campaign. PGD’s Fixed Base Operator (FBO) was recognized by the
National Air Transportation Association for Best Practices in Aircraft Fueling, Service & Ground
Handling.
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Allegiant Air provides commercial flight service with flights to many Northeast, Midwest, and
Southeast U.S. destinations. In FY 2019, they added nine new destinations and now provide
service to over 45 cities to and from Punta Gorda.

xiv
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Passenger Comparisons for Fiscal Years 2018 & 2019
Fiscal year 2019 recorded a total passenger count of 1,619,532 versus the previous fiscal year of
1,541,132 passengers, an increase of 5.1%. The Authority anticipates a similar increase in
passenger numbers in 2020
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Charlotte County Airport Authority
Total Enplanements FY 2018 vs 2019
120000
100000
80000
2018
2019

60000
40000
20000
0

2018
October
November
December
January
February
March
April
May
June
July
August
September
Totals

2019
October
November
December
January
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Enplaned
Total
55,034
55,140
61,718
60,546
67,335
94,795
80,621
60,777
67,469
73,721
57,106
36,473

770,735

Enplaned
Total
61,323
64,128
62,617
65,983

Deplaned
Total
59,079
54,957
66,670
62,355
72,741
98,152
67,250
57,273
68,391
71,705
54,229
37,595

770,397

Deplaned
Total
67,763
63,993
68,806
63,332

Airline
Totals
114,113
110,097
128,388
122,901
140,076
192,947
147,871
118,050
135,860
145,426
111,335
74,068

1,541,132

Airline
Totals
129,086
128,121
131,423
129,315

xvi

February
March
April
May
June
July
August
September
Totals

71,628
110,152
94,277
63,269
67,471
74,260
50,549
27,612
813,269

76,490
111,174
78,616
59,286
67,127
72,528
47,511
29,457
806,083

148,118
221,326
172,893
122,555
134,598
146,788
98,060
57,069
1,619,352

Many things are happening at the Punta Gorda Airport:
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PGD Celebrates its 75th Anniversary!
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xviii

Aviation Appreciation Day 2019
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FLYPGD TEAM FOR UNITED WAY DAY OF
CARING 201

DRAFT

xx

Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budget
The Airport is once again looking forward to an exciting year with the continuation of the
commercial airline passenger services. The Fiscal Year 2019 Budget was based on the airline
schedule and the related revenues and expenses the airport will collect and incur.
Future Outlook
The Punta Gorda Airport is one of the fastest growing airports in the Country. Increasing numbers
of passengers, more destinations and low fares have resulted from the financial model the Airport
has chosen to follow; ultra-low-cost airport for an ultra-low-cost airline.
The growth in passengers year-over-year from 2017 to 2018 was nearly 25%. The growth in
passengers year-over-year from 2018 to 2019 was 5.1% While the growth rate has tapered off, we
feel it will continue to exceed the average national growth rate for the next few years with the
opening of the Sunseeker Resort.
The Airport made substantial progress in 2019, including work on the Airport’s Master Plan
Update and air carrier ramp expansion adjacent to the terminal, along with the final phase of
hydraulic hangar door replacements.
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For 2019 and 2020, the Airport’s Capital Improvement Program includes airfield pavement
rehabilitation, reconstruction and extension projects, a new general aviation center located at the
north side of the airport, and mitigation and filling of wetlands.
The Airport is a self-supporting authority that depends on concessions, fuel sale revenues, along
with revenues from rentals of hangars, buildings and land leases to operate the airport. The Airport
hosts approximately 400 based aircraft and has an active general aviation community. Airport
property is home to aviation and non-aviation businesses currently providing employment to
approximately 475 employees.
The Punta Gorda Airport is one of largest generators of economic activity in Charlotte County and
is responsible for more than $1.275 billion in total business sales as measured by the FDOT’s 2018
Statewide Aviation Economic Impact Study. With multiplier impacts, the study attributed 12,392
in total employment and nearly $419 million in labor income to Punta Gorda Airport.
Management will continue to develop strategic partnerships and attract new businesses with the
airport’s great access to air transportation, easy access to Interstate 75 and nearby rail facilities.

Request for Information
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Airport’s finances for all
those with an interest in its finances. Questions concerning any of the information should be
addressed to James W. Parish, Executive Director, Charlotte County Airport Authority, 28000 A1 Airport Road, Punta Gorda, Florida 33982.
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CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION
September 30, 2019 and 2018
2019

2018

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Grant receivables
Other receivables
Inventories
Prepaid expenses

$

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS
RESTRICTED ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents - tenant deposits
Cash and cash equivalents - PFC's

14,100,769
109,332
563,789
572,804
77,829
164,025

$ 11,267,898
222,360
291,171
522,683
49,267
119,556

15,588,548

12,472,935
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202,388
1,352,678

184,577
-

1,555,066

184,577

5,533,331
4,465,434

5,533,331
6,585,071

51,386,723
1,727,490
42,519,813
6,095,391
67,300
(47,426,889)

46,688,625
202,141
39,016,070
5,620,696
31,300
(44,061,900)

CAPITAL ASSETS, NET

64,368,593

59,615,334

TOTAL ASSETS

81,512,207

72,272,846

1,335,189

1,300,253

TOTAL RESTRICTED ASSETS

CAPITAL ASSETS
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land
Construction in progress

Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings
Airport master plan
Capital improvements
Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Donated surplus equipment
Less: accumulated depreciation

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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2019

2018

LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Rental and fuel advances
Unearned revenue
Tenant deposits
State Infrastructure Bank (SIB) loan, current portion

$

2,329,033
60,176
159,195
202,388
594,578

$

835,545
36,702
192,766
184,577
578,664

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES

3,345,370

1,828,254

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
State Infrastructure Bank (SIB) loan,
net of current portion
Estimated liability for compensated absences
Net OPEB liability
Net pension liability
TOTAL LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

2,064,414
116,004
24,783
3,191,880
5,397,081

2,658,992
100,448
38,122
2,584,276
5,381,838

TOTAL LIABILITIES

8,742,451

7,210,092

279,775

303,348

61,709,601
12,115,569
73,825,170

56,377,678
9,681,981
$ 66,059,659
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DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets
Unrestricted
TOTAL NET POSITION

$

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES
AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
Years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018
2019
OPERATING REVENUES
Fuel and oil sales
Industrial and commercial park rentals
Hangar rentals and tie downs
General-aviation-related concession, vending and fees
Airline-related revenues:
Car rentals
Parking
Other, including LEO and concessions
Other operating revenues

$

TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES
OPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries and wages
Payroll taxes and retirement
Personnel expenses
Cost of fuel and oil sales
Advertising
Marketing and promotional
Bank charges and credit card fees
Dues and subscriptions
Insurance
Legal and professional
Licenses and permits
Mowing
Postage
Repairs and maintenance and equipment fuel
Computer maintenance and expense
Supplies (including vending purchases)
Telephone and communications
Travel and auto allowance
Utilities
Airline expenses
Security
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES
BEFORE DEPRECIATION
NET OPERATING INCOME
BEFORE DEPRECIATION
Less: Depreciation

3,029,328
1,209,715
766,498
19,424

2018
$

5,835,310
3,214,062
1,235,382
49,262

5,421,567
3,069,359
1,068,239
130,820

15,358,981

14,543,625

3,224,665
1,177,628
832,976
1,651,882
2,691
195,518
42,372
47,019
333,877
203,509
28,192
23,400
5,064
591,063
167,253
233,115
43,914
47,452
405,989
2,007,406
35,202

2,980,168
865,443
766,025
1,728,593
632
141,923
46,188
43,378
315,380
162,522
22,864
13,609
8,513
530,521
173,024
274,609
43,274
36,987
408,560
1,968,690
46,705

11,300,187

10,577,608

4,058,794
(3,364,989)

3,966,017
(3,341,419)
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OPERATING REVENUE (LOSS)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

$

2,962,921
1,094,035
777,209
19,475

693,805

$

624,598
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2019
OPERATING REVENUE (LOSS)
from previous page

$

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
PFC's
CFC's
Interest on investments
Miscellaneous revenue (expense)
Interest expense
Gain (loss) on disposition of capital assets
Insurance premium refund
Post retirement benefit accrual (expense)
Bank fees
Bad debt expense

693,805

2018
$

624,598

3,172,184
509,061
145,350
1,255,897
(89,036)
2,850
18,144
(5,222)
(6,730)
(1,000)

1,687,426
37,166
184,981
(104,523)
28,963
22,357
(6,449)
(3,209)
(1,248)

NET NON-OPERATING INCOME (EXPENSES)

5,001,498

1,845,464

GAIN (LOSS) BEFORE CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS

5,695,303

2,470,062

2,070,208

4,071,941

TOTAL CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS

2,070,208

4,071,941

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN NET POSITION

7,765,511

6,542,003

66,059,659

59,517,656

DRAFT

CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS
Capital grants and contributions

NET POSITION - Beginning
NET POSITION - End of the year

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

$

73,825,170

$

66,059,659

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash received from customers
Cash received (paid) from customer deposits
Other income received
Cash payments for goods and services
Cash payments to employees
NET CASH PROVIDED BY
(USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES
CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND
RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Contributions from government agencies
Acquisition and construction of capital assets
Principal payments (SIB)
Interest expense on debt (SIB)
Bank fees
Proceeds from disposition of capital assets

2019

2018

$ 15,410,791
17,811
3,522,136
(4,429,820)
(4,688,897)

$ 14,432,285
5,992
1,894,764
(5,630,543)
(4,343,821)

9,832,021

6,358,677

-

-

DRAFT

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) CAPITAL
AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
CASH FLOWS FROM
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest earned on investments

1,797,590
(6,897,171)
(578,664)
(89,036)
(6,730)
-

4,950,174
(5,444,952)
(563,177)
(104,523)
(3,209)
45,512

(5,774,011)

(1,120,175)

145,350

37,166

NET CASH PROVIDED BY
(USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES

145,350

37,166

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

4,203,360

5,275,668

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - BEGINNING

11,452,475

6,176,807

$ 15,655,835

$ 11,452,475

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - ENDING

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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2019

2018

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING REVENUE (LOSS) TO
NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
OPERATING REVENUE (LOSS)

$

693,805

$

624,598

Adjustments to reconcile operating revenue (loss) to net
cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation

3,364,989

Bad debt expense

(1,000)

Plus non-cash CIP determined non-capital

3,341,419
(1,248)

214,923

-

Miscellaneous non-operating net revenue

3,522,136

1,894,764

(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable

113,028

92,374

(Increase) decrease in other receivables

(50,121)

(207,749)

(Increase) decrease in inventories

(28,562)

32,601

(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses

(44,469)

111,219

DRAFT

Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued expenses
Increase (decrease) in rental and fuel advances
Increase (decrease) in unearned revenue

1,493,488

191,610

23,474

6,022

(33,571)

(740)

Increase (decrease) in tenant deposits

17,811

5,992

Increase (decrease) in estimated liability
for compensated
absences
- non cash
Increase
in estimated
liability

15,556

10,311

530,534

257,504

TOTAL ADJUSTMENTS

9,138,216

5,734,079

NET CASH PROVIDED BY
(USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES

$ 9,832,021

$ 6,358,677

Net increase (decrease) in pension and OPEB expense - non cash

Non-Cash Items:
Donated surplus equipment
Donated building - terminated land lease

$
36,000
$ 1,400,000

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2019 and 2018
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NOTE A - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES
Organization and nature of activities
Charlotte County Airport Authority (the "Authority") was authorized under Laws of
Florida, Chapter 65-1357 and Florida Statute, Chapter 332, in 1965. This enabling
act has been amended by subsequent acts of the State of Florida legislature. Two
significant amendments directly affected the operations of the Authority. Laws of
Florida, Chapter 91-399 removed the ability of the Authority to levy ad valorem
taxes. The other, Laws of Florida, Chapter 91-361 had the potential of abolishing
the Authority and transferring its assets and liabilities to Charlotte County. However,
the Charlotte County Board of Commissioners voted on November 12, 1991 to
allow the Authority to remain as an independent elected Authority. Laws of Florida,
Chapter 98-508 codified, reenacted, amended and repealed its prior enabling acts
including a change to its official name to become the Charlotte County Airport
Authority. The Authority was originally known as the Charlotte County
Development Authority. Laws of Florida, Chapter 98-508 (codification) was
amended by Laws of Florida, Chapter 2004-405 to eliminate certain obsolete
requirements and modernize certain other provisions. During July 2010, the
Authority approved a name change of the airport facility (not the Authority itself) to
Punta Gorda Airport. Effective on June 21, 2011, the Authority amended Chapter
98-508, Laws of Florida, via Chapter 2011-263, Laws of Florida, by expanding the
purpose of the Authority to include any airports within the boundaries of Charlotte
County and all facilities, real estate and commerce parks within the Authority's
boundaries. It also revised certain technical definitions and requirements. Chapter
2013-254, Laws of Florida, clarified the manner in which Authority Board Members
are elected. The Authority is governed by an elected five (5) member elected Board
of Commissioners.

DRAFT

Reporting entity
The Charlotte County Airport Authority is financially independent of all other units of
government. It is responsible for financing its own activities and the payment of its
own debt. The Authority's Board members are elected by the voters of Charlotte
County to serve staggered four (4) year terms. The Board has the responsibility to
employ management that is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the
Authority. The Board has absolute authority over all funds included in the entity.
The Charlotte County Airport Authority is not a component unit of any other
governmental unit.

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2019 and 2018
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NOTE A - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES, CONTINUED

Reporting entity, continued
The Authority has adopted Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement
Number 14, "Financial Reporting Entity" (GASB 14), as amended by GASB
Statement Number 39, "Determining Whether Certain Organizations Are Component
Units" and GASB Statement Number 61, "The Financial Reporting Entity: Omnibus An Amendment of GASB Statements No. 14 and No. 34". These Statements
require the financial statements of the Authority (the primary government) to include
its component units, if any. Component units are legally separate agencies for which
the primary government is financially accountable for organizations whose exclusion
would cause the financial statements to be misleading because of the nature and
significance of their relationship with the primary government. Financial accountability
is determined by the primary government's ability to appoint the voting majority of the
entity's Board, impose its will on the Organization, and the existence of a financial
benefit/burden relationship or fiscal dependency. Based on this criteria, there are no
component units included or required to be included in the Authority's financial
statements.

DRAFT

The Charlotte County Airport Authority adheres to the requirements of Governmental
Accounting Standards Board Statement Number 33 "Accounting and Financial
Reporting for Non-Exchange Transactions." As such, capital grant revenue is
recorded as non-operating revenue and is reflected on the Statements of Revenue,
Expenses and Changes in Net Position. Prior to implementation of this Statement,
these revenues were required to be recorded directly to equity as part of contributed
capital and, as such, had no effect on the Statements of Revenues, Expenses and
Changes in Net Position.
Accordingly, the Authority recorded non-operating revenues as follows: capital grants
totaling $2,070,208 and $4,071,941 for the years ended September 30, 2019
and 2018, respectively.
The following is a summary of the significant accounting polices used in the
preparation of these financial statements:
The Authority adheres to the requirements of Governmental Accounting Standards
Board Statement Number 34, "Basic Financial Statement and Management's
Discussion and Analysis for State and Local Governments" (GASB 34).

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2019 and 2018
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NOTE A - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES, CONTINUED

The government-wide financial statements along with the notes to the financial
statements and the RSI, as noted below comprise the basic financial statements.
The basic financial statements of the Authority are comprised of the following:
- Government-wide financial statements
- Notes to the financial statements
- Required supplementary information other than MD&A
Government-wide financial statements
The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the Statement of Net Position and the
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position) report information
on all of the activities of the Authority and do not emphasize fund types. These
business-type activities comprise the primary government. Business-type activities
rely on user fees and charges to support its activities rather than taxes and
intergovernmental revenues. The purpose of the government-wide financial
statements is to allow the user to be able to determine if the Authority is in a better or
worse financial position than the prior year.

DRAFT

Government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis of
accounting, revenues, expenses, gains, losses, assets, and liabilities resulting from
exchange and exchange-like transactions are recognized when the exchange takes
place. Revenues, expenses, gains, losses, assets, and liabilities resulting from
nonexchange transactions are recognized in accordance with the requirements of
GASB Statement Number 33, "Accounting and Financial Reporting for
Nonexchange Transactions".
Amounts paid to acquire capital assets are capitalized as assets in the
government-wide financial statements, rather than reported as expenditures.
Proceeds of long-term debt are recorded as liabilities in the government-wide
financial statements, rather than as other financing sources. Amounts paid to reduce
long-term indebtedness of the reporting government are reported as a reduction of
the related liability in the government-wide financial statements, rather than as
expenditures.

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2019 and 2018
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NOTE A - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES, CONTINUED

Government-wide financial statements, continued
The Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Net Position demonstrates
the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function are offset by program
revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific
function or segment. Program revenues include: 1) charges to customers or applicants
who purchase, use or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a
given function and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the
operational or capital improvements of a particular function.
Program revenues are considered to be revenues generated by such functions as
airline revenue, fuel and oil sales, facility rentals and leases, and concessions.

DRAFT

Budgetary information

As required, the Authority uses only one fund to account for its financial activities.
As such, it is considered a major fund. The Authority has elected to report budgetary
comparison of its major fund as required supplementary information (RSI).
Fund accounting
The Authority's financial practices are based upon fund accounting concepts. A fund
is defined as a fiscal and accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accounts
recording cash and other financial resources, together with all related liabilities and
fund equity balances and changes therein.
The accompanying financial statements are classified as a proprietary fund type enterprise fund. This fund accounts for all the revenues and cost of services provided
by the Authority.

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2019 and 2018
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NOTE A - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES, CONTINUED
Business-type activities - proprietary fund type
Enterprise Fund - An enterprise fund is used to account for operations (1) that are
financed and operated in a manner similar to private business enterprises where the
intent of the governing body is that the costs (expenses, including depreciation) of
providing goods or services to the general public on a continuing basis be financed or
recovered primarily through user charges; or (2) where the Authority has decided
that periodic determination of revenues earned, expenses incurred, and/or net income
is appropriate for capital maintenance, public policy, management control,
accountability, or other purposes.

DRAFT

Measurement focus

Proprietary funds are accounted for on a flow of economic resources measurement
focus. With this measurement focus, assets and liabilities associated with the
operation of these funds are included on the Statements of Net Position. Fund equity
is segregated into net investment in capital assets and retained earnings components.
Proprietary fund-type operating statements present increases (i.e. revenues) and
decreases (i.e. expenses) in total net position.
When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the
Authority's policy to use restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as they
are needed.
Basis of accounting
The proprietary fund type is presented on the accrual basis of accounting. Under the
accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recorded in the period earned and expenses
are recorded in the period the liability is incurred.

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2019 and 2018
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NOTE A - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES, CONTINUED
Budgetary process
The Authority operates under a flexible budget for control purposes. The budget and
amendments, if any, are approved by the Board of Commissioners. The budget is
prepared on a Non-GAAP accrual basis, whereby capital expenditures and debt
principal payments are budgeted as operating expenses.
The annual budget serves as the legal authorization for expenditures. Expenditures
cannot legally exceed the total amount budgeted. All budget amendments, which
change the legally adopted total appropriation, are approved by the Board.

DRAFT

The Authority follows these procedures in establishing budgetary data.
1. During the summer of each year, management submits to the Board of
Commissioners a proposed operating budget for the fiscal year commencing on
October 1. The operating budget includes proposed expenditures and the means
of financing them.
2. Public hearings are conducted to obtain citizen comments.
3. The budget is adopted by approval of the Board of Commissioners.
4. Budget amounts, as shown in these financial statements, are as originally adopted
or as amended by the Board of Commissioners.
5. The budget is adopted on a Non-GAAP basis as reflected in the supplementary
information and as noted above.
6. The level of control for appropriations is exercised at the fund level.
7. Appropriations lapse at year-end.
The Board of Commissioners approved budget amendments during the fiscal year
ended September 30, 2019. The budget amendments decreased total budgeted
revenues (operating and non-operating) by $18,351,434 and decreased total
budgeted expenses (operating and non-operating) by $18,351,434.
Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, the Authority considers all highly
liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less, when purchased, to be a
cash equivalent, including both restricted and unrestricted cash, in accordance with
Authority policy.

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2019 and 2018
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NOTE A - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES, CONTINUED
Accounts receivable
Receivables include fuel sales and rental/lease activities from operations by the
Authority. The Authority places customers that have accounts over 90 days past due
on a cash basis and negotiates payment and/or takes legal action for the past due
amounts. The accounts receivable are recorded net of the estimated allowance for
doubtful accounts.
Grants and contracts receivable
Grants and contracts receivable consist of receivables from expenditure
reimbursements filed with State and/or Federal governments. No allowance for
doubtful accounts has been provided, as management believes the balances to be
fully collectible.

DRAFT

Inventories

Inventories consist of fuel and oil held for resale at year end. The inventories are
valued at cost, which approximates market. The method used to determine the value
of the inventory is the FIFO (first in-first out) method.
Capital assets and depreciation
All capital assets acquired by proprietary funds are reported in those funds at
historical cost or estimated historical cost, if actual historical cost is not available.
Donated assets are reported at estimated fair market value at the time received.
Substantially, all infrastructure type capital assets consisting of certain improvements
such as roads, curbs, gutters, drainage systems and lighting systems have been
capitalized.
The Authority follows a policy which calls for capitalization of all capital assets that
have a cost or donated value of $5,000 or more and have a useful life in excess of
one year.
Maintenance, repairs and minor renovations are not capitalized. The acquisition of
land and construction projects utilizing resources received from Federal and State
agencies are capitalized when the related expenditure is incurred.
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CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2019 and 2018

NOTE A - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES, CONTINUED
Capital assets and depreciation, continued
For the year ended September 30, 2019, $0 debt-related interest cost was
capitalized as part of the cost of construction. For the year ended September 30,
2018, debt related interest cost of $0 was capitalized as part of the cost of
construction.
Depreciable capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the
following estimated useful lives:
Asset

Years

DRAFT

Buildings
Airport Master Plan
Capital Improvements
Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment
Donated Surplus Equipment

10-40
5
3-20
3-20
5-10

Restricted assets

Restricted assets are cash reserves required by the applicable contracts, tenant
deposits, insurance and/or amounts advanced as part of Federal or State Financial
Awards.
Income taxes
The Authority, as a governmental unit, is exempt from income taxes under current
provisions of the Internal Revenue Code.
Sick leave and other compensated absences
Accumulated unpaid sick pay and other compensated absences are accrued when
incurred in the proprietary fund. The method of accrual is in accordance with
Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement Number 16, "Accounting for
Compensated Absences" (GASB 16). This Standard provides for the measurement
of accrued vacation leave and other compensated absences using the pay or salary
rates in effect at the balance sheet date. It also requires additional amounts to be
accrued for certain salary related payments associated with the payment of
compensated absences such as FICA and retirement benefits.

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2019 and 2018
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NOTE A - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES, CONTINUED
Encumbrances
Encumbrance accounting, under which purchase orders, contracts and other
commitments for the expenditure of monies are recorded in order to reserve that
portion of the applicable appropriation, is not employed by the Authority because at
present it is not necessary in order to assure budgetary control or to facilitate
effective cash planning and control.
Capital contributions and restricted net assets
Grants, entitlements or shared revenues which are externally restricted for capital
acquisition or construction are reported as capital contributions on the Statement of
Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position. Contributed or donated fixed
assets are also recorded as capital contributions. Restricted net assets represent
those portions of fund equity legally restricted by debt covenants for future debt
service or to fund the cost of capital assets.

DRAFT

Leasing activity

The Authority derives a portion of its operating revenues from the rental and leasing
of land, buildings, and aircraft hangars and tie-down space. The lease agreements
have been determined to be operating leases which are cancellable and substantially,
annually renewable. Therefore, leasing arrangements are reported and reflected in
the financial statements as rental income.
Reclassifications
Certain amounts in the financial statements have been reclassified to conform with the
current presentation. These reclassifications had no effect on the results of
operations or fund equity.
Application of FASB Pronouncements to Proprietary Funds
In accordance with GASB Statement No. 20, "Accounting and Financial Reporting
for Proprietary Funds and Other Governmental Entities That Use Proprietary Fund
Accounting", the Authority has elected not to apply those FASB Statements and
Interpretations issued after November 30, 1989.

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2019 and 2018
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NOTE A - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES, CONTINUED
Accounting Pronouncement GASB No. 42
The Authority adheres to Government Accounting Standards Board Statement
Number 42, "Accounting and Financial Reporting for Impairment of Capital Assets
and for Insurance Recoveries" (GASB 42). GASB 42 establishes accounting and
financial reporting standards for impairment of capital assets.
A capital asset is considered impaired when its service utility has declined significantly
and unexpectedly. Governments are required to evaluate prominent events or
changes in circumstances affecting capital assets to determine whether impairment of
a capital asset has occurred. Such events or changes in circumstances that may be
indicative of impairment include evidence of physical damage, enactment or approval
of laws or regulations or other changes in environmental factors, technological
changes or evidence of obsolescence, changes in the manner or duration of a capital
asset, and construction stoppage. A capital asset generally should be considered
impaired if both (a) the decline in service utility of the capital asset is large in
magnitude and (b) the event or change in circumstance is outside the normal life cycle
of the capital asset.

DRAFT

The Authority incurred no capital asset impairment activity for the years ended
September 30, 2019 or 2018.
Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.
Operating and non-operating revenues
Operating revenues result from providing private and commercial airline services, and
also from the rental and leasing of land, buildings, and aircraft hangars and tie-down
space. The Authority considers revenues from fuel and oil sales, industrial and
commercial park rentals, hangar rentals and tiedowns, concession and vending, and
airline (primarily car rentals and parking) as operating revenues. All other revenues
are treated as non-operating revenues.

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2019 and 2018
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NOTE A - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES, CONTINUED
Pensions
In the Statements of Net Position, liabilities are recognized for the Authority's
proportionate share of each pension plan's net pension liability. For purposes of
measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the
fiduciary net position of the Florida Retirement System (FRS) and the Health
Insurance Subsidy (HIS) defined benefit plans and additions to/deductions from
fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported
by the Plans. For this purpose, benefit payments, (including refunds of employees
contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit
terms.

DRAFT

The Authority's retirement plans and related amounts are described in a subsequent
note.
Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources

In addition to assets, the Statements of Net Position report a separate section for
deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred
outflows of resources, represents a consumption of net position that applies to future
periods and so will not be recognized an as outflow of resources
(expense/expenditure) until then. The deferred amount on pensions and OPEB is
reported in the Statements of Net Position. The deferred outflows of resources
related to pensions are discussed in a subsequent note.
In addition to liabilities, the Statements of Net Position report a separate section for
deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred
inflows of resources, represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future
period and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that
time. The deferred amount on pension is reported only in the Statements of Net
Position. A deferred amount on pension and OPEB results from the difference in the
expected and actual amounts of expenditures, earnings, and contributions. This
amount is deferred and amortized over the service life of all employees that are
provided with these benefits through the pension and OPEB plans except earnings
which are amortized over five to seven years.
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CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2019 and 2018

NOTE A - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES, CONTINUED
Subsequent events
Subsequent events have been evaluated through January 22, 2020, which is the date
the basic financial statements were available to be issued.
NOTE B - CASH AND INVESTMENTS
At September 30, 2019 and 2018, cash and cash equivalents were $15,655,835 and
$11,452,475, including cash on hand of $19,118 and $10,837, respectively. The
carrying amount of $15,655,835 at September 30, 2019 was comprised of
unrestricted cash of $14,100,769 and restricted cash of $1,555,066. At September
30, 2018, the carrying amount of $11,452,475 was comprised of unrestricted cash
of $11,267,898 and restricted cash of $184,577.

DRAFT

Deposits

The Authority's deposit policy allows deposits to be held in demand deposits, savings
accounts, certificates of deposit and money market accounts. At September 30,
2019 and 2018, all deposits are held in qualified public depositories pursuant to
Florida Statutes Chapter 280, "Florida Security for Public Deposits Act". The
Authority adheres to the requirements of GASB Statement No. 31, "Accounting and
Financial Reporting for Certain Investments and for External Investment Pools," in
which all investments are reported at fair value. In addition, the Authority abides by
Florida Statute 218.415(17) as its investment policy. All deposits were fully insured
by Federal Depository Insurance or collateralized, in the Authority's name, as
required by Sections 280.07 and 280.08 of the Florida Statutes.
Deposits were as follows at September 30:
Bank
Balance

September 30, 2019
Unrestricted
Depository accounts

$

Restricted
Depository account - tenant deposits
Depository account - PFC's
September 30, 2018
Unrestricted
Depository accounts

14,197,509

Carrying
Amount
$

202,388
1,352,678

14,081,651
202,388
1,352,678

$

15,752,575

$

15,636,717

$

11,322,293

$

11,257,061

$

11,506,870

$

11,441,638

Restricted
Depository accounts - tenant deposits

184,577

184,577
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CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2019 and 2018
NOTE B - CASH AND INVESTMENTS, CONTINUED
Investments

Florida Statutes and the Authority's investment policy authorize investments in direct
obligations of the U.S. Treasury, Federal agencies and instrumentalities, certificates of
deposit, savings accounts with qualified public depositories and the Florida Municipal
Investment Trust Fund. The Authority held no such investments during the years
September 30, 2019 or 2018 or at the respective year ends.
NOTE C - ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Accounts receivable consists of the following at September 30:
Accounts receivable
Less: allowance for doubtful accounts

$

2019
109,332
-

$

2018
222,360
-

Accounts receivable, net

$

109,332

$

222,360

DRAFT

An allowance for doubtful accounts is recorded in the amounts of $0 and
$0 at September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Bad debt expense for the
years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018 was $1,000 and $1,248, respectively.
NOTE D - GRANT RECEIVABLES
Grant receivables consist of the following at September 30:
2019
Federal Awards
U.S. Department of Transportation
Master Plan (AIP 35)
15-33 & Wetland Mitigation (AIP 37)
U.S. Department of Homeland Security
Leo Award Program
State Awards
Department of Transportation (FDOT)
Hangar Repair & Door Replacement (GO 592)
Runaway 15-33 Rehab & Extension (G0Z65)
New GA Terminal Facility (GOZ64)
Master Plan (GOE 19)

$

$

420,599

2018

$

14,291
-

12,445

50,165

127,174
3,571
563,789

225,921

$

794
291,171
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CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2019 and 2018
NOTE E - CAPITAL ASSET ACTIVITY

The following is a summary of changes in capital asset activity for the year ended
September 30, 2019:
Balance
October 1
2018

Additions

Adjustments/
Reclasses

Deletions

Balance
September 30
2019

Capital Assets Not
Being Depreciated:
Land

$ 5,533,331

Construction in Progress

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

5,533,331

6,585,071

4,817,342

-

(6,936,979)

4,465,434

12,118,402

4,817,342

-

(6,936,979)

9,998,765

Total Capital Assets
Not Being Depreciated

DRAFT

Capital Assets

Being Depreciated:
Buildings

46,688,625

3,017,790

-

1,680,308

51,386,723

202,141

-

-

1,525,349

1,727,490

39,016,070

89,111

-

3,414,632

42,519,813

5,620,696

372,928

-

101,767

6,095,391

31,300

36,000

-

-

67,300

91,558,832

3,515,829

-

6,722,056

101,796,717

(16,158,380)

(1,665,517)

-

-

(17,823,897)

(202,140)

(50,845)

-

-

(252,985)

(25,158,398)

(1,082,844)

-

-

(26,241,242)

(2,520,722)

(562,253)

-

-

(3,082,975)

(22,260)

(3,530)

-

-

(25,790)

Total Accum. Depreciation (44,061,900)

(3,364,989)

-

-

(47,426,889)

Airport Master Plan

Capital Improvements

Furniture, Fixtures and
Equipment

Donated Surplus Equip.
Total Capital Assets
Being Depreciated
Less Accumulated
Depreciation:
Buildings
Airport Master Plan
Capital Improvements
Furniture, Fixtures and
Equipment
Donated Surplus Equip.

Capital Assets, Net $ 59,615,334

$

4,968,182

$

-

Related Long Term Debt
Net Investment in Capital Assets

$

(214,923)

64,368,593
(2,658,992)
$ 61,709,601
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The depreciation expense for the years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, was
$3,364,989 and $3,341,419, respectively.
At September 30, 2019 and 2018, the Authority leased to various tenants buildings
with a cost $24,118,539 and $24,118,539 which had accumulated depreciation of
$13,632,481 and $12,713,643 and depreciation expense of $918,838 and $677,243,
respectively, which are included in the totals above.
NOTE F - LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
The following is a summary of the Authority's long-term liabilities for the years ended
September 30:

DRAFT
Accrued

SIB Loan

Balance - Sept. 30, 2017

$

Borrowings/Increase (net)

3,800,833

$

-

Principal retired (net)

Borrowings/Increase (net)
Principal retired/decrease (net)

Net OPEB

Net Pension

Credit

Absences

Liability

Liability

-

$

90,137

$

38,094

$

Total

2,694,318

-

10,311

28

-

-

3,237,656

-

100,448

38,122

2,584,276

-

-

-

-

607,604

-

15,556

(13,339)

-

116,004

24,783

3,191,880

-

-

-

-

(578,664)

Balance - Sept. 30, 2019

Compensated

-

(563,177)

Balance - Sept. 30, 2018

Line of

2,658,992

$

-

6,623,382
10,339

(110,042)

(673,219)
5,960,502
607,604

-

(576,447)
5,991,659

Principal due within
one (1) year
Long Term Portion

(594,578)
$

2,064,414

$

-

$

116,004

$

24,783

$

3,191,880

(594,578)
$

5,397,081
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Long-term debt is comprised of the following at September 30:
2019
Non-current portion of compensated absences. Employees
of the Authority are entitled to paid scheduled (vacation)
leave based on length of service and job classification.
Net OPEB liability - GASB No. 75 actuarially determined
Net pension obligation - FRS pension plan. This amount is
actuarially determined through calculation based upon the
audited financial statements of the Florida FRS Plan at June
30, 2019 and 2018.
Net pension obligation - HIS plan. This amount is actuarially
determined through calculation based upon the audited
financial statements of the Florida FRS Plan at June 30, 2019
and 2018.

$

116,004

$ 100,448

24,783

38,122

2,227,950

1,751,713

DRAFT

The Authority was approved for a State Infrastructure Bank
Loan (SIB) during the year ended September 30, 2012 in the
amount of $5,800,000 (CFDA 20.205) to finance
improvements and expansion of the airport terminal area
(AIP 32 and 33). This loan was made available as of July 1,
2012 and is collateralized by the revenues of the Authority.
The first draw was received in October 2013. Interest
accrues at 2.75%. The loan requires ten (10) annual
principal plus accrued interest payments beginning on
October 1 following the completion of the project. Loan
payments began on October 1, 2015 and continue until
2025.
Total
Less: current portion
Long-term portion

2018

963,930

832,563

2,658,992

3,237,656

5,991,659

5,960,502

(594,578)
$ 5,397,081

(578,664)
$ 5,381,838
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The annual debt service requirements at September 30, 2019, were as follows:
Years Ending
September 30
SIB Loan Payable:
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024

Total
Principal
$

Total SIB Loan Payable
Accrued compensated absences
Net OPEB liability
Net pension liability
Total Long-Term Debt

594,578
610,929
627,729
644,992
180,764

Total
Interest
$

2,658,992
116,004
24,783
3,191,880
$

5,991,659

73,122
56,771
39,971
22,708
4,971

Total
$

197,543
$

197,543

667,700
667,700
667,700
667,700
185,735
2,856,535
116,004
24,783
3,191,880

$

6,189,202

DRAFT

Interest costs of $89,036 were expensed during the year ended September 30,
2019. Interest costs in the amount of $104,523 incurred during the year ended
September 30, 2018 were expensed.
Commitment letter - LOC

Effective April 15, 2016, the Authority signed a Commitment Letter with a financial
institution to establish a $1 million revolving Line of Credit (LOC). The LOC was
available, although the Authority did not activate the LOC. The Authority did not
renew the Commitment Letter upon its maturity on May 31, 2018. The LOC
included a variable interest rate equal to 67% of the 30 day LIBOR rate plus 261
basis points payable monthly. Principal and interest was due in full at maturity. During
the year ended September 30, 2018, no amounts were borrowed on the
LOC.

Other post employment benefits
The Authority provides post retirement health care benefits to eligible employees.
Upon retirement from the Authority and becoming a recipient of monies from the
State of Florida Retirement Trust Fund (FRS), eligible retired employees are qualified
for continued health insurance benefits. Eligible retired employees have their medical
insurance premiums paid by the Authority, but are required to reimburse the
Authority a portion of the premiums paid by the Authority on their behalf. For further
details of these benefits, reference the OPEB Note.
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NOTE G - RETIREMENT PLANS - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN

General Information about the Florida Retirement System
The Florida Retirement System ("FRS") was created in Chapter 121, Florida
Statutes. The FRS was created to provide a defined benefit pension plan ("Pension
Plan") for participating public employees. Substantially, all Authority employees are
participants in the Statewide Florida Retirement System (FRS) under authority of
Article X, Section 14 of the State Constitution and Florida Statutes, Chapters 112
and 121. The FRS was amended in 1998 to add the Deferred Retirement Option
Program ("DROP") under the defined benefit plan and amended in 2000 to provide
an integrated defined contribution plan alternative to the defined benefit plan for FRS
members effective July 1, 2002. This integrated defined contribution pension plan is
the FRS Investment Plan. Chapter 112, Florida Statutes, established the Retiree
Health Insurance Subsidy (HIS) Program, a separate cost-sharing multiple-employer
defined benefit pension plan to assist retired members of any State-administered
retirement system in paying the costs of health insurance.

DRAFT

Essentially all regular employees of the Authority are eligible to enroll as members of
the State-administered FRS. Provisions relating to the FRS are established by
Chapters 121 and 122, Florida Statutes; Chapter 112, Part IV, Florida Statutes;
Chapter 238, Florida Statutes; and Florida Retirement System Rules, Chapter 60S,
Florida Administrative Code; wherein eligibility, contributions, and benefits are
defined and described in detail. Such provisions may be amended at any time by
further action from the Florida Legislature. The FRS is a single retirement system
administered by the Florida Department of Management Services, Division of
Retirement, and consists of two cost-sharing, multiple-employer defined benefit plans
(Pension and HIS Plans) and other nonintegrated programs. A comprehensive
annual financial report of the FRS, which includes its financial statements, required
supplementary information, actuarial report, and other relevant information dated June
30, 2019, is available from the Florida Department of Management Services' Web
site (www.dms.myflorida.com).
The Authority's total pension expense was $822,541, $532,430 and $585,560 for
the years ended September 30, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The Authority's
actual total contributions to the Plan was $285,086 for the year ended September
30, 2019. The Authority contributed 100% of the required contributions.
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NOTE G - RETIREMENT PLANS - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN, CONTINUED

FRS Pension Plan
Plan Description. The FRS Pension Plan ("Plan") is a cost-sharing multipleemployer defined benefit pension plan, with a Deferred Retirement Option Program
(DROP) for eligible employees. The general classes of membership are as follows:

Regular Class - Members of the FRS who do not qualify for membership in the
other classes.
Senior Management Service Class (SMSC) - Members in senior management
level positions.
Special Risk Class - Members who are employed as law enforcement officers
and meet the criteria to qualify for this class.

DRAFT

Elected Officials - Members who are elected by the voters within the Authority
boundaries.
Employees enrolled in the Plan prior to July 1, 2011, vest at six years of creditable
service and employees enrolled in the Plan on or after July 1, 2011, vest at eight
years of creditable service. All vested members, enrolled prior to July 1, 2011, are
eligible for normal retirement benefits at age 62 or at any age after 30 years of
service, except for those members classified as special risk who are eligible for
normal retirement benefits at age 55 or at any age after 25 years of service. All
members enrolled in the Plan on or after July 1, 2011, once vested, are eligible for
normal retirement benefits at age 65 or any time after 33 years of creditable service,
except for members classified as special risk who are eligible for normal retirement
benefits at age 60 or at any age after 30 years of service. Members of both Plans
(Pension and HIS) may include up to 4 years of credit for military service toward
creditable service. The Plan also includes an early retirement provision; however,
there is a benefit reduction for each year a member retires before his or her normal
retirement date. The Plan provides retirement, disability, death benefits, and annual
cost of living adjustments to eligible participants.
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FRS Pension Plan, continued
DROP, subject to provisions of Section 121.091, Florida Statutes, permits
employees eligible for normal retirement under the Plan to defer receipt of monthly
benefit payments while continuing employment with an FRS employer. An employee
may participate in DROP for a period not to exceed 60 months after electing to
participate. During the period of DROP participation, deferred monthly benefits are
held in the FRS Trust Fund and accrue interest. The net pension liability does not
include amounts for DROP participants, as these members are considered retired and
are not accruing additional pension benefits.
Benefits Provided. Benefits under the Plan are computed on the basis of age,
and/or years of service, average final compensation, and credit service. Credit for
each year of service is expressed as a percentage of the average final compensation.
For members initially enrolled before July 1, 2011, the average final compensation is
the average of the five highest fiscal years' earnings; for the members initially enrolled
on or after July 1, 2011, the average final compensation is the average of the eight
highest fiscal years' earnings. The total percentage value of the benefit received is
determined by calculating the total value of all service, which is based on retirement
plan and/or the class to which the member belonged when the service credit was
earned. Members are eligible for in-line-of-duty or regular disability and survivors'
benefits. The following chart shows the percentage value of each year of service
credit earned:

DRAFT

Class, Initial Enrollment, and Retirement Age/Years of Service
Regular Class and elected members initially enrolled before July 1, 2011
Retirement up to age 62, or up to 30 years of service
Retirement at age 63 or with 31 years of service
Retirement at age 64 or with 32 years of service
Retirement at age 65 or with 33 or more years of service

%Value
1.60
1.63
1.65
1.68

Regular Class and elected members initially enrolled on or after July 1, 2011
Retirement up to age 65 or up to 33 years of service
Retirement at age 66 or with 34 years of service
Retirement at age 67 or with 35 years of service
Retirement at age 68 or with 36 or more years of service

1.60
1.63
1.65
1.68

Special Risk Regular
Service from December 1, 1970 through September 30, 1974
Service on or after October 1, 1974

2.00
3.00

Senior Management Service Class
Elected Officers' Class

2.00
3.00
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FRS Pension Plan, continued
As provided in Section 121.101, Florida Statutes, if the member is initially enrolled in
the FRS before July 1, 2011 and all service credit was accrued before July 1, 2011,
the annual cost-of-living adjustment is 3 percent per year. If the member is initially
enrolled before July 1, 2011 and has service credit on or after July 1, 2011, there is
an individually calculated cost-of-living adjustment. The annual cost-of-living
adjustment is a proportion of 3 percent determined by dividing the sum of the
pre-July 2011 service credit by the total service credit at retirement multiplied by 3
percent. Plan members initially enrolled on or after July 1, 2011 will not have a
cost-of-living adjustment after retirement.

DRAFT

Contributions. The Florida Legislature establishes contribution rates for
participating employers and employees. Contribution rates during the year ended
September 30, 2019 were as follows:
Percent of Gross Salary*

Class

Employee

Employer (1)

Employer (3)

Florida Retirement System, Regular
Florida Retirement System, Senior Management Service
Florida Retirement System, Special Risk
Deferred Retirement Option Program - Applicable
to Members from All of the Above Classes
Florida Retirement System, Reemployed Retiree
Florida Retirement System, Elected Official

3.00
3.00
3.00

8.47
25.41
25.48

8.26
24.06
24.50

0.00
(2)
3.00

14.6
N/A
48.82

14.03
N/A
48.70

Notes:
(1) Employer rates include 1.66 percent for the post employment health insurance subsidy. Also,
employer rates, other than for DROP participants, include .06 percent for administrative costs for
the Investment Plan. Rates for 7/1/19 - 6/30/20.
(2) Contribution rates are dependent upon retirement class in which reemployed.
(3) Employer rates include 1.66 percent for the post employment health insurance subsidy. Also,
employer rates, other than for DROP participants, include .06 percent for administrative costs for
the Investment Plan. Rates for 7/1/18 - 6/30/19.
*

As defined by the Plan.
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FRS Pension Plan, continued
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources
and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to the Pension Plan. At
September 30, 2019, the Authority reported an FRS pension liability of $2,227,950
for its proportionate share of the net pension liability. The net pension liability was
measured as of June 30, 2019, and the total pension liability used to calculate
the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of July 1, 2019.
The Authority's proportionate share of the net pension liability was based on the
Authority's 2018-19 fiscal year contributions relative to the total 2018-19 fiscal year
contributions of all participating members. At September 30, 2019, the Authority's
proportionate share was .006469338 percent, which was an increase of
.000653658 percent from its proportionate share measure as of September 30,
2018.

DRAFT

For the year ended September 30, 2019, the Authority recognized FRS pension
expense of $658,033. In addition, the Authority reported deferred outflows of
resources and deferred inflows of resources related to the pension from the following
sources:
Deferred Outflows

Deferred Inflows

of Resources

of Resources

Description
Differences between expected
and actual experience

$

Change of assumptions

132,146

$

1,383

572,233

-

-

123,262

220,049

48,708

49,654

-

Net difference between projected and
actual earnings on pension plan investments
Changes in proportion and differences between
Authority contributions and proportionate share
of contributions
Authority contributions subsequent to the
measurement date
Total

$

974,082

$

173,353
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FRS Pension Plan, continued
The deferred outflows of resources related to the FRS pension, totaling $49,654
resulting from Authority contributions subsequent to the measurement date, will be
recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ended September 30,
2020. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to the pension will be recognized in pension expense over
the remaining service period of 6.4 years as follows:
Fiscal Years Ending
September 30
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
Thereafter

$

Amount
131,098
131,098
131,098
131,100
161,914
64,767

DRAFT
Total

$

751,075

Actuarial Assumptions. The total pension liability in the July 1, 2019, actuarial
valuation was determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all
periods included in the measurement:

Measurement date
Inflation
Real payroll growth
Salary increases
Investment rate of return
Actuarial cost method

June 30, 2019
2.60 percent
0.65 percent
3.25 percent, average, including inflation
6.90 percent, net of pension plan
investment expense, including inflation
Individual entry date

Mortality rates were based on the Generational RP-2000 with Projection Scale BB.
The actuarial assumptions used in the July 1, 2019, valuation were based on the
results of an actuarial experience study for the period July 1, 2013 through June 30,
2018.
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FRS Pension Plan, continued
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was not based on
historical returns, but instead is based on a forward-looking capital market economic
model. The allocation policy's description of each asset class was used to map the
target allocation to the asset classes shown below. Each asset class assumption is
based on a consistent set of underlying assumptions and includes an adjustment for
the inflation assumption. The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic and
geometric real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the
following table:
Annual
Arithmetic
Return
3.3%
4.1%
8.0%
6.7%
11.2%
5.9%

Compound
Annual
(Geometric)
Return
3.3%
4.1%
6.8%
6.1%
8.4%
5.7%

DRAFT

Asset Class
Cash
Fixed income
Global equity
Real estate (property)
Private equity
Strategic investments
Total

Target
Allocation (1)
1.00%
18.00%
54.00%
10.00%
11.00%
6.00%

Standard
Deviation
1.2%
3.5%
16.5%
11.7%
25.8%
6.7%

100.00%

Assumed inflation - Mean

2.60%

1.70%

(1) As outlined in the Plan's investment policy.

Money-Weighted Rate of Return. The annual money-weighted rate of return on
the FRS Pension Plan investements for the year ended September 30, 2019 was
5.98%.
Discount Rate. The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability
was 6.90 percent. The Plan's fiduciary net position was projected to be available to
make all projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive employees.
Therefore, the discount rate for calculating the total pension liability is equal to the
long-term expected rate of return.
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FRS Pension Plan, continued
Sensitivity of the Authority's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability
to Changes in the Discount Rate. The following presents the Authority's
proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated using the discount rate of
6.90 percent, as well as what the Authority's proportionate share of the net pension
liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point
lower (5.90 percent) or 1-percentage-point higher (7.90 percent) than the current
rate:
1%

Current

1%

Decrease

Discount Rate

Increase

(5.90%)

(6.90%)

(7.90%)

DRAFT

Authority's proportionate share of
the net pension liability

$ 3,851,384

$ 2,227,950

$ 872,108

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position. Detailed information about pension plan's
fiduciary net position is available in the separately issued FRS Pension Plan and Other
State Administered Systems Comprehensive Annual Financial Report ("FRS CAFR")
dated June 30, 2019.

The FRS CAFR and actuarial reports may also be obtained by contacting the
Division of Retirement at:
Department of Management Services
Division of Retirement
Bureau of Research and Member Communications
P.O. Box 9000
Tallahassee, FL 32315-9000
850-488-5706 or toll free at 877-377-1737
http://www.dms.myflorida.com/workforce_operations/retirement/publications
Payables to the Pension Plan. At September 30, 2019, the Authority reported a
payable of $6,972 for the outstanding amount of contributions in the pension plan
required for the year ended September 30, 2019.
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Health Insurance Subsidy Plan
Plan Description. The Health Insurance Subsidy Plan ("HIS Plan") is a
cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan established under
section 112.363, Florida Statutes. The benefit is a monthly payment to assist retirees
of State-administered retirement systems in paying their health insurance costs and is
administered by the Division of Retirement within the Florida Department of
Management Services.
Benefits Provided. For the year ended September 30, 2019, eligible retirees
and beneficiaries received a monthly HIS payment equal to the number of years of
creditable service completed at the time of retirement multiplied by $5. The
payments are at least $30 but not more than $150 per month, pursuant to Section
112.363, Florida Statutes. To be eligible to receive a HIS Plan benefit, a retiree
under a State-administered retirement system must provide proof of health insurance
coverage, which can include Medicare.

DRAFT

Contributions. The HIS Plan is funded by required contributions from FRS
participating employers as set by the Florida Legislature. Employer contributions are
a percentage of gross compensation for all active FRS members. For the year ended
September 30, 2019, the contribution rate ranged between 1.66 percent and 1.66
percent of payroll pursuant to Section 112.363, Florida Statutes. The Authority
contributed 100 percent of its statutorily required contributions for the current and
preceding three years. HIS Plan contributions are deposited in a separate trust fund
from which HIS payments are authorized. HIS Plan benefits are not guaranteed and
are subject to annual legislative appropriation. In the event the legislative
appropriation or available funds fail to provide full subsidy benefits to all participants,
benefits may be reduced or cancelled.

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, Deferred Outflows of Resources
and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to the HIS Plan. At September
30, 2019, the Authority reported a HIS liability of $963,930 for its proportionate
share of the net HIS Plan's net pension liability. The net pension liability was
measured as of June 30, 2019, and the total pension liability was used to
calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of July
1, 2019. The Authority's proportionate share of the net HIS liability was based on
the Authority's 2018-19 fiscal year contributions relative to the total 2018-19 fiscal
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HIS Plan, continued
year contributions of all participating members. At September 30, 2019, the
Authority's proportionate share was .008614980 percent, which was an increase of
.000748821 percent from its proportionate share measured as of September 30,
2018.
For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019, the Authority recognized HIS expense
of $164,508. In addition, the Authority reported deferred outflows of resources and
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources:
Deferred Outflows
Description
of Resources
Differences between expected
and actual experience
$
11,708
Change of assumptions
111,614
Net difference between projected and actual
earnings on HIS pension plan investments
622
Changes in proportion and differences between
Authority HIS contributions and proportionate
share of HIS contributions
223,055
Authority contributions subsequent to the
measurement date
10,658

Deferred Inflows
of Resources

DRAFT

Total

$

357,657

$

1,180
78,784
-

10,582
-

$

90,546

The deferred outflows of resources related to HIS, totaling $10,658, resulting from
Authority contributions subsequent to the measurement date, will be recognized as
a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ended September 30, 2020.
Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows
of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense over the
remaining service period of 7.2 years as follows:
Fiscal Years Ending
September 30
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
Thereafter
Total

$

$

Amount
41,419
41,419
41,419
41,417
41,263
49,516
256,453
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HIS Plan, continued
Actuarial Assumptions. The total pension liability in the July 1, 2018, actuarial
valuation was determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all
periods included in the measurement:

Inflation
Real payroll growth
Salary Increases
Municipal Bond Rate
Actuarial Cost Method

2.60 percent
0.65 percent
3.25 percent, average, including inflation
3.50 percent
Individual entry date

Mortality rates were based on the Generational RP-2000 with Projected Scale BB.

DRAFT

Because the HIS program is funded on a pay-as-you-go basis, no experience study
has been completed for the program.
Discount Rate. The discount rate used to measure the total HIS liability was
3.50 percent. In general, the discount rate for calculating the total HIS liability is
equal to the single rate equivalent to discounting at the long-term expected rate of
return for benefit payments prior to the projected depletion date. Because the HIS
benefit is essentially funded on a pay-as-you-go basis, the depletion date is
considered to be immediate and the single equivalent discount rate is equal to the
municipal bond rate selected by the plan sponsor. The Bond Buyer General
Obligation 20-Bond Municipal Bond Index was adopted as the applicable municipal
bond index.

Sensitivity of the Authority's Proportionate Share of the Net HIS Liability
to Changes in the Discount Rate. The following presents the Authority's
proportionate share of the net HIS liability calculated using the discount rate of
3.50 percent, as well as what the Authority's proportionate share of the net HIS
liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point
lower (2.50 percent) or 1-percentage-point higher (4.50 percent) than the current
rate:
1%
Decrease
(2.50%)
Authority's proportionate share of
the net HIS liability

$ 1,100,376

Current
Discount Rate
(3.50%)
$

963,930

1%
Increase
(4.50%)
$

850,286
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NOTE G - RETIREMENT PLANS - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN, CONTINUED

HIS Plan, continued
Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position. Detailed information about the HIS plan's
fiduciary net position is available in the separately issued FRS Pension Plan and
Other State Administered Comprehensive Annual Financial Report ("FRS CAFR")
dated June 30, 2019.

The FRS CAFR and actuarial reports may also be obtained by contacting the
Division of Retirement at:
Department of Management Services
Division of Retirement
Bureau of Research and Member Communications
P.O. Box 9000
Tallahassee, FL 32315-9000

DRAFT

850-488-5706 or toll free at 877-377-1737

http://www.dms.myflorida.com/workforce_operations/retirement/publications
Payables to the Pension Plan. At September 30, 2019, the Authority reported a
payable of $1,636 for the outstanding amount of contributions to the HIS plan required
for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019.

FRS - Defined Contribution Pension Plan
The SBA administers the defined contribution plan officially titled the FRS Investment
Plan (Investment Plan). The Investment Plan is reported in the SBA's annual financial
statements and in the State of Florida Comprehensive Annual Financial Report.
As provided in Section 121.4501, Florida Statutes, eligible FRS members may elect
to participate in the Investment Plan in lieu of the FRS defined benefit plan. Authority
employees participating in DROP are not eligible to participate in the Investment
Plan. Employer and employee contributions, including amounts contributed to
individual member's accounts, are defined by law, but the ultimate benefit depends in
part on the performance of investment funds. Benefit terms, including contribution
requirements, for the Investment Plan are established and may be amended by the
Florida Legislature. The Investment Plan is funded with the same employer and
employee contribution rates that are based on salary and membership class (Regular
Class, Elected County Officers, etc.), as the FRS defined benefit plan. Contributions
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NOTE G - RETIREMENT PLANS - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN, CONTINUED

FRS - Defined Contribution Pension Plan, continued
are directed to individual member accounts and the individual members allocate
contributions and account balances among various approved investment choices.
Costs of administering plan, including FRS Financial Guidance Program, are funded
through an employer contribution of 0.06 percent of payroll and by forfeited benefits
of plan members. Allocations to the investment member's accounts during the
2018-19 fiscal year were as follows:
Percent of Gross Salary*
Class

Employee

Employer (1)

Employer (3)

Florida Retirement System, Regular
Florida Retirement System, Senior Management Service
Florida Retirement System, Special Risk
Deferred Retirement Option Program - Applicable
to Members from All of the Above Classes
Florida Retirement System, Reemployed Retiree
Florida Retirement System, Elected Official

3.00
3.00
3.00

8.47
25.41
25.48

8.26
24.06
24.50

0.00
(2)
3.00

14.60
N/A
48.82

14.03
N/A
48.70

DRAFT

Notes:
(1) Employer rates include 1.66 percent for the post employment health insurance subsidy. Also,
employer rates, other than for DROP participants, include .06 percent for administrative costs for
the Investment Plan. Rates for 7/1/19 - 6/30/20.
(2) Contribution rates are dependent upon retirement class in which reemployed.
(3) Employer rates include 1.66 percent for the post employment health insurance subsidy. Also,
employer rates, other than for DROP participants, include .06 percent for administrative costs for
the Investment Plan. Rates for 7/1/18 - 6/30/19.
*

As defined by the Plan.

For all membership classes, employees are immediately vested in their own
contributions and are vested after 1 year of service for employer contributions and
investment earnings. If an accumulated benefit obligation for service credit originally
earned under the FRS Pension Plan is transferred to the Investment Plan, the member
must have the years of service required for FRS Pension Plan vesting (including the
service credit represented by the transferred funds) to be vested for these funds and
the earnings on the funds. Nonvested employer contributions are placed in a
suspense account for up to 5 years. If the employee returns to FRS-covered
employment within the 5-year period, the employee will regain control over their
account. If the employee does not return within the 5 year period, the employee will
forfeit the accumulated account balance. For the fiscal year ended September 30,
2019, the information for the amount of forfeitures was unavailable from the SBA;
however, management believes that these amounts, if any, would be immaterial to
the Authority.
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NOTE G - RETIREMENT PLANS - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN, CONTINUED

FRS - Defined Contribution Pension Plan, continued
After termination and applying to receive benefits, the member may rollover vested
funds to another qualified plan, structure a periodic payment under the Investment
Plan, receive a lump-sum distribution, leave the funds invested for future distribution,
or any combination of these options. Disability coverage is provided; the member
may either transfer the account balance to the FRS Pension Plan when approved for
disability retirement to receive guaranteed lifetime monthly benefits under the FRS
Pension Plan, or remain in the Investment Plan and rely upon that account balance for
retirement income.
The Authority's Investment Plan pension expense which is included in FRS pension
expense totaled $164,492 for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019.

DRAFT

Payables to the Investment Plan. At September 30, 2019, the Authority reported a
payable of $0 for the outstanding amount of contributions to the Plan required for the
fiscal year ended September 30, 2019.
NOTE H - PENSION PLAN - 457 DEFERRED COMPENSATION

Effective October 1, 2011, the Authority approved an employee benefit plan
whereby, the Authority contributed to the Section 457 Plan on behalf of all Authority
employees. The Authority's required Section 457 contribution for each employee is
equal to the difference between the Authority's FRS contribution rate at June 30,
2011 less the combination of the Authority's FRS contribution rate at July 1, 2011
plus the employee's required FRS three (3) percent contribution rate for each
respective employee. For the years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, the
Authority contributed $96,549 and $90,391, respectively.
NOTE I - INSURANCE/RISK MANAGEMENT
The Authority directly obtained third party commercial insurance coverage for
property, automobile, general liability, airport liability, directors and officers' and fuel
storage tank insurance and workers' compensation. The Authority paid $321,586
and $296,376 for these coverages for the years ended September 30, 2019 and
2018, respectively.
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NOTE I - INSURANCE/RISK MANAGEMENT, CONTINUED
The Authority also retained third party coverage as a group, for health, accidental
death and disability, EAP, vision, and life through Charlotte County. For the years
ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, the Authority paid $753,198 and $672,556,
respectively.
The Authority retains the risk of loss up to a deductible amount with the risk of loss in
excess of this amount transferred to the insurance carrier with limits of liability per
occurrence and in aggregate.
NOTE J - CONTINGENCIES
Litigation

DRAFT

The Authority, from time to time, is involved as a defendant or a plaintiff in certain
litigation and claims arising in the ordinary course of operations. In the opinion of
legal counsel, the range of potential recoveries or liabilities will not materially affect
the financial position of the Authority. At September 30, 2019 and 2018, no liability
had been accrued for such losses, if any. The Authority intends to vigorously pursue
all potential claims.
State and federal grants
Grant monies received by the Authority are for specific purposes and are subject to
review by the grantor agencies. Such audits may result in requests for reimbursement
due to disallowed expenditures. Based upon prior experience, the Authority does
not believe that such disallowances, if any, would have a material affect on the
financial position of the Authority.
The operations of the Authority are dependent upon the condition of the Authority's
facilities. These facilities are currently being rehabilitated and improved substantially
through the receipt of federal and state funding. Loss or reduction of such funding
may have a material effect on the operations of the Authority.
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NOTE K - CONSTRUCTION-RELATED COMMITMENTS

The following is a summary of construction projects contracted by the Authority
and not yet completed at September 30, 2019:
Amounts Paid

Wetland Mitigation Phase 1 & 2- AIP 37

$

Airport Roadway Network Improvements

Contract

Through

Price

September 30, 2019

240,328

$

36,178

78,990

7,100

15-33 Rehab & extension

1,342,747

537,493

15-33 Rehab & extension

11,360,612

11,360,612

34,600

16,875

Terminal curbside

DRAFT

Hangar door replacement Bldg 207

121,165

Long term parking expansion

78,675

268,511

138,781

1,676,977

739,656

Admin Bldg build out

14,824

1,909

600 series T-Hangars

99,789

61,349

GA Terminal design construction

$

15,238,543

$

12,978,628

NOTE L - UNRESTRICTED NET ASSETS
Unrestricted net assets consist of the following at September 30:
2019
Designated for losses, storm, fire
and vandalism
Designated for insurance escrow
Designated for building
Designated for contaminants and
pollutant assessments
Parking lot reserve
Air Traffic/ Navigation/ Safety
Rental Car Improvement
Total Designated
Undesignated
Total Unrestricted Net Assets

$

27,862
221,183
1,859,816

2018
$

26,362
208,892
1,359,816

107,500
908,942
198,070
46,522

107,500
360,621
237,864
42,596

3,369,895
8,745,674

2,343,651
7,338,330

$ 12,115,569

$

9,681,981
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NOTE M - MINIMUM FUTURE RENTALS

The Authority leases certain facilities (aviation and non-aviation) to vendors and
tenants at Punta Gorda Airport. Such agreements are short-term in nature and
are accounted for as operating leases. The Authority also has entered into lease
agreements with rental car companies that contain contingent rentals. Contingent
rental revenues arise from a percentage of the lessees' gross revenue.
At September 30, 2019, minimum future rentals of operating leases were as follows:
Years Ending
September 30
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025-2029
2030-2034
2035-2037

Amount
$

DRAFT
Total minimum future revenue

$

1,165,076
1,169,819
1,163,219
1,205,849
1,223,474
5,244,528
3,694,071
2,481,738
17,347,774

Substantially all of the Authority's property is used for leasing activities to either
airlines or other tenants/vendors.
NOTE N - POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSION BENEFITS (OPEB)
In accordance with Section 112.0801, Florida Statutes, the Authority provides
medical health plans to employees of the Authority and their eligible dependents, the
Authority is required to provide retirees the opportunity to participate in the group
employee medical health plan. As such, the Authority elected to participate in the
Charlotte County (the "County") group health, life, vision and dental plan. The
Authority, therefore, must offer such coverage to its retirees. The Charlotte County
plan is a defined benefit cost sharing multi-employer plan which is administered by the
County. The Authority is a participant in the Plan. Although not required by Florida
Law, the Authority has opted to pay a portion of the cost of such participation for
retired Authority employees through a single employer defined benefit plan (the
"Plan").
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NOTE N - POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSION BENEFITS (OPEB),
CONTINUED
Plan description
The year ended September 30, 2018, was the Authority's required transition year.
As such, the Authority recorded its net OPEB liability of $38,122 at September 30,
2018 due to implementation of GASB No. 75.
Employees of the Authority who retire after 30 years of service, or after attainment of
age 55, with six years of credited service with the Authority and who were
participants in the existing medical plan at the time of retirement, are entitled to
participate in the Plan. Currently, for retired employees who have completed 20
years of service with the Authority and who are collecting FRS monthly retirement
benefit plans, the medical health benefit under the Plan provides for the Authority to
contribute a per month supplement. The monthly supplement for eligible retirees
retired before October 1, 2008, is $5 per year of service up to $150 per month.
The monthly supplement for eligible retirees retiring on or after October 1, 2008, is
$10 per year of service up to $300 per month. The monthly supplement is applied to
medical health premium costs purchased by the Authority. All supplements cease
when the retiree becomes eligible for Medicare. Dependent coverage is available for
purchase by the retiree at full premium cost.

DRAFT

All retirees and dependents may elect coverage in the dental and/or vision plans
offered by the Plan. However, they must contribute 100% of the active premium
rates.
Membership
As of September 30, 2019, the Authority's membership consisted of:
Active Employees, including the Board
Inactives

Amount
32
32
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NOTE N - POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSION BENEFITS (OPEB),
CONTINUED
Funding policy
Funding for the Plan is on a pay-as-you-go basis from the Authority's assets when
due. There is no separate trust through which benefits for retirees are funded. No
assets are currently accumulated or earmarked for this purpose.
The County had an actuarial valuation performed as of October 1, 2018 using an
October 1, 2018 measurement date, to determine the other postemployment benefits
(OPEB) annual required contribution (ARC) and Plan obligations for the fiscal year
ended September 30, 2019.
The Authority subsidizes the premium rates paid by retirees by allowing them to
participate at blended premium rates for both active and retired employees. These
rates provide an implicit subsidy for retirees because, on an actuarial basis, retiree
claims are expected to result in higher costs to the plan on average than those of
active employees.

DRAFT

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions

At September 30, 2019, the Authority's net OPEB liability of $24,783 was
measured as of October 1, 2018, and was determined by an actuarial valuation as of
October 1, 2018. The following actuarial assumptions and other inputs were applied
to all periods included in the measurement:
Salary Increases
Discount Rate

3.70% - 7.80%
3.83% (2019) 3.50% (2018) (3.10% in 2016)

Annual healthcare cost trend using the Society of Actuaries Long-Run Medical Cost Trend
Getzen Model baseline assumptions with an initial rate of 6.0% per year trending to 4.40% by
2040.
The discount rate was based on the 20 Year Municipal Bond Rate with AA or higher.
Individual entry age percent of pay actuarial cost method was used.
The FRS salary scale was used as of July 1, 2018.
Mortality rates were based on the RP-2000 Generational Healthy mortality Table.
The actuarial assumptions used in the September 30, 2019 valuation were based on results of an
actuarial experience study performed for the FRS Retirement Plan for July 1, 2018.
Price inflation rate of 2.60%

The rationales for selecting each of the assumptions used in the financial accounting
valuation and for the assumptions changes summarized above are to best reflect the
current market conditions and recent plan experience.
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NOTE N - POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSION BENEFITS (OPEB),
CONTINUED
Demographic Assumptions
Rates of participation used: 65% of participants retiring before age 65 who are
eligible for OPEB supplement and 25% for those not eligible. 10% of all participants
are assumed to elect post age 65 coverage.
Amount

Changes in the Total OPEB Liability
Balance at September 30, 2018
Changes for the year:
Service Cost
Interest
Benefit Changes
Difference Between Expected and Actual Experience
Changes in Assumptions
Contributions from Employer
Net Changes
Balance at September 30, 2019

$

38,122
5,265
1,398
(16,928)
3,847
(6,921)
(13,339)
24,783

DRAFT
$

The following presents the total OPEB liability of the District as well as what the
District's total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that
is 1 percent higher or 1 percent lower than the current discount rate.

OPEB Liability

1% Decrease
2.83%
$
26,932

Current Rate
3.83%
$
24,783

1% Increase
4.83%
$
22,785

The following presents the total OPEB liability of the District as well as what the
District's total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using healthcare trend
rates that are 1 percent higher or 1 percent lower than the current healthcare trend
rate.

OPEB Liability

1% Decrease
5.0-3.4%
$
21,440

Trend Rate
6.0-4.4%
$
24,783

1% Increase
7.0-5.4%
$
28,845
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NOTE N - POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSION BENEFITS (OPEB),
CONTINUED
Changes in the Total OPEB Liability, continued
For the year ended September 30, 2019, the District recognized OPEB expense of
$5,222. At September 30, 2019, the District reported deferred outflows of resources
and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB from the following sources:
Deferred
Outflows of
Resources
Differences Between Expected and
Actual Experience
Changes in Assumptions
Net difference between projected
and actual earnings
Employer contribution subsequent
to measurement date
Total

$

Deferred
Inflows of
Resources

3,450

$

DRAFT

(15,183)
(693)

-

$

3,450

$

(15,876)

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows:
Year Ending September 30:
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
Total Thereafter

$

$

Amount
(1,441)
(1,441)
(1,441)
(1,441)
(1,441)
(5,221)
(12,426)

NOTE O - PASSENGER FACILITY CHARGES (PFC)
During the year ended September 30, 2017, the Authority was approved by the
FAA to implement a Passenger Facility Charge (PFC) on commercial airline
passengers using the Authority's facilities at a rate of $2.00 per passenger until such
time that the Authority collects $5,225,793. The PFC application 17-01-C-01-PGD
was implemented in August 2017. On November 1, 2018 the FAA approved
Amendment No. 17-01-C-01-PGD to increase the collection level from $2.00 to
$4.50 per passenger, with total overall collection increasing to $5,298,817 effective
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NOTE O - PASSENGER FACILITY CHARGES (PFC), CONTINUED
January 1, 2019 through July 31, 2020. Collections prior to January 1, 2019
continued at the previously approved level of $2.00.
The Authority was approved for Application 19-02-C-00-PGD for a level of PFC of
$4.50 per passenger effective August 1, 2020 based upon the estimated charge
expiration date for the previously collections in application 17-01-C-00-PGD, as
amended. The total approved revenue to be collected for this application is
$6,804,381 with an overall total of $12,103,198. The total amount approved for use
of PFC revenue in this application is $9,554,381.
NOTE P - 401(a) RETIREMENT PLAN

DRAFT

Plan 3 - Plan description and Provisions - 401(a)

The Board of Commissioners established the 401(a) Retirement Plan for the general
executive level employees. The Plan was effective on November 17, 2016. At
September 30, 2019, the Plan had two (2) active participants.
The Authority's total contributions to the Plan for the years ended September 30,
2019 and 2018, were $30,614 and $31,052, respectively.

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY
INFORMATION
OTHER THAN MD&A

DRAFT
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SCHEDULE OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION BUDGET (NON-GAAP BUDGETARY BASIS) AND
ACTUAL WITH RECONCILIATION TO GAAP BASIS
Year ended September 30, 2019
Original
Budget
OPERATING REVENUES
Fuel and oil sales
Industrial and commercial park rentals
Hangar rentals and tie downs
General-aviation-related concession, vending and fees
Airline-related revenues:
Car rentals
Parking
Other, including LEO and concessions
Other operating revenues

$ 2,881,230
1,101,120
773,560
17,080

TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES

Final
Budget

Actual

Variance

$ 3,029,328 $
1,209,715
766,498
19,424

3,029,328
1,209,715
766,498
19,424

$

5,748,720
3,223,910
1,041,780
-

5,835,310
3,214,062
1,235,382
42,336

5,835,310
3,214,062
1,235,382
49,262

6,926

14,787,400

15,352,055

15,358,981

6,926

OPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries and wages
Payroll taxes and retirement
Personnel expenses
Cost of fuel and oil sales
Advertising
Marketing and promotional
Bank charges and credit card fees
Dues and subscriptions
Insurance
Legal and professional
Licenses and permits
Mowing
Postage
Repairs and maintenance and equipment fuel
Computer maintenance and expense
Supplies (including vending purchases)
Telephone and communications
Travel and auto allowance
Utilities
Airline expenses
Security
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES
BEFORE DEPRECIATION

3,189,270
666,230
828,200
1,642,790
10,800
200,040
39,000
43,080
330,000
291,410
4,950
24,660
6,040
523,860
186,130
295,390
39,550
70,230
398,960
1,963,400
65,520

3,224,665
647,094
832,976
1,651,882
2,691
195,518
42,372
45,486
333,877
203,509
28,192
23,609
5,064
591,063
167,253
232,815
43,914
47,452
405,989
2,010,406
35,202

3,224,665
590,103
832,976
1,651,882
2,691
195,518
42,372
47,019
333,877
203,509
28,192
23,400
5,064
591,063
167,253
233,115
43,914
47,452
405,989
2,007,406
35,202

56,991
(1,533)
209
(300)
3,000
-

10,819,510

10,771,029

10,712,662

58,367

NET OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)
BEFORE DEPRECIATION

3,967,890

4,581,026

4,646,319

65,293

(3,712,040)

(3,364,989)

(3,364,989)

DRAFT
Less: Depreciation
OPERATING REVENUE (LOSS)

$

255,850

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

$ 1,216,037

$ 1,281,330

$

65,293
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SCHEDULE OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION BUDGET (NON-GAAP BUDGETARY BASIS) AND
ACTUAL WITH RECONCILIATION TO GAAP BASIS - CONTINUED
Year ended September 30, 2019
Original
Budget
OPERATING REVENUE (LOSS),
BROUGHT FORWARD
NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
PFC's
CFC's
Grant receipts (contributed capital)
SIB loan proceeds
Interest on investments
Construction in progress
Miscellaneous revenue (expense)
Interest expense
Gain (loss) on disposition of capital assets
Insurance premium refund
Reserves
Net assets carryforward
Capital expenditures
SIB loan principal retirement
Post retirement benefit accrual
Bank fees
Bad debt expense
NET NON-OPERATING REVENUE (LOSS)

$

255,850

Final
Budget

Actual

$ 1,216,037

$ 1,281,330

3,200,580
16,611,450
3,070
(25,267,580)
(91,560)
(1,096,864)
7,916,664
(944,700)
(578,760)
(5,280)
(2,870)
(255,850)

3,172,184
509,061
2,070,208
145,350
(4,817,342)
1,255,897
(89,036)
2,850
18,144
(1,016,661)
1,641,981
(3,515,830)
(578,664)
(6,449)
(6,730)
(1,000)
(1,216,037)

DRAFT
NET INCOME (LOSS)

$

-

$

-

3,172,184
509,061
2,070,208
145,350
(4,817,342)
1,255,897
(89,036)
2,850
18,144
(3,515,830)
(578,664)
(5,222)
(6,730)
(1,000)
(1,840,130)

Add: Capital outlay (expenditures)
Construction in progress
SIB Loan principal retirement
Less: SIB loan proceeds
Net change to net pension expense
Increase in Net Position (GAAP Basis)
Net Position - beginning of the year, as restated
Net Position - end of the year

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

$

65,293

1,016,661
(1,641,981)
1,227
(624,093)

$

(558,800) $ (558,800)

$

(558,800)

Reconciliation:
Net income (loss) (Non-GAAP Budgetary Basis)

Variance

4,817,342
3,515,830
578,664
(587,525)
7,765,511
66,059,659
$ 73,825,170

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
Year ended September 30, 2019
Federal Agency/Pass Through
State Agency/Program Title

Grantor's
Contract
Number

CFDA#
CSFA #

Grant AIP/Financial
Project Number

FEDERAL AWARDS
U.S. Department of Transportation - Federal Aviation Administration
MAJOR (TYPE A) - FEDERAL AWARDS
Master Plan
Apron Extension
Wetland Mitigation/ Rehab Runway 15/33

20.106
20.106
20.106

NON-MAJOR (TYPE B) - FEDERAL AWARDS
Passed through State of Florida Department of Transportation
SIB Loan
20.205

AIP35 (GOE19)
AIP36 (GO032)
AIP37 (GO265)

3-12-0067-035-2016
3-12-0067-036-2017
3-12-0067-037-2019

N/A

FM #431903-1

DRAFT

NON-MAJOR (TYPE B) - FEDERAL AWARDS
U.S. Department of Homeland Security
LEO Award Program
TOTAL FEDERAL FINANCIAL AWARDS

97.090

HSTS0216HSLR766 P00005/P00006/P00007

(1) Includes receivable of $420,599
(2) Outstanding SIB loan balance at 9/30/19 was $2,658,992. Principal was repaid in the amount of $578,664 during the year ended 9/30/19.
(3) Includes receivable of $12,445
(C) Capital Grant (L) Loan Proceeds (O) Operating Grant
Note: The Authority records the Federal LEO grant revenue of $104,205 as airline operating revenue.

Reconciliation to Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position:
Revenue
Federal Capital Grants

$

LEO Award (Operating)

(104,205) (O)

State Financial Assistance
Capital Grants and Contributions

1,485,240 (4)
689,173

$

2,070,208
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Program/
Award
Amount

$

1,304,226
3,744,598
6,354,839
11,403,663

Receipts/
Revenue
Recognized

$

5,800,000

$

147,600
17,351,263

Disbursements/
Expenditures

144,533
(C) $
230,397
(C)
1,006,105 (1) (C)
1,381,035

- (2) (L)

144,533
230,397
1,006,105
1,381,035

Pass Through to
Subrecipients

$

-

-

-

DRAFT
$

104,205 (3) (O)
1,485,240 (4)
$

104,205
1,485,240

$

-

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL
AWARDS
Year ended September 30, 2019
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NOTE A - BASIS OF PRESENTATION
The Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards has been prepared on an accrual
basis of accounting in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America and is in accordance with the provisions of OMB Uniform
Guidance.
Expenditures reported on the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards include
cash disbursements, whether capitalized or expensed, during the fiscal year as well as
grant related amounts recorded as payable at year end. Revenues reported on the
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards include income recognized, including
grant receivables recorded at year end. Cash receipts that were deferred are
footnoted as such.
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NOTE B - INDIRECT COSTS

The Authority did not routinely allocate costs to Federal Awards. Costs charged to
such programs were direct costs unless specifically incurred for the program and
allowed and indicated as such.
The Authority has elected not to use the 10% de minimus indirect cost rate allowed
under OMB Uniform Guidance.
NOTE C - MATCH/PARTICIPATION REQUIREMENTS
The Authority received financial assistance under several grants and contracts
requiring local match/participation in the form of cash. A maximum
match/participation amount is established at the time the financial assistance is
awarded. However, revenue is earned on the reimbursement basis and can only be
recognized to the extent of applicable, eligible, and allowable disbursement. The
match/participation requirement is therefore based on a contracted portion of
allowable disbursements.
For the year ended September 30, 2019, the Authority had met its
match/participation requirements.

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
SCHEDULE OF AUTHORITY'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET
PENSION LIABILITY - FLORIDA RETIREMENT SYSTEM (FRS) PENSION
PLAN (1)
2019
Authority's proportion of the net pension liability

2018

0.006469338%

2017

0.005815680%

2016

0.005315291%

0.005782606%

Authority's proportionate share of the net pension liability

$

2,227,950

$

1,751,713

$

1,837,767

$

1,460,113

Authority's covered-employee payroll

$

3,224,665

$

2,980,168

$

2,665,302

$

2,292,120

Authority's proportionate share of the net pension liability
as a percentage of its covered-employee payroll

69.09%

58.78%

68.95%

63.70%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the
total pension liability

82.61%

84.26%

83.89%

84.88%

Notes: (1) The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of September 30.
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SCHEDULE OF AUTHORITY CONTRIBUTIONS FLORIDA RETIREMENT SYSTEM (FRS) PENSION PLAN (1)
2019

Contractually required contribution

$

Contributions in relation to the contractually
required contribution

2018

228,069

$

228,069

2017

215,433

$

215,433

2016

173,651

$

177,006

173,651

177,006

Contribution deficiency (excess)

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

-

Authority's covered-employee payroll

$

3,224,665

$

2,980,168

$

2,665,302

$

2,292,170

Contributions as a percentage of covered-employee
payroll

7.07%

7.23%

6.52%

7.72%

Notes: (1) The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of September 30.
GASB 68 requires information for 10 years. However, until a full 10-year trend is compiled,
governments should present information for only those years for which information is available.
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2015

2014

0.005315291%

0.004310256%

$

686,541

$

262,989

$

1,743,026

$

1,493,081

39.39%

17.61%

92.00%

96.09%
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2014

2015
$

128,840

$

128,840

120,539

120,539

$

-

$

-

$

1,743,069

$

1,493,081

7.39%

8.07%

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
SCHEDULE OF AUTHORITY'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET
PENSION LIABILITY - HEALTH INSURANCE SUBSIDY (HIS) PENSION
PLAN (1)
2019
Authority's proportion of the net pension liability

2018

0.008614980%

2017

0.007866159%

2016

0.008010789%

0.006683273%

Authority's proportionate share of the net pension liability

$

963,930

$

832,563

$

856,551

$

778,908

Authority's covered-employee payroll

$

3,224,665

$

2,980,168

$

2,665,302

$

2,292,170

Authority's proportionate share of the net pension liability
as a percentage of its covered-employee payroll

29.89%

27.94%

32.14%

33.98%

2.63%

2.15%

1.64%

0.97%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the
total pension liability

Notes: (1) The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of September 30.
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SCHEDULE OF AUTHORITY CONTRIBUTIONS HEALTH INSURANCE SUBSIDY (HIS) PENSION PLAN (1)
2019

Contractually required contribution

$

Contributions in relation to the contractually
required contribution

2018

57,017

$

2017

53,858

$

53,858

57,017

2016

46,161

$

50,129

46,161

50,129

Contribution deficiency (excess)

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

-

Authority's covered-employee payroll

$

3,224,665

$

2,980,168

$

2,655,302

$

2,292,170

Contributions as a percentage of covered-employee
payroll

1.77%

1.81%

1.73%

2.19%

Notes: (1) The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of September 30.
GASB 68 requires information for 10 years. However, until a full 10-year trend is compiled,
governments should present information for only those years for which information is available.
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2015

2014

0.005513890%

0.004675696%

$

562,330

$

437,189

$

1,743,069

$

1,493,081

32.26%

29.28%

0.50%

0.99%

$

DRAFT
2014

2015
59,064

$

27,119

27,119

59,064
$

-

$

-

$

1,743,069

$

1,493,081

3.39%

1.82%

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
September 30, 2019
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Changes of Assumptions
Actuarial assumptions for both cost-sharing defined benefit plans are reviewed
annually by the Florida Retirement System Actuarial Assumptions Conference. The
FRS Pension Plan has a valuation performed annually. The HIS Program has a
valuation performed biennially that is updated for GASB reporting in the year a
valuation is not performed. The most recent experience study for the FRS Pension
Plan was completed in 2019 for the period July 1, 2013, through June 30, 2018.
Because the HIS Program is funded on a pay-as-you-go basis, no experience study
has been completed for that program. The actuarial assumptions that determined the
total pension liability for the HIS Program were based on certain results of the most
recent experience study for the FRS Pension Plan.
The total pension liability for each cost-sharing defined benefit plan was determined
using the individual entry age actuarial cost method. Inflation increases for both plans
is assumed at 2.6%. Payroll growth, including inflation, for both plans is assumed at
3.25%. Both the discount rate and the long-term expected rate of return used for
FRS Pension Plan investments was reduced from 7.00% to 6.90%. The Plan's
fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future
benefit payments of current active and inactive employees. Therefore, the discount
rate for calculating the total pension liability is equal to the long-term expected rate of
return.
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Because the HIS Program uses a pay-as-you-go funding structure, a municipal bond
rate of 3.50% was used to determine the total pension liability for the program (Bond
Buyer General Obligation 20-Bond Municipal Bond Index). Mortality assumptions
for both plans were based on the Generational RP-2000 with Projection Scale BB
tables.
Florida Retirement System Pension Plan
There were changes in actuarial assumptions. As of June 30, 2019, the inflation rate
assumption remained at 2.6 percent, the real payroll growth assumption was .065
percent, and the overall payroll growth rate assumption remained at 3.25 percent.
The long-term expected rate of return was reduced from 7.00 percent to 6.90
percent.
Health Insurance Subsidy Pension Plan
The municipal rate used to determine total pension liability decreased from 3.87
percent to 3.50 percent.

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
September 30, 2019
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Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources
In accordance with GASB 68, paragraphs 54 and 71, changes in the net pension
liability are recognized in pension expense in the current measurement period, except
as indicated below. For each of the following, a portion is recognized in pension
expense in the current reporting period, and the balance is amortized as deferred
outflows or deferred inflows of resources using a systematic and rational method over
a closed period, as defined below:
• Differences between expected and actual experience with regard to economic
and demographic factors - amortized over the average expected remaining
service life of all employees that are provided with pensions through the
pension plan (active and inactive employees)
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• Changes of assumptions or other inputs - amortized over the average
expected remaining service life of all employees that are provided with
pensions through the pension plan (active and inactive employees)
• Changes in proportion and differences between contributions and
proportionate share of contributions - amortized over the average expected
remaining service life of all employees that are provided with pensions through
the pension plan (active and inactive employees)
• Differences between expected and actual earnings on pension plan investments
- amortized over five years
Employer contributions to the pension plans from employers are not included in
collective pension expense. However, employee contributions are used to reduce
pension expense.
The average expected remaining service life of all employees provided with pensions
through the pension plans at June 30, 2019, was 6.4 years for FRS (6.4 years in FY
18) and 7.2 years (7.2 for FY 18) for HIS.
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CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE NET OPEB LIABILITY AND
RELATED RATIOS GASB 75
September 30, 2019

Changes in Employer's Net OPEB Liability and Related Ratios as of September 30:
Net OPEB Liability
Service Cost
Interest Cost
Changes in Benefit Terms
Differences Between Expected and Actual Experience
Changes in Assumptions
Benefit Payments
Net Change in total OPEB Liability
Net OPEB Liability - Beginning of Year
Net OPEB Liability - End of Year

$

$

2019
5,265 $
1,398
(16,928)
3,847
(6,921)
(13,339)
38,122
24,783 $

2018
5,300
1,258
(879)
(5,651)
28
38,094
38,122

NOTE: Information for FY 2017 and earlier is not available.

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as of September 30:
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Contributions - Employer
Net Investment Income
Benefit Payments
Administrative Expense
Net Change in Fiduciary Net Position
Fiduciary Net Position - Beginning of Year
Fiduciary Net Position - End of Year

$

$

Net OPEB Liability
Fiduciary Net Position as a % of Total OPEB Liability
Covered-Employee Payroll
Net OPEB Liability as a % of Payroll

2,019
-

2018

$

$

24,783
0.00%
$

1,778,338 $
1.39%

Expected Average Remaining Service Years of All Participants

38,122
0.00%
1,634,957
2.33%

8.7

NOTE: Information for FY 2017 and earlier is not available.

Notes to the Schedule:
Benefit Changes
Changes of Assumptions
9/30/17
9/30/18
9/30/19

-

None
The discount rate was changed as follows:
4.00%
3.50%
3.83%

Population covered by Plan: 32 active 0 inactive
Plan has no specific trust established and no assets were assigned for OPEB by the Authority.
The estimated cost load decreased from 10.4% to 8.9%
Decrease in per capita claim cost.
Increase in retiree participation assumption from 50% to 65%.

ADDITIONAL REPORTS
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND
OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF BASIC FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE
WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

Board of Commissioners
Charlotte County Airport Authority
28000 A-1 Airport Road
Punta Gorda, Florida 33982
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We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States of America, the basic financial
statements of the business-type activities of Charlotte County Airport Authority (the "Authority")
which comprise the statement of net position as of September 30, 2019, and the related
statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position and cash flows for the year then
ended and the related notes to the financial statements and have issued our report thereon dated
January 22, 2020.
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered Charlotte County
Airport Authority's internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on
the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
Charlotte County Airport Authority's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Charlotte County Airport Authority's internal control.
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent,
or detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or
combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a
material misstatement of the basic financial statements will not be prevented or detected and
corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of
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deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough
to merit attention by those charged with governance.
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph
of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did
not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses, as
defined previously. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.
Compliance and Other Matters
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Charlotte County Airport Authority's
financial statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grants, noncompliance with which could have
a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However,
providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit and,
accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed one instance of
noncompliance that is required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards as noted in
our Independent Auditor's Report to Management dated January 22, 2020.
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Purpose of This Report
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Authority's internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Authority's internal control and
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

TUSCAN & COMPANY, P.A.
Fort Myers, Florida
January 22, 2020
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Independent Auditor's Report on Compliance for Each Major
Program/Project and on Internal Control Over Compliance Required by
the Uniform Guidance
Board of Commissioners
Charlotte County Airport Authority
28000 A-1 Airport Road
Punta Gorda, Florida 33982
Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program
We have audited Charlotte County Airport Authority's compliance with the types of compliance
requirements described in the OMB Compliance Supplement as applicable, that could have a
direct and material effect on each of Charlotte County Airport Authority's major federal programs
for the year ended September 30, 2019. Charlotte County Airport Authority's major federal
programs are identified in the summary of auditor’s results section of the accompanying schedule
of findings and questioned costs.
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Management’s Responsibility
Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts,
and grants applicable to its major federal programs.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of Charlotte County Airport
Authority's major federal programs based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements
referred to above. We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits
contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United
States of America; and audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200,
"Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal
Awards" ("Uniform Guidance"). Those standards, and the Uniform Guidance require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types
of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on a
major federal program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about
Charlotte County Airport Authority's compliance with those requirements and performing such
other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.
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We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each
major federal program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of Charlotte
County Airport Authority's compliance with those requirements.
Opinion on Each Major Federal Program
In our opinion, Charlotte County Airport Authority complied, in all material respects, with the
types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on
each of its major federal programs for the year ended September 30, 2019.
Report on Internal Control Over Compliance
Management of Charlotte County Airport Authority is responsible for establishing and maintaining
effective internal control over compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to
above. In planning and performing our audit of compliance, we considered Charlotte County
Airport Authority's internal control over compliance with the types of requirements that could have
a direct and material effect on each major federal program to determine the auditing procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on compliance
for each major federal program and to test and report on internal control over compliance in
accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on
the effectiveness of Charlotte County Airport Authority's internal control over compliance.
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A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control
over compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing
their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct noncompliance with a type of
compliance requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal
control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over
compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of
compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on
a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance
requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control
over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the
first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control
over compliance that might be deficiencies, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did
not identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material
weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.
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Purpose of the Report
The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of
our testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the
requirements of OMB Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other
purpose.

TUSCAN & COMPANY, P.A.
Fort Myers, Florida
January 22, 2020
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CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
Page 61 of 66
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS - FEDERAL AWARDS
Year ended September 30, 2019
Section I – Summary of Auditor’s Results
Financial Statements
Type of auditor's report issued
Internal control over financial reporting:
Control deficiency(ies) identified?
Significant deficiency(ies) identified?
Material weakness(es) identified?
Noncompliance material to financial statements
noted?

Unmodified
Yes
Yes
Yes

X
X
X

No
No
None reported

Yes

X

No

Federal Awards
Internal control over major programs:
Control deficiency(ies) identified?
Significant deficiency(ies) identified?
Material weakness(es) identified?
Type of auditors report issued on compliance for
major programs
Unmodified
Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be
reported in accordance with 2 CFR,
Section 200.516(a)?

DRAFT
Yes
Yes
Yes

X
X
X

No
No
None reported

Yes

X

No

Identification of major programs (Type A):
CFDA
Number(s)
20.106
20.106
20.106

Name of Federal Program or Cluster
U.S. Department of Transportation
Federal Aviation Administration - AIP 37
Federal Aviation Administration - AIP 36
Federal Aviation Administration - AIP 35

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between
Type A and Type B programs
Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?

Threshold used was $750,000.
X

Yes

No

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS - FEDERAL
AWARDS, CONTINUED
Year ended September 30, 2019
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Listing of Subrecipients and matching amounts passed-through:
None - not applicable
Section II- Financial Statement Findings
There were no deficiencies, material weaknesses, or instances of noncompliance related to
the financial statements.
Section III- Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs
There were no audit findings related to Federal Awards required to be reported by 2 CFR,
Section 200.516(a).
Section IV- Status of Federal Prior Year Findings
There were no prior year findings.
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INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANT'S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE
WITH SECTION 218.415, FLORIDA STATUTES
Board of Commissioners
Charlotte County Airport Authority
28000 A-1 Airport Road
Punta Gorda, Florida 33982
We have examined Charlotte County Airport Authority's compliance with Section 218.415,
Florida Statutes, regarding the investment of public funds during the year ended September 30,
2019. Management is responsible for Charlotte County Airport Authority's compliance with those
requirements. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on Charlotte County Airport Authority's
compliance based on our examination.
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Our examination was conducted in accordance with attestation standards established by the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and, accordingly, included examining, on a test
basis, evidence about Charlotte County Airport Authority's compliance with those requirements
and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We
believe that our examination provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. Our examination does
not provide a legal determination on Charlotte County Airport Authority's compliance with
specified requirements.
In our opinion, Charlotte County Airport Authority complied, in all material respects, with the
aforementioned requirements for the year ended September 30, 2019.
This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Charlotte County Airport Authority
and the Auditor General, State of Florida, and is not intended to be and should not be used by
anyone other than these specified parties.

TUSCAN & COMPANY, P.A.
Fort Myers, Florida
January 22, 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO MANAGEMENT
Board of Commissioners
Charlotte County Airport Authority
28000 A-1 Airport Road
Punta Gorda, Florida 33982
We have audited the accompanying basic financial statements of Charlotte County Airport
Authority (the "Authority") as of and for the year ended September 30, 2019 and have issued our
report thereon dated January 22, 2020.
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We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States of America and Chapter
10.550, Rules of the Florida Auditor General. We have issued our Independent Auditor's Report
on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and Compliance and Other Matters based on an
Audit of the Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards.
Disclosures in that report, which is dated January 22, 2020, should be considered in conjunction
with this report to management.
Additionally, our audit was conducted in accordance with Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Auditor
General, which governs the conduct of local governmental entity audits performed in the State of
Florida. This letter included the following information, which is not included in the aforementioned
auditor's report:
∙ Section 10.554(1)(i)1., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we determine whether
or not corrective actions have been taken to address findings and recommendations
made in the preceding annual financial audit report. There were no prior year financially
significant comments.
∙ Section 10.554(1)(i)2., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we address in the
management letter any recommendations to improve financial management. One such
recommendation was noted to improve financial management.
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∙ Section 10.554(1)(i)3., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we address
noncompliance with provisions of contracts or grant agreements, or abuse, that have an
effect on the financial statements that is less than material but more than inconsequential.
In connection with our audit, we did not have any such findings.
∙ Section 10.554(1)(i)4., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that the name or official
title and legal authority for the primary government and each component unit of the
reporting entity be disclosed in the management letter, unless disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements. The Authority discloses this information in the notes to the financial
statements.
∙ Section 10.554(1)(i)5.a., Rules of the Auditor General, requires a statement be included
as to whether or not the local government entity has met one or more of the conditions
described in Section 218.503(1), Florida Statutes, and identification of the specific
condition(s) met. In connection with our audit, we determined that the Authority did not
meet any of the conditions described in Section 218.503(1), Florida Statutes.
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∙ Pursuant to Sections 10.554(1)(i)5.b. and 10.556(7), Rules of the Auditor General, we
have applied financial condition assessment procedures. It is management's responsibility
to monitor the Authority's financial condition, and our financial condition assessment was
based in part on representations made by management and the review of financial
information provided by same.
∙ Pursuant to Section 10.554(1)(i)5.c., Rules of the Auditor General, requires a statement
indicating a failure, if any, of a component unit special district to provide financial
information necessary to a proper reporting of the component unit within the audited
financial statements of this entity (F.S. Section 218.39(3)(b)). There are no known
component special districts required to report within these financial statements.
∙ Section 10.556(10)(a), Rules of the Auditor General, requires that the scope of our audit
to determine the entity's compliance with the provisions of Section 218.415, Florida
Statutes, regarding the investment of public funds. In connection with our audit, we
determined that the Authority complied with Section 218.415, Florida Statutes as
reported in our Independent Accountant's Report on Compliance with Section 218.415,
Florida Statutes dated January 22, 2020, included herein.
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PRIOR YEAR COMMENTS:
Capital Assets Should by Permanently Identified and Marked
During the audit, we noted two (2) out of twenty-five (25) capital assets tested for
compliance with Administrative Code 69I-73 did not appear to have an assigned
identification number permanently marked on the capital asset. Per Administrative Code
69I-73, capital assets must be permanently marked with an identification number
matching the fixed asset software report. Although the capital assets tested appeared to
be well maintained and in good condition, we recommend all capital assets contain
permanently marked identification numbers per Florida Administrative Code 69I-73.
Current Year Addendum:
During the audit, we tested twenty-five (25) capital assets for compliance with
Florida Administrative Code 69I-73. Out of the twenty-five (25) capital assets tested,
two (2) asset tag identification numbers did not agree to the Authority's records and
two (2) assets did not have identification tags permanently marked on them.
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We continue to recommend that all capital assets be permanently marked with
identification numbers and that all identification numbers agree to corresponding
Authority records.
CURRENT YEAR COMMENTS:

There are no current year financially significant comments noted except as noted above.
Pursuant to Chapter 119, Florida Statutes, this management letter is a public record and its
distribution is not limited. Auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America
require us to indicate that this letter is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of
Commissioners, management, the Auditor General of the State of Florida and other Federal and
State agencies. This report is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than
these specified parties.

TUSCAN & COMPANY, P.A.
Fort Myers, Florida
January 22, 2020

EXHIBIT
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STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

STATE INFRASTRUCTURE BANK
LOAN AGREEMENT
CFDA Number: 20.205
DUNS: 80-939-7102

THIS AGREEMENT, is dated as of _________________, 2020, and is entered into
between the STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION, an agency of the
State of Florida (the “Department”), and the CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY,
a special district of the State of Florida of the State of Florida (the “Borrower”).
RECITALS
A.

The Department has established a federally-funded State infrastructure bank (“SIB”) in
accordance with the provisions of the Transportation Equity Act for the 21st Century,
Public Law 105-178, title 1, §1511, June 9, 1998, 112 Stat. 251 (the “Federal
Authorization”) and a State Infrastructure Bank Cooperative Agreement between the
Department, the Federal Highway Administration, the Federal Transit Administration, and
the Federal Railroad Administration, effective July 28, 1999 (the “Cooperative
Agreement”).

B.

Under the Federal Authorization, the Cooperative Agreement, and Sections
339.08(1)(d),(g), and (h), Florida Statutes, the Department may make loans or provide
other forms of credit assistance to a public or private entity to carry out transportation
projects eligible for assistance under the Federal Authorization.

C.

The Borrower has applied for a SIB loan for a capital improvement project.

D.

The Department has determined that the project meets the requirements for a SIB loan.
AGREEMENT

In consideration of the Department making the loan to the Borrower, in the principal
amount and pursuant to the covenants expressed in this Agreement, and intending to be legally
bound by this Agreement, the Department and the Borrower agree as follows:
ARTICLE I – DEFINITIONS
1.01

WORDS AND TERMS.

In addition to the words and terms elsewhere defined in this Agreement, the following
words and terms shall have the meanings set forth below:
(1)
"Agreement" or “Loan Agreement” shall mean this loan agreement and all exhibits
and schedules attached hereto and any and all modifications, alterations, amendments and
supplements hereto made in accordance with the provisions hereof..
(2)

"Agreement Date" means the date first written above by the Department.

(3)
"Authorized Representative" means the official or officials of the Borrower
authorized to sign documents associated with the Loan.
(4)
“Borrower Fiscal Year” means the period commencing on October 1 of each year
and continuing through the next succeeding September 30, or such other period as may be
prescribed by law.
(5)
“Capitalized Interest” means a finance charge that accrues on Loan proceeds from
the time of disbursement. Capitalized Interest is financed as part of the Loan principal.
(6)
“Disbursement” means the amounts of the Loan disbursed by the Department on
behalf of or to the Borrower (in the aggregate, "Disbursements").
(7)
“Effective Date” means the latter of the Agreement Date or July 1 of the State Fiscal
Year in which the Loan is programmed in the Department’s work program.
(8)

"Event of Default" has the meaning provided in Section 6.01.

(9)
"Financing Rate" means the charges, expressed as a percent per annum, imposed
on the unpaid principal of the Loan.
(10)
"Loan" means the loan made to the Borrower pursuant to this Agreement in the
maximum initial principal amount of Nine Million One Hundred Eight Five Thousand Two
Hundred Thirty Seven and 50/100 Dollars ($9,185,237.50).
(11)
"Loan Application" means the completed forms which provide all information
required to support obtaining the Loan, including the form application and the letter of interest
submitted by the Borrower.
(12) "Loan Payment" means the periodic loan payment due from the Borrower under
the terms of this Agreement (in the aggregate, “Loan Payments”).
(13) “Operations and Maintenance Expense” shall mean the costs of operating and
maintaining the revenue producing facilities of the Borrower, determined pursuant to generally
accepted accounting principles, exclusive of interest on any debt payable from gross revenues,
depreciation, and any other items not requiring the expenditure of cash.
(14) “Outstanding Parity Obligation” means the loan in the maximum initial principal
amount of Five Million Five Hundred Twelve Thousand Two Hundred Eighty Two and 34/100
Dollars ($5,512,282.34) extended by the Department to the Borrower pursuant to the State
Infrastructure Bank loan agreement dated May 7, 2012, between the Department and the Borrower,
as amended by the First Amendment to State Infrastructure Bank Loan Agreement effective as of
September 25, 2017.
(15)
"Pledged Revenues" means the specific revenues pledged as security for
repayment of the Loan. The Pledged Revenues for repayment of the Loan shall be the Federal
Aviation Administration Airport Improvement Program funds payable to the Borrower and the net
Revenues of the Borrower after payment of Operations and Maintenance Expense and any senior
obligations issued pursuant to Section 4.02 of this Agreement. Passenger facility charges shall only
be included in Pledged Revenues to the extent use of such charges for the Project has been
approved by the Federal Aviation Administration.
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(16) "Project" means the state capital outlay project financed by this Loan, consisting of
improvements to relocate the Borrower’s existing general aviation facilities, develop the general
aviation apron, taxiway, buildings, hangers and parking facilities, as more fully described in the
Loan Application, in accordance with applicable law and the summary included in Exhibit A.
(17) “Revenues” means the gross revenues of the Borrower, including passenger facility
charges, customer facility charges, user fees and other items characterized as revenues under
generally accepted accounting principles.
(18)

"State" means the State of Florida.

(19) "State Fiscal Year" shall mean the period commencing on July 1 of each year and
ending on June 30 of the succeeding year.
(20) "State Infrastructure Bank" or "SIB" means the federally-funded State
Infrastructure Bank created pursuant to the Cooperative Agreement.
1.02

CORRELATIVE WORDS.

Words of the masculine gender include correlative words of the feminine and neuter
genders. Unless the context otherwise indicates, the singular includes the plural and the word
"person" includes departments and associations, including public bodies, as well as natural
persons.
ARTICLE II - WARRANTIES, REPRESENTATIONS AND COVENANTS
2.01

GENERAL WARRANTIES, REPRESENTATIONS AND COVENANTS.
The Borrower warrants, represents, and covenants that:

(1)
The Borrower is duly organized, validly existing, and in good standing under the
laws of the State of Florida.
(2)
The Borrower has full power and authority to enter into and comply with the
provisions of this Agreement and shall initiate and prosecute to completion all proceedings
necessary to enable the Borrower to provide the necessary funds for repayment of the Loan.
(3)
This Agreement has been duly authorized, executed, and delivered by the Borrower
and constitutes a valid and legally binding obligation of the Borrower, enforceable against the
Borrower in accordance with the terms hereof.
(4)
The Borrower’s execution of this Agreement and compliance with the terms of this
Agreement will not result in a default by the Borrower under the terms of any contract, bond, note,
or financing arrangement to which the Borrower is a party.
(5)
All consents required to be obtained by the Borrower from, and any notice or filing
required to be given by the Borrower to, or made by the Borrower with, any person (including any
governmental authority) in connection with the execution, delivery and performance by the
Borrower of this Agreement have respectively been obtained, given, and made by the Borrower.
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(6)
The Borrower currently is not the subject of bankruptcy, insolvency, or
reorganization proceedings and is not in default of, or otherwise subject to, any agreement or any
law, administrative regulation, judgment, decree, note, resolution, charter or ordinance which
would currently restrain or enjoin it from entering into, or complying with, this Agreement.
(7)
There is no material action, suit, proceeding, inquiry, or investigation, at law or in
equity, before any court or public body, pending or, to the best of the Borrower’s knowledge,
threatened, which seeks to restrain or enjoin the Borrower from entering into or complying with
this Agreement.
(8)
All permits, real property interests, and approvals required as of the date of this
Agreement have been or will be obtained for construction and use of the Project. Prior to any
Disbursement, the Borrower shall obtain all material permits and approvals necessary for the phase
of construction of the Project for which such Disbursement relates. The Borrower knows of no
reason why any future required permits or approvals are not obtainable.
(9)
All Borrower representations to the Department, pursuant to the Loan Application
and this Agreement, were and are true and accurate as of the date the Loan Application and this
Agreement were each executed by the Borrower. The financial information delivered by the
Borrower to the Department was current and correct as of its date. Since the date of such financial
information, there has not been any material adverse change in the financial condition or revenues
and expenditures of the Borrower, or in the collection of the Pledged Revenues. The Borrower
shall comply with all applicable State and Federal laws, rules, and regulations. To the extent that
any assurance, representation, or covenant requires a future action, the Borrower shall take such
action as is necessary for compliance.
(10) The Borrower has the authority to pledge the Pledged Revenues as security for
repayment of the Loan and no election or referendum is required to make the pledge of the Pledge
Revenues valid and legally enforceable. The Federal Aviation Administration has approved the
imposition and use of a passenger facility charge to pay costs of the Project.
(11) Upon execution by the Department of this Agreement, the Department's lien on the
Pledged Revenues shall be enforceable in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.
(12) The Borrower has not pledged, or otherwise granted any interest in, the Pledged
Revenues in a manner that would create a lien senior to, or on parity with, the lien of the
Department against the Pledged Revenues under the terms of this Agreement.
(13) The Borrower reasonably anticipates that the Pledged Revenues will be sufficient
to pay all Loan Payments when due. In the event the anticipated Pledged Revenues are at any time
projected to be insufficient to make the Loan Payments when due, the Borrower shall immediately
notify the Department.
(14)

The Borrower shall undertake the Project on its own responsibility.

(15) The Borrower shall adhere to accepted governmental accounting principles
established by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. As part of its bookkeeping system,
the Borrower shall keep accounts of the Project separate from all other accounts and it shall keep
accurate records of all expenditures relating to the Project and Loan disbursement receipts.
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(16) Pursuant to Section 216.347 of the Florida Statutes, the Borrower shall not use the
Loan proceeds for the purpose of lobbying the Florida Legislature, the Judicial Branch, or a State
agency. The Borrower shall not use the Loan proceeds to influence any officer or employee of a
Federal agency, member of Congress or an employee of a member of Congress, or officer or
employee of Congress. The Borrower certifies, to the best of its knowledge and belief, that:
(a)
No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on
behalf of the Borrower, to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or
employee of any Federal agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or
an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with the awarding of any Federal contract,
the making of any Federal grant, the making of any Federal loan, the entering into of any
cooperative agreement, and the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, or modification of
any Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement.
(b)
If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will
be paid to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any
Federal agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a
Member of Congress in connection with this Loan, the Borrower shall complete and submit
Standard Form-LLL, "Disclosure Form to Report Lobbying," in accordance with its instructions.
(c)
The Borrower acknowledges that the certifications made in paragraphs (a)
and (b) are material representations of fact upon which the Department is relying in entering into
this Loan Agreement.
(d)
The Borrower shall include the certifications in paragraphs (a) and (b) of
this subsection in all of its agreements and contracts related to the Project entered into subsequent
to the date hereof and shall require that such certifications be included in all lower tier subcontracts
or agreements for the performance of work on the Project.
(17) The Borrower has established, and will maintain, a written code or standard of
conduct applicable to its officers, employees, board members or agents, and those individuals’
relatives, that prohibits their involvement in the selection, award, or administration of any contract
in connection with the Project if they have a present or potential financial or other significant
interest therein and prohibits the acceptance of any gratuity, favor, or other thing of monetary value
from any person interested or involved in the performance of work on the Project.
(18) The Borrower covenants that this Agreement is entered into for the purpose of
constructing and acquiring the Project which will in all events serve a public purpose. The
Borrower covenants that it will, under all conditions, complete and operate the Project to fulfill
the public need.
(19) The Borrower shall submit to the Department such data, reports, records, contracts
and other documents as the Department may request in order to ascertain the performance by the
Borrower of its obligations under this Agreement. The Department shall have the right to conduct
on-site monitoring visits and audits, and the Borrower shall cooperate and assist the Department
in the reasonable inspection and audit of books, records, accounts, data and other information
related to the Project, and in copying and removing the same for such purposes at all reasonable
times. The Borrower shall provide additional information as deemed appropriate by the
Department.
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2.02

LEGAL AUTHORIZATION.

Upon signing this Agreement, the Borrower’s legal counsel shall deliver an opinion in the
Form attached as Exhibit E hereto.
ARTICLE III – THE LOAN
3.01

PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF LOAN.

The Department agrees to lend to the Borrower, and the Borrower agrees to repay the
Department the Loan at the times, in the amounts, and in the manner specified in this Agreement.
The principal amount of the Loan as of any date shall consist of the aggregate Disbursements, plus
Capitalized Interest that has accrued and been added to the principal amount of the Loan, plus
interest other than Capitalized Interest, if any, that has accrued and been added to the principal
amount of the Loan, less the aggregate principal component of all Loan Payments made, all as of
such date.
3.02

FINANCING RATE.

Beginning on the date of the first Disbursement, interest shall accrue on the principal
amount of the Loan at the Financing Rate. The Financing Rate is 2.0% per annum, compounded
annually, using an actual-days-elapsed/365 day counting convention, as indicated by the schedule
of Loan Payments attached hereto as Exhibit B.
3.03

LOAN DISBURSEMENTS.

No Disbursement will be made to fund work on the Project performed prior to the Effective
Date of this Agreement. The Department shall otherwise disburse the Loan at such times and in
such amounts as are required to fund the Borrower’s required payments to its contractor for
progress on the Project. The Disbursement/Payment Schedule attached as Exhibit B reflects the
currently estimated total Disbursements during each State Fiscal Year in which the Loan is
currently expected to disburse. Prior to each Disbursement, the Borrower shall provide a
completed Disbursement Request Form substantially in the form attached as Exhibit C, and such
other certificates or documents as the Department may reasonably request from time to time.
Upon written request by the Borrower, the Department may, in its sole and absolute
discretion, amend the Disbursement Schedule to take into account unexpected events or reasonable
adjustments to the financing of the Project, including, but not limited to, increases or decreases in
the Disbursement amounts and acceleration or delays in the construction of the Project. The
Department may, in its sole and absolute discretion, adjust the Loan Payment Schedule attached
hereto as Exhibit B to take into account the adjustments permitted by the previous sentence.
Under no circumstances shall the sum of the disbursements to the Borrower exceed
$9,185,237.50. The Department's obligation to fund any Disbursement is subject to funds being
made available by an appropriation made pursuant to Florida law.
Disbursements will only be made for eligible capital costs actually incurred for the Project,
as determined by the Department. No Disbursement will be made for work on the Project selfperformed by the Borrower (including work performed by affiliates of the Borrower), travel or
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overhead of the Borrower. For the purpose of this paragraph “affiliate” means a predecessor,
successor, parent, or subsidiary of the Borrower; any business entity in which a member, officer,
director, or owner of the Borrower has a financial interest; and the officers, directors, executives,
members, and shareholders of the Borrower and its affiliates. Travel expenses incurred by the
Borrower’s consultants or contractors shall only be eligible for payment through a Disbursement
when incurred in accordance with Section 112.061, Florida Statutes. Requests for Disbursement
to pay consultant or contractor travel expenses shall include a completed Department Contractor
Travel Form No. 300-000-06.
The Borrower shall utilize the Disbursements solely for eligible costs of the Project. The
Department will have no obligation to make any Disbursement under this Agreement in the event
that the Department has notified the Borrower that an event of default has occurred under this or
any other agreement between the Borrower and the Department, or if the Department, in its sole
discretion, determines that events have occurred which substantially diminish the likelihood that
the Borrower will timely and fully honor its obligations under this Agreement or any other
agreement between the Department and the Borrower. Any waiver of this provision by
disbursement following an event of default by the Borrower under the terms of this Agreement, or
any other agreement between the Borrower and the Department, will not constitute a continuing
waiver of this provision and the Department may refuse to make further Disbursements without
any liability to the Borrower whatsoever.
3.04

LOAN PAYMENTS.

Loan Payments shall be made at the time and in the amounts stated in the Loan
Disbursement/Payment Schedule attached as Exhibit B. To the extent the actual principal amount
of the Loan calculated as provided in Section 3.01 above is less than the maximum initial principal
amount of the Loan identified in Section 1.01, the amount of the scheduled Loan Payment credited
to principal shall increase and the Loan Disbursement/Payment Schedule shall be adjusted, so that
the Loan is paid in full over a shorter amount of time. Notwithstanding the foregoing, however, if
the actual principal amount of the Loan calculated as provided in Section 3.01 above is less than
the maximum initial principal amount of the Loan identified in Section 1.01, the parties to this
Agreement hereby agree to adjust the Loan Disbursement/Payment Schedule in such a way as to
not adversely impact any obligations of the Department secured by repayments under this
Agreement.
Loan Payments shall be credited first to interest accruing on the principal amount of the
Loan, if any, then to principal.
If at any time the Borrower has advance notice that it will not be able to pay any loan
payment when due, the Borrower shall immediately notify the Department of such inability to
make the required payment. Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, the
Borrower may prepay this Loan only upon the express written consent of the Department, which
consent shall not be withheld if such prepayment, in the judgment of the Department and the State
of Florida Division of Bond Finance, will not adversely impact the Department's ability to comply
with covenants relating to obligations secured by such Loan.
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ARTICLE IV – PLEDGED REVENUES
4.01

PLEDGE TO THE DEPARTMENT.

The Borrower hereby irrevocably and unconditionally pledges the Pledged Revenues to the
Department for payment of the Loan. The Pledged Revenues shall immediately be subject to the
lien of this pledge without any physical delivery thereof or further act, and the lien of this pledge
shall be valid and binding as against all parties having claims of any kind in tort, contract, or
otherwise against the Borrower. From and after the Agreement Date, the Department shall have a
lien on the Pledged Revenues, which along with the lien of the Department under the Outstanding
Parity Obligation and any other Department liens on the Pledged Revenues, will be prior and
superior to any other lien, pledge or assignment. The Borrower shall not take any action with
respect to the Pledged Revenues that would be inconsistent with this pledge. Additionally, upon
the occurrence of an Event of Default by the Borrower, the Borrower hereby assigns to the
Department the right to receive the Pledged Revenues to the extent necessary to pay the full amount
owing under this Agreement.
4.02

ADDITIONAL DEBT OBLIGATIONS.

The Borrower may not issue additional debt obligations on a parity with, or senior to, the
lien of the Department on the Pledged Revenues, without the Department’s prior written consent.
4.03

COLLECTION OF PLEDGED REVENUES.

The Borrower shall use its best efforts to collect all Pledged Revenues and shall take no
action to impair the collection of the Pledged Revenues.
4.04

RATE COVERAGE.

To the extent that the Pledged Revenues are derived from revenues that may be adjusted
by the Borrower, the Borrower shall maintain rates and charges generating such revenues at a level
sufficient to provide, in each Borrower Fiscal Year, Pledged Revenues equal to or exceeding 1.2
times the sum of the Loan Payments due in such Borrower Fiscal Year under the Loan and the
Outstanding Parity Obligation. In addition, the Borrower shall satisfy the coverage requirements
of any senior and parity debt obligations permitted to be issued pursuant to Section 4.02 above.
4.05

NO FREE SERVICE.

To the extent the Pledged Revenues are derived from revenues that may be adjusted by the
Borrower, the Borrower shall not, except to the extent otherwise required by law, permit access to
property or furnish any service that generates such revenues without making such charge therefore
based on the Borrower’s uniform schedule of rates, fees, and charges.
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ARTICLE V – THE PROJECT
5.01

PROJECT.

The Borrower shall commence and complete the Project as described in Exhibit A with all
practical dispatch, in a sound, economical, and efficient manner, and in accordance with the
provisions of this Agreement.
(1)
The Borrower shall complete the Project in accordance with all applicable Federal
and State laws, Federal regulations, State rules, and Federal guidance. The Borrower shall require
its contractors and consultants to comply with all applicable Federal and State laws and regulations
in performing any work on the Project and shall require its contractors to include all provisions
required by Federal and State law and regulations in all lower tier agreements related to the Project.
The Borrower shall comply with and include the applicable provisions described in Appendix II
to Part 200 — Contract Provisions for non-Federal Entity Contracts Under Federal Awards — in
each contract it enters into for the Project. The Borrower acknowledges that Federal and State
laws, regulations, rules, and guidance may change and all applicable changes will apply to this
Agreement and all other agreements related to the Project.
(2)
Prior to any Disbursement, the Borrower shall have an interest in real property
sufficient for the construction and location of the Project free and clear of liens and encumbrances
which would impair the usefulness of the Project site for its intended use. The Borrower shall
have obtained, prior to any Disbursement, all permits and approvals required for construction of
the Project or portion of the Project funded under this Agreement.
(3)
Consultants Competitive Negotiation Act: It is understood and agreed by the
parties that participation by the Department in a project that involves a consultant contract for
engineering, architecture or surveying services by the Borrower, is contingent on the Borrower
complying in full with provisions of Chapter 287, Florida Statutes, Consultants Competitive
Negotiation Act and the Federal Brooks Act, 23 CFR 172, and 23 USC 112.
(4)
Disadvantaged Business Enterprise Policy and Obligation: It is the policy of the
Department that disadvantaged business enterprises as defined in 49 CFR Part 23, as amended,
shall have the maximum opportunity to participate in the performance of contracts financed in
whole or in part with funds disbursed by the Department under this Agreement.
The Borrower agrees to ensure, and shall require its contractors to ensure, that
Disadvantaged Business Enterprises as defined in 49 CFR Part 26, as amended, have the maximum
opportunity to participate in the performance of contracts and this Agreement. In this regard, all
recipients, and contractors shall take all necessary and reasonable steps in accordance with 49 CFR
Part 26, as amended, to ensure that the Disadvantaged Business Enterprises have the maximum
opportunity to compete for and perform contracts.
(5)
Equal Employment Opportunity: In connection with carrying out the Project, the
Borrower shall not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of
race, age, religion, color, sex, disability, or national origin. The Borrower shall impose the same
prohibition on its contractors and consultants performing work on the Project and shall require its
contractors to ensure that this prohibition is imposed in every contract, at any tier, for work on the
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Project. The Equal Opportunity Clause contained in 41 CFR section 60-1.4 is included in this
Agreement by reference.
(6)

Prohibited Interests:

(a)
The Borrower shall comply with the non-collusion provisions of 23 USC section
112 and the implementing regulations in advertising and awarding any contract for performance
of the construction work.
(b)
Neither the Borrower nor any of its contractors, subcontractors, consultants, or
subconsultants shall enter into any contract with one another, or arrangement in connection with
the Project or any property included or planned to be included in the Project, which violates any
provision of Chapter 112, Florida Statutes, relating to conflicts of interest and prohibited
transactions. The Borrower shall further diligently abide by all provisions of Florida law
regulating the Borrower with respect to procurement, contracting, and ethics. The Borrower shall
insert in all contracts entered into in connection with the Project subsequent to the date hereof, and
shall hereafter require its contractors and consultants to insert in each of their contracts the
following provision:
"The Borrower is governed in its contracts and transactions by provisions of Florida law
relating to conflicts of interest, prohibited transactions, and ethics in government. All parties to
contracts with the Borrower relating to this project shall familiarize themselves with Chapter 112,
Florida Statutes, and with general Florida law regulating the Borrower’s ethical requirements,
prohibitions, and limitations with respect to procurement and subsequent contracts."
The provisions of this paragraph shall not be applicable to any agreement between the
Borrower and its fiscal depositories, or to any agreement for utility services the rates for which are
fixed or controlled by a governmental agency.
(7)
Debarment and Suspension: The Borrower shall not enter into any arrangement to
participate in the development or implementation of the Project with any person or entity that is
debarred or suspended except as authorized by applicable Federal law and regulations. If required
by applicable Federal law and regulations, the Borrower will review the U.S. GSA System of
Award Management at https://www.sam.gov. The Borrower shall include the requirements of this
subsection (7) in each of its contracts related to the Project and shall require its contractors and
consultants to include similar requirements in each of their contracts related to the Project.
Execution of this Agreement constitutes a certification that the Borrower is in compliance with,
and will require its contractors and subcontractors to comply with, all requirements imposed by
applicable federal, state, and local laws and regulations, including the “Certification Regarding
Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility and Voluntary Exclusion – Lower Tier Covered
Transactions,” in 49 CFR Part 29, and 2 CFR Part 200 when applicable.
(8)
The Borrower shall include a provision in each contract subsequent to the date
hereof it enters into with a private entity in connection with the Project by which the Borrower’s
contractor agrees that it and its employees that perform any work on the Project shall not, during
the term of this Agreement, engage in trafficking in persons, procure a commercial sex act, or use
forced labor in the performance of work on the Project.
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5.02

PROJECT CHANGES.

The Borrower covenants and agrees that it will not change the scope of the Project or alter
the nature of the Project in any material fashion, or substitute any other project for the Project,
without the prior written approval of the Department. The Borrower may make any additions,
modifications or improvements to the Project which it deems desirable and which do not materially
adversely affect the ability of the Borrower to meet its obligations under this Agreement.
5.03

ENVIRONMENTAL POLLUTION.

The Borrower will carry out the Project in conformance with all applicable environmental
laws and regulations including the securing of any applicable permits. The Borrower will be solely
responsible for any liability in the event of non-compliance with applicable environmental
regulations, including the securing of any applicable permits, and will reimburse the Department
for any loss incurred in connection therewith. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, in
connection with the Project, the Borrower will not use any facilities that are in violation of the
Clean Air Act or Federal Water Pollution Control Act, will report the use of facilities placed on or
likely to be placed on the U.S. EPA “List of Violating Facilities”, will report the use of prohibited
facilities to the Federal Transit Administration and the Regional U.S. EPA Office, and shall
comply with Section 306 of the Clean Air Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 7606, and other
requirements of the Clean Air Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§ 7401 - 7671q, and the requirements
of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, as amended, 33 U.S.C. §§ 1251 – 1387.
5.04

PROJECT ACCOUNTING RECORDS

The Borrower shall establish separate accounts for the Project, in conformity with
requirements established by the Department's program guidelines/procedures and "Principles for
State and Local Governments” and 2 CFR Part 225. Documentation regarding the Project accounts
shall be made available to the Department upon request any time during the period of the
Agreement and for five years after final payment is made. All costs charged to the Project,
including any approved services contributed by the Borrower or others, shall be supported by
properly executed payrolls, time records, invoices, contracts, or vouchers evidencing proper detail,
the nature and propriety of the charges.
5.05

PROJECT SCHEDULE, COMPLETION, BORROWER CERTIFICATION.
The Borrower agrees:

(1)
Initiation of Project construction is expected to occur in October, 2020. No work
on the Project prior to execution of this Agreement by the Department will be funded through
Disbursement of the Loan.
(2)
Completion of Project construction is anticipated to occur in October, 2021. Upon
completion of the Project, the Borrower shall certify to the Department in writing that the Project
was completed in accordance with applicable plans and specifications and that the Project has been
accepted by the Borrower as suitable for its intended purpose.
(3)
In addition to the proceeds of this Loan, the Borrower covenants that it has
obtained, or will obtain, sufficient moneys from other sources to complete construction and place
the Project in operation. Failure of the Department to approve additional financing, where
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required, shall not constitute a waiver of the Borrower’s covenant to complete and place the Project
in operation.
5.06

USE AND MAINTENANCE OF PROJECT.

The Borrower shall use the Project facilities and equipment to provide or support public
transportation for the period of the useful life of such facilities and equipment as determined in
accordance with general accounting principles and applicable Federal requirements. The
Borrower will maintain the project facilities and equipment in good working order for the useful
life of the facilities or equipment.
5.07

PROPERTY RECORDS

The Borrower will maintain property records, conduct physical inventories, and develop
control systems as required by 2 CFR Part 200, when applicable.
5.08

INSURANCE.

The Borrower shall cause the Project to be and remain insured by an insurance company
or companies licensed to do and doing business in the State, or shall make such provisions for selfinsurance, against loss or damage due to any accident or casualty in a manner as is reasonable and
prudent for similarly situated governmental entities of the State of Florida. Such insurance or
provisions for self-insurance shall remain in place until such time as the Borrower shall have repaid
the Loan in full.
The proceeds of insurance policies received as a result of damage to or destruction of the Project
shall be used to (i) restore or replace damaged or destroyed portions of the Project, (ii) to repay all
or a portion of the Loan, or (iii) any combination of the foregoing. If such insurance proceeds are
insufficient to restore or replace damaged portions of the Project, the Borrower shall provide
additional funds to restore or replace such portions of the Project. Repair, construction or
replacement shall be completed within a commercially reasonable period of time.
5.09

PROHIBITION ON ENCUMBRANCES AND TRANSFER

The Borrower is prohibited from selling, leasing, or disposing of any part of the Project
which would materially adversely affect the ability of the Borrower to meet its obligations under
this Agreement so long as this Agreement, including any amendment, is in effect, unless the written
consent of the Department is first obtained. If the Borrower disposes of any Project facility or
equipment, acquired in whole or in part with the federal funding provided under this Agreement,
during its useful life for any purpose except its replacement with like facility or equipment for
public transportation use, the Borrower will comply with the terms of 2 CFR Part 200 relating to
property management standards.
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ARTICLE VI - DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES
6.01

EVENTS OF DEFAULT.
The occurrence of any of the following events will be an Event of Default by the Borrower:

(1)
Any failure to make a Loan Payment when it is due that continues for a period of 5
days after the due date.
(2)
The making of any warranty, representation or other statement by, or on behalf of,
the Borrower contained in this Agreement or in any document, certificate or information furnished
in compliance with, or in reference to, this Agreement, that is determined to be false or misleading.
(3)
Entry of an order or decree, with the acquiescence of the Borrower, appointing a
receiver for any part of the Project or the Pledged Revenues; or the failure by the Borrower to
obtain an order or decree vacating, discharging, or staying any order or decree appointing a
receiver for any part of the Project or the Pledged Revenues that was entered without the consent
or acquiescence of the Borrower, within 60 days after the entry thereof.
(4)
The initiation of any proceeding, with the acquiescence of the Borrower, for the
purpose of effecting a composition between the Borrower and its creditors or for the purpose of
adjusting the claims of such creditors, pursuant to any federal or state statute now or hereafter
enacted, if the claims of such creditors are payable from Pledged Revenues.
(5)
The initiation of any bankruptcy, insolvency, or other similar proceeding by the
Borrower under federal or state bankruptcy or insolvency law now or hereafter in effect; or the
initiation of any bankruptcy, insolvency, or other similar proceeding against the Borrower under
federal or state bankruptcy or insolvency law now or hereafter in effect, if the Borrower does not
obtain an order dismissing the proceeding within 60 days after filing.
(6)
Any other failure to comply with the provisions of this Agreement or failure in the
performance or observance of any of the covenants or actions required by this Agreement (a
"General Non-compliance Default"), if the failure is not cured to the reasonable satisfaction of the
Department within 60 days after notice of the occurrence of the General Non-compliance Default
by the Department to the Borrower. If, within the time period provided in the previous sentence,
the General Non-compliance Default is not cured to the reasonable satisfaction of the Department,
the Borrower shall be deemed to be in default of this Agreement as of the date of the General Noncompliance Default. An Event of Default defined in subsections (1) through (5) of this section
shall not be considered a General Non-compliance Default.
6.02

REMEDIES.

Upon any Event of Default, the Department may pursue any available remedy at law or in
equity, including:
(1)
By action or suit in equity, require the Borrower to account for all moneys received
pursuant to this Agreement and require the Borrower to account for the receipt, use, application,
or disposition of the Pledged Revenues.
(2)
By action or suit in equity, enjoin any acts or things which may be unlawful or in
violation of the rights of the Department or the Division.
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(3)
By applying to a court of competent jurisdiction, cause the appointment of a
receiver to manage the Project, or collect the Pledged Revenues and apply the Pledged Revenues
to the reduction of the obligations under this Agreement.
(4)
By notifying financial market credit rating agencies and potential creditors of the
event of default.
(5)
By suing the Borrower for payment of amounts due, or becoming due, with interest
on overdue payments together with all costs of collection, including attorneys’ fees.
(6)
By certifying to the Auditor General and the Chief Financial Officer delinquency
on Loan repayments, the Department may provide for the payment to the Department of the
delinquent amount plus a penalty from any unobligated funds (expressly excluding any funds
otherwise pledged to repayment of bonds or other debt issued by the Borrower) due to the
Borrower under any revenue or tax sharing fund established by the State, except as otherwise
provided by the State Constitution. A penalty may be imposed in an amount not to exceed an
interest rate of 18 percent per annum on the amount due in addition to charging the cost to handle
and process the debt.
In addition to pursuing one or more of the above remedies, upon an Event of Default, the
Department may, by providing 60 days advance written notice to the Borrower, elect to terminate
this Agreement, and the Department shall have no further obligation or commitment under this
Agreement to the Borrower. Any partial Loan Repayments by the Borrower shall be allocated
first to interest and second to principal.
6.03

REMEDIES NOT EXCLUSIVE; DELAY AND WAIVER.

No remedy conferred upon or reserved to the Department by this Article is exclusive and
every such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy. No delay
or omission by the Department to exercise any right or power accruing as a result of an event of
default shall impair any such right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver of any such default,
and every such right and power may be exercised as often as may be deemed expedient. No waiver
of any default under this Agreement shall extend to or affect any subsequent event of default,
whether of the same or different provision of this Agreement, or shall impair consequent rights or
remedies. In no event shall the making by the Department of any Disbursement to the Borrower
constitute or be construed as a waiver by the Department of any breach of covenant or any default
which may then exist, and the making of such Disbursement by the Department while any such
breach or default shall exist shall in no way impair or prejudice any right or remedy available to
the Department with respect to such breach or default.
ARTICLE VIII - GENERAL PROVISIONS
7.01

DISCHARGE OF OBLIGATIONS.

All payments required to be made under this Agreement shall be cumulative and any
deficiencies in any State Fiscal Year shall be added to the payments due in the succeeding State
Fiscal Year and all State Fiscal Years thereafter until fully paid. Loan Payments shall continue to
be secured by this Agreement until all of the payments required are fully paid to the Department.
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7.02

ASSIGNMENT OF RIGHTS UNDER AGREEMENT.

The Borrower acknowledges that the Loan and all payments of principal and interest may
be pledged and assigned by the Department as security for the payment of principal of, premium,
if any, and interest on bonds that may be issued by the Department to fund the SIB and the
Borrower consents to such pledge and assignment. The Department and the State of Florida
Division of Bond Finance (the “Division”) may further pledge or assign all or any part of this
Agreement without the prior consent of the Borrower after written notification to the Borrower.
The Borrower shall not assign its rights and obligations under this Agreement without the prior
written consent of the Department.
7.03

AMENDMENT OF AGREEMENT.

This Agreement may be amended in writing, except that no amendment shall be permitted
which is inconsistent with any applicable State or Federal law.
7.04

ANNULMENT OF AGREEMENT.

The Department may unilaterally annul this Agreement if the Borrower has not drawn any
of the Loan proceeds within six months of the first scheduled Disbursement date. If the
Department unilaterally annuls this Agreement, the Department will provide written notification
to the Borrower.
7.05

SUSPENSION AND TERMINATION.

If the commencement, prosecution, or timely completion of the Project is rendered
improbable, infeasible, impossible, or illegal, or if any federal agency providing federal financial
assistance to the Project suspends or terminates federal financial assistance to the Project, by
written notice to the Borrower, the Department may suspend any or all of its obligations under this
Agreement until such time as the event or condition resulting in such suspension has ceased or
been corrected, or at its option, the Department may terminate any or all of its remaining
obligations under this Agreement.
Upon receipt of any termination or suspension notice, the Borrower shall repay the SIB
according to the provisions of the Agreement, or as otherwise agreed upon, in writing, by the
Department and the Borrower. The closing out of federal financial participation in the Project or
the reduction or elimination of local support for this Project shall not constitute a waiver of the
Borrower’s obligation to repay the Loan.
The Department reserves the right to unilaterally cancel this Agreement for refusal by the
Borrower to allow public access to all documents, papers, letters or other materials subject to the
provisions of Chapter 119, Florida Statutes, and made or received in conjunction with this
Agreement.
7.06

SEVERABILITY CLAUSE.

If any provision of this Agreement shall be held invalid or unenforceable, the remaining
provisions shall be construed and enforced as if such invalid or unenforceable provision had not
been contained herein. The Department and the Borrower shall endeavor in good-faith negotiations
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to replace the invalid, illegal, or unenforceable provision with valid provisions the economic effect
of which comes as close as possible to that of the invalid, illegal, or unenforceable provision.
7.07

APPROPRIATION.

The Department's performance and obligation to pay under this Agreement is contingent
upon an annual appropriation by the Legislature.
The provisions of Section 339.135(6)(a), Florida Statutes, are hereby incorporated
verbatim: "(a) The Department, during any fiscal year, shall not expend money, incur any liability,
or enter into any contract which, by its terms involves the expenditure of money in excess of the
amounts budgeted as available for expenditure during such fiscal year. Any contract, verbal or
written, made in violation of this subsection is null and void, and no money may be paid on such
contract. The Department shall require a statement from the comptroller of the Department that
funds are available prior to entering into any such contract or other binding commitment of funds.
Nothing herein contained shall prevent the making of contracts for periods exceeding 1 year, but
any contract so made shall be executory only for the value of the services to be rendered or agreed
to be paid for in succeeding fiscal years; and this paragraph shall be incorporated verbatim in all
contracts of the Department which are for an amount in excess of $25,000 and which have a term
for a period of more than 1 year."
7.08

MONITORING PROCEDURES, AUDIT REPORTS, AND RECORD RETENTION.

The administration of resources awarded through the Department to the Borrower by this
Agreement may be subject to audits and/or monitoring by the Department. The following
requirements do not limit the authority of the Department to conduct or arrange for the conduct of
additional audits or evaluations of Federal awards or limit the authority of any State agency
inspector general, the State of Florida Auditor General or any other State official. The Borrower
shall comply with all audit and audit reporting requirements as specified below:
(1)
In addition to reviews of audits conducted in accordance with 2 CFR Part 200,
Subpart F – Audit Requirements, and section 215.97 Florida Statutes, monitoring procedures may
include but not be limited to on-site visits by Department staff, limited scope audits as defined by
2 CFR 200.425, and/or other procedures including, reviewing any required performance and
financial reports, following up, ensuring corrective action, and issuing management decisions on
weaknesses found through audits when those findings pertain to Federal awards provided through
the Department by this Agreement. By entering into this Agreement, the Borrower agrees to
comply and cooperate fully with any monitoring procedures/processes deemed appropriate by the
Department. In the event the Department determines that a limited scope audit of the Borrower is
appropriate, the Borrower agrees to comply with any additional instructions provided by
Department staff to the Borrower regarding such audit. The Borrower further agrees to comply
and cooperate with any inspections, reviews, investigations, or audits deemed necessary by the
Department, State of Florida Chief Financial Officer (CFO) or State of Florida Auditor General.
(2)
The Borrower, a non-Federal entity as defined by 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F –
Audit Requirements, as a subrecipient of a Federal award awarded by the Department through this
Agreement is subject to the following requirements:
(a)
In the event the Borrower expends a total amount of Federal awards equal
to or in excess of the threshold established by 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F – Audit Requirements,
Page 16 of 29

the Borrower must have a Federal single or program-specific audit for such fiscal year conducted
in accordance with the provisions of 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F – Audit Requirements. Exhibit D
to this Agreement identifies the Federal resources awarded through the Department by this
Agreement. In determining Federal awards expended in a fiscal year, the Borrower must consider
all sources of Federal awards including Federal award resources received from the Department.
The determination of amounts of Federal awards expended should be in accordance with the
guidelines established in 2 CFR §§200.5022-503, as amended. An audit of the Borrower conducted
by the State of Florida Auditor General in accordance with the provisions of 2 CFR §200.514, will
meet the requirements of this part.
(b)
In connection with the audit requirements, the Borrower shall fulfill the
requirements relative to the auditee responsibilities as provided in 2 CFR §§200.508-512, as
amended.
(c)
In the event the Borrower expends less than the threshold established by 2
CFR Part 200, Subpart F – Audit Requirements, in Federal awards, the Borrower is exempt from
Federal audit requirements for that fiscal year. However, the Borrower must provide a single audit
exemption statement to the Department at FDOTSingleAudit@dot.state.fl.us no later than nine
months after the end of the Borrower’s audit period for each applicable audit year. In the event the
Borrower expends less than the threshold established by 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F – Audit
Requirements, in Federal awards in a fiscal year and elects to have an audit conducted in
accordance with the provisions of 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F – Audit Requirements, the cost of
the audit must be paid from non-Federal resources (i.e., the cost of such an audit must be paid from
the Borrower’s resources obtained from other than Federal entities).
(d)
Copies of reporting packages for audits conducted in accordance with 2
CFR Part 200, Subpart F – Audit Requirements, and required by this section, shall be submitted,
when required by 2 CFR §200.512, by or on behalf of the Borrower directly to the Federal Audit
Clearinghouse (FAC) as provided in 2 CFR §200.36 and §200.512. The FAC’s website provides
a data entry system and required forms for submitting the single audit reporting package. Updates
to the location of the FAC and data entry system may be found at the OMB website. The FAC is
the repository of record for audits required by 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F – Audit Requirements,
and this Agreement. However, the Department requires a copy of the audit reporting package also
be submitted to FDOTSingleAudit@dot.state.fl.us within the earlier of 30 calendar days after
receipt of the auditor’s report(s) or nine months after the end of the audit period as required by 2
CFR Part 200, Subpart F – Audit Requirements.
(e)
Within six months of acceptance of the audit report by the FAC, the
Department will review the Borrower’s audit reporting package, including corrective action plans
and management letters, to the extent necessary to determine whether timely and appropriate
action on all deficiencies has been taken pertaining to the Federal award provided through the
Department by this Agreement. If the Borrower fails to have an audit conducted in accordance
with 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F – Audit Requirements, the Department may impose additional
conditions to remedy noncompliance. If the Department determines that noncompliance cannot be
remedied by imposing additional conditions, the Department may take appropriate actions to
enforce compliance , which actions may include, but are not limited to, the following:
1.

Temporarily withhold cash payments pending correction of the deficiency
by the Borrower or more severe enforcement action by the Department;
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2.
3.
4.

5.
6.

Disallow (deny both use of funds and any applicable matching credit for)
all or part of the cost of the activity or action not in compliance;
Wholly or partly suspend or terminate the Federal award;
Initiate suspension or debarment proceedings as authorized under 2 CFR
Part 180 and Federal awarding agency regulations (or in the case of the
Department, recommend such a proceeding be initiated by the Federal
awarding agency);
Withhold further Federal awards for the Project or program;
Take other remedies that may be legally available.

(f)
As a condition of receiving this Federal award, the Borrower shall permit
the Department, or its designee, the CFO or State of Florida Auditor General access to the
Borrower’s records including financial statements, the independent auditor’s working papers and
project records as necessary. Records related to unresolved audit findings, appeals or litigation
shall be retained until the action is complete or the dispute is resolved.
(g)
Copies of financial reporting packages required by this section shall be
submitted by or on behalf of the Borrower directly to each of the following:
The Department at the following address:
Office of Comptroller, MS 24
605 Suwannee Street
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0450
FDOTSingleAudit@dot.state.fl.us
The Auditor General’s Office at the following address:
Auditor General
Local Government Audits/342
Claude Pepper Building, Room 401
111 West Madison Street
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1450
The Auditor General’s website (https://flauditor.gov/) provides instructions for filing an electronic
copy of a financial reporting package.
(h)
Any reports or other information required to be submitted to the Department
pursuant to this Agreement shall be submitted timely in accordance with 2 CFR §200.512, section
215.97, Florida Statutes, and Chapters 10.550 (local government entities) and 10.650 (nonprofit
and for-profit organizations), Rules of the Auditor General, as applicable.
(i)
The Borrower, when submitted financial reporting packages to the
Department for audits done in accordance with 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F – Audit Requirements,
or Chapters 10.550 (local government entities) and 10.650 (nonprofit and for-profit organizations),
Rules of the Auditor General, should indicate the date that the reporting package was delivered to
the recipient in correspondence accompanying the reporting package.
(3)

The Borrower shall retain sufficient records demonstrating its compliance with the
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terms of the award and this Agreement for a period of five years from the date the audit report is
issued and shall allow the Department, or its designee, the CFO or State of Florida Auditor General
access to such records upon request. The Borrower shall ensure that the audit working papers are
made available to the Department, or its designee, the CFO, or State of Florida Auditor General
upon request for a period of five years from the date the audit report is issued unless extended in
writing by the Department. The Borrower shall further permit access to all Project records by the
Secretary and Inspector General of the United States Department of Transportation and the
Comptroller General of the United States, or their designees.
(4)
The Borrower shall permit and shall require its contractors to permit, the
Department’s and the United States Department of Transportation’s authorized representatives to
access the Project site, inspect all work, materials, payrolls and records; and to audit the books,
records and accounts pertaining to the financing and development of the Project.
(5)
The Borrower agrees to comply with s. 20.055(5), Florida Statutes, and to
incorporate in all subcontracts the obligation to comply with s. 20.055(5), Florida Statutes.
7.09

PROGRESS REPORTS.

The Borrower shall provide the Department’s SIB Program Manager, semi-annual progress
reports on "program and financial activities" that occur each year. The report will be signed or
submitted electronically in accordance with Chapter 668, Florida Statutes, by an Authorized
Representative. The following program information shall be included: program accomplishments
(specific action taken to implement approved objectives/activities) and percent of
accomplishments for each in terms of percentage completed; problems delaying implementation;
and revised Project schedules if activities are not conforming to approved Project schedules as
contained in the application. The following financial information shall be included: beginning
fund balance; amount of expenditures; ending fund balance; interest earned to date; and the amount
and percent of funds being contributed to the Project from other sources. The semi-annual progress
report
is
available
on
the
SIB
website
at
http://www.dot.state.fl.us/officeofcomptroller/PFO/sib.shtm.
All costs charged to the Project shall be supported by properly executed payrolls, time
records, invoices, contracts, or vouchers evidencing in proper detail the nature and propriety of the
charges.
Any check or order drawn by the Borrower with respect to any item which is or will be
supported by the Loan must be supported with a properly signed voucher on file in the office of
the Borrower stating in proper detail the purpose for which such check or order is drawn. All
checks, payrolls, invoices, contracts, vouchers, orders, or other accounting documents pertaining
in whole or in part to the Project shall be clearly identified, and readily accessible, and, to the
extent feasible, kept separate and apart from all other such documents.
7.10

PROJECT COSTS AND THIRD PARTY AGREEMENTS.

Prior to execution of this Agreement by the Department, the Borrower shall not incur any
liability for consultant services, construction or purchase of commodities to any third party with
respect to the Project that it intends to or will fund through a Disbursement. Only Project costs
incurred on or after the Effective Date and prior to any termination of this Agreement are eligible
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for reimbursement. The Loan does not constitute a commitment, guarantee, or obligation on the
part of the United States to any third party, nor shall any third party have any right against the
United States for payment solely by virtue of the contributions of Federal funds into the Florida
SIB.
7.11

DISCRIMINATORY VENDOR.

Pursuant to Section 287.134(3)(a), Florida Statutes, the following is included in this
Agreement. Section 287.134(2)(a), Florida Statutes: "An entity or affiliate who has been placed
on the discriminatory vendor list may not submit a bid on a contract to provide any goods or
services to a public entity, may not submit a bid on a contract with a public entity for the
construction or repair of a public building or public work, may not submit bids, proposals, or
replies on leases of real property to a public entity, may not be awarded or perform work as a
contractor, supplier, subcontractor, or consultant under a contract with any public entity, and may
not transact business with any public entity."
7.12

NO OBLIGATION TO THIRD PARTIES.

Except to the extent otherwise provided in this Agreement, neither the Department nor the
Borrower shall be obligated or liable hereunder to any person or entity not a party to this
Agreement.
7.13

THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARY

To the extent this Agreement confers upon or grants to the Division any right, remedy, or
claim hereunder, the Division is recognized as being a third party beneficiary of this Agreement
and may enforce any such right, remedy, or claim given or granted by the terms of this Agreement.
7.14

BONUS OR COMMISSION.

By execution of the Agreement the Borrower represents that it has not paid, is not obligated
to pay, and agrees not to pay, any bonus or commission for the purpose of obtaining the
Department’s approval of its application for the Loan.
7.15

INDEMNITY.

To the extent allowed by law, the Borrower shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the
Department and all of its officers, agents, and employees from any claim, loss, damages, cost,
charge, or expense arising out of any act, error, omission, or negligent act by the Borrower, its
agents, employees, contractors and/or subcontractors during the performance of the Agreement,
except that neither the Borrower, its agents, employees, contractors and/or subcontractors will be
liable under this paragraph for any claim, loss, damages, cost, charge, or expense arising out of
any act, error, omission, or negligent act by the Department, or any of its officers, agents, or
employees, during the performance of the Agreement.
If the Department receives notice of claim for damages that may have been caused by the
Borrower in the performance of services required under this Agreement, the Department will
immediately forward the claim to the Borrower. The Department’s failure to promptly notify the
Borrower of a claim will not act as a waiver of any right herein.
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7.16

ENTIRE AGREEMENT.

The Loan Application executed by the Borrower, all exhibits, attachments and schedules
attached to the Loan Application, and this Agreement ("the Agreement Documents") contain the
entire agreement between the parties and incorporate and supercede all prior negotiations,
correspondence, conversations, agreements or understandings relating to the Loan, and the parties
hereto agree that there are no commitments, agreements or understandings concerning the Loan
that are not contained in the Agreement Documents. No deviation from the terms of the Agreement
Documents shall be predicated upon any prior representation or agreements whether oral or
written. No modification, amendment or alteration in the terms and conditions contained in the
Agreement Documents shall be effective unless contained in a written document executed by the
parties.
In the event of conflict between the terms and conditions of the Agreement Documents: (i)
the terms and conditions contained in the body of this Agreement prevail over conflicting terms
and conditions contained in any exhibits, schedules and attachments attached to this Agreement;
(ii) the terms and conditions contained in the body of the Loan Application prevail over any
conflicting terms and conditions contained in any exhibits, schedules and attachments attached to
the Loan Application; and (iii) the terms and conditions of the Agreement, including all exhibits,
schedules and attachments hereto, prevail over conflicting terms and conditions contained in the
Loan Application and any exhibits, schedules and attachments to the Loan Application.
7.17

NOTICES.

Any notice, demand, request or other instrument which is required to be given under this
Agreement in writing shall be delivered to the following addresses:
If to the Department: SIB Program Manager
Florida Department of Transportation
Office of Comptroller – Project Finance
605 Suwannee Street, MS #10
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0450
If to Borrower:

7.18

Charlotte County Airport Authority
Chief Executive Officer
28000 A-1 Airport Road
Punta Gorda, Florida 33982

SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY

Nothing in this Agreement shall constitute a waiver by either party of its sovereign
immunity for any damages claimed by third parties.
7.19

E-VERIFY.
The Borrower:
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1.
Shall utilize the U.S. Department of Homeland Security’s E-Verify system
to verify the employment eligibility of all new employees hired by the Vendor/Contractor
during the term of the contract; and
2.
Shall expressly require any subcontractors performing work or providing
services pursuant to the state contract to likewise utilize the U.S. Department of Homeland
Security’s E-Verify system to verify the employment eligibility of all new employees hired
by the subcontractor during the contract term.
7.20

SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS.

The provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the
parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns permitted hereby.
7.21

GOVERNING LAW.

THIS AGREEMENT AND THE RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF THE PARTIES
HEREUNDER SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED AND INTERPRETED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAW OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, WITHOUT REGARD TO
CONFLICTS OF LAWS PRINCIPLES THEREOF.
7.22

JURY TRIAL WAIVER.

THE BORROWER AND THE DEPARTMENT HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AND
UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVES TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL ACTION OR
PROCEEDING RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT AND FOR ANY COUNTERCLAIM
THEREIN.
7.23

EXECUTION OF AGREEMENT.

This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, which together shall constitute one
agreement.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS ON THE NEXT PAGE]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Department has caused this Agreement to be executed on its
behalf by its Secretary, and the Borrower has caused this Agreement to be executed on its behalf
by its Authorized Representative.

STATE OF FLORIDA,
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT
AUTHORITY

By:

By:

________________________________

________________________________

Legal Review

Legal Review

_______________________________________

_______________________________________
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EXHIBIT A
Summary Project Specifications

Improvements to relocate the Borrower’s existing general aviation facilities, develop the
general aviation apron, taxiway, buildings, hangers and parking facilities, including:
Landside Elements
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

A new GA Terminal Building that will house:
• Fixed Base Operations facilities/offices
• Tenant Spaces
• A community meeting room to accommodate 25-30 people
• Public Restrooms
• Public Waiting Area
• Building Support Facilities
• Expansion capability
3,000 SF restaurant connected to the GA Terminal
Ground Service Equipment (GSE) storage (for 2 tugs, 2 ground power units, lavatory cart and two
vehicles)
Landside Roadways
Vehicle parking area accommodating 127 spaces for the GA Terminal
Access roadways and parking for a relocated 8-unit 60’x60’ Storage Hangar
Site Utilities (Water, Sewer, Power & Communication)
Storm Water Systems
Landscaping

Airside Elements
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Public-Use Aircraft parking apron accommodating 24 ADG I/II aircraft (maximum wing span of
55- feet) or 8 ADG II aircraft (maximum wingspan of 78-feet) parking/tie-down positions; 25
ADG I (maximum wing-span of 49-feet) parking/tie-down positions; and, at the south end of the
apron, parking for ADG III aircraft (maximum wingspan of 100-feet).
Security Fence and Gate(s) with access controllers and security cameras
Extension of the PGD Fiber Optic lines
Taxiway/Taxilanes
Airfield/Apron Lighting
Storm Water Systems
Parking Area for three (3) Refuelers (2 Avgas, 1 jet)
Self-service fueling facility (relocated existing 12,000-gallon fuel tank on new site
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EXHIBIT B
LOAN DISBURSEMENT/PAYMENT SCHEDULE
Charlotte County Airport Authority
Punta Gorda Airport General Aviation Center - Airside Improvements
Fiscal
Year
2020/21
2021/22
2022/23
2023/24
2024/25
2025/26
2026/27
2027/28
2028/29
2029/30
2030/31
2031/32

Date
10/1/2020
10/1/2021
10/1/2022
10/1/2023
10/1/2024
10/1/2025
10/1/2026
10/1/2027
10/1/2028
10/1/2029
10/1/2030
10/1/2031

Beginning
Balance
$0.00
$9,185,237.50
$8,346,381.65
$7,490,748.68
$6,618,003.06
$5,727,802.52
$4,819,797.97
$3,893,633.33
$2,948,945.39
$1,985,363.70
$1,002,510.38
$0.00

Estimated/Actual
Disbursement
$9,185,237.50
$0.00
$0.00
$0.00
$0.00
$0.00
$0.00
$0.00
$0.00
$0.00
$0.00
$0.00
$9,185,237.50

Interest
Accrued at
2.0%
$0.00
$183,704.75
$166,927.63
$149,814.97
$132,360.06
$114,556.05
$96,395.96
$77,872.67
$58,978.91
$39,707.27
$20,050.21
$0.00
$1,040,368.48

Balance Including
Interest
$9,185,237.50
$9,368,942.25
$8,513,309.28
$7,640,563.66
$6,750,363.12
$5,842,358.57
$4,916,193.93
$3,971,505.99
$3,007,924.30
$2,025,070.98
$1,022,560.58
$0.00

Repayment to
Principal
$0.00
$838,855.85
$855,632.97
$872,745.63
$890,200.54
$908,004.55
$926,164.64
$944,687.93
$963,581.69
$982,853.33
$1,002,510.37
$0.00
$9,185,237.50

Repayment to
Interest
$0.00
$183,704.75
$166,927.63
$149,814.97
$132,360.06
$114,556.05
$96,395.96
$77,872.67
$58,978.91
$39,707.27
$20,050.21
$0.00
$1,040,368.48

Total
Repayment
$0.00
$1,022,560.60
$1,022,560.60
$1,022,560.60
$1,022,560.60
$1,022,560.60
$1,022,560.60
$1,022,560.60
$1,022,560.60
$1,022,560.60
$1,022,560.58
$10,225,605.98

Interest begins accruing with the first disbursement and will accrue and compound annually each October 1 thereafter, until loan is completely repaid.
These calculations assume the following disbursement dates:
FY 2020/21

$9,185,237.50

If disbursements are made on dates other than those above, the interest calculations will be modified and this schedule updated according.
Total Loan Amount
Total Interest
Total Repayments

$9,185,237.50
$1,040,368.48
$10,225,605.98

Remit Payment to:
Mailing Address:

Florida Department of Transportation
Office of the Comptroller
605 Suwannee Street, MS #10
Tallahassee, FL 32399-0450

FDOT Wires:

Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.
Account#: 4834783896
ABA#: 121000248
Chief Financial Officer of Florida
RE: DOT Type K11-78, 446943-1

Note on Payment for "FDOT SIB Loan - 446943-1-94-01"
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Ending Balance
$9,185,237.50
$8,346,381.65
$7,490,748.68
$6,618,003.06
$5,727,802.52
$4,819,797.97
$3,893,633.33
$2,948,945.39
$1,985,363.70
$1,002,510.38
$0.00
$0.00

EXHIBIT C
DISBURSEMENT REQUEST FORM

VENDOR NAME:

Charlotte County Airport Authority

TOTAL SIB LOAN AMOUNT:

$9,185,237.50

DATE OF THIS DISBURSEMENT REQUEST:

____________________

DISBURSEMENT/INVOICE NUMBER:

____________________

AMOUNT REQUESTED FOR THIS DISBURSEMENT: $___________________
BALANCE OF LOAN TO BE DISBURSED:

$___________________

FINANCIAL PROJECT NUMBER:

446943-1-94-01

VENDOR IDENTIFICATION NUMBER:

F591082365-004

CONTRACT NUMBER:

____________________

DRAW PERIOD RELATED TO THIS REQUEST:

____________________

Warrant should be disbursed to:
Vendor Name:

Charlotte County Airport Authority

Address:

28000 A-1 Airport Road
Punta Gorda, Florida 33982

Contact Person:

James W. Parish, P.E.

Contact Title:

Chief Executive Officer

Contact Telephone Number:

(941) 639-1101 ext. 101

Contact E-Mail Address:

jparish@flypgd.com

Per Section 3.03 Loan Disbursements of the State Infrastructure Bank Loan Agreement, I certify,
to the best of my knowledge, $______________________ in expenses is needed on the
____________________________________ project and these costs are eligible for
advancement/reimbursement and use of the SIB funds.
_________________________________________________
Signature
_________________________________________________
Printed Name and Title
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EXHIBIT D
FEDERAL FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE (SINGLE AUDIT ACT)
FEDERAL RESOURCES AWARDED PURSUANT TO THIS AGREEMENT ARE AS FOLLOWS:
CFDA No.:
CFDA Title:
*Award Amount:
Awarding Agency:

20.205
HIGHWAY PLANNING AND CONSTRUCTION
Federal-Aid Highway Program, Federal Lands Highway Program
$9,185,237.50
Florida Department of Transportation

Indirect Cost Rate:
**Award is for R&D:
*The federal award amount may change with supplemental agreements
**Research and Development as defined at §200.87, 2 CFR Part 200

FEDERAL RESOURCES AWARDED PURSUANT TO THIS AGREEMENT ARE SUBJECT TO THE
FOLLOWING AUDIT REQUIREMENTS:
2 CFR Part 200 – Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles & Audit Requirements for
Federal Awards
www.ecfr.gov
OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments and Non-Profit Organizations
www.whitehouse.gov/omb/circulars

FEDERAL RESOURCES AWARDED PURSUANT TO THIS AGREEMENT MAY ALSO BE SUBJECT
TO THE FOLLOWING:
OMB Circular A-87, Cost Principles for State, Local and Indian Tribal Governments
www.whitehouse.gov/omb/circulars
23 USC Chapter 6: Infrastructure Finance
uscode.house.gov/browse.xhtml
TEA-21, Title I – Federal-Aid Highways – Section 1511: State Infrastructure Bank Pilot Program
www.fhwa.dot.gov/tea21/h2400.htm
Title III – Miscellaneous Highway Provisions – Section 350: State Infrastructure Bank Pilot Program
www.fhwa.dot.gov/legsregs/title3.html
23 USC Chapter 1 – Section 129: Toll roads, bridges, tunnels, and ferries
uscode.house.gov/browse.xhtml
AASHTO: Florida SIB Legislation
www.transportation-finance.org
Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act (FFATA) Sub-award Reporting System (FSRS)
www.fsrs.gov
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EXHIBIT E
FORM OF BORROWER’S ATTORNEY OPINION

___________, 2020
State of Florida Department of Transportation
Tallahassee, Florida
Re:

Loan Agreement dated ________________, 2020

Ladies and Gentlemen:
I am the Attorney for the Charlotte County Airport Authority (the “Borrower"). This
opinion is being rendered in connection with the $9,185,237.50 loan (the "Loan") to the Borrower
pursuant to the Loan Agreement dated _______, 2020 between the State of Florida Department of
Transportation (the "Department") and the Borrower (the "Loan Agreement").
In such capacity, I have examined such documents, records of the Borrower and other
instruments as I have deemed necessary to enable me to express the opinions set forth below,
including original counterparts or certified copies of, a Resolution adopted on
______________________, 2020 (the "Resolution") pertaining to the Loan, and the Loan
Agreement. Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined herein have the meanings
given to such terms in the Loan Agreement.
Based on the foregoing, I am of the opinion that:
1.
The Borrower is a duly existing special district of the State of Florida (the "State")
and had and has good right and lawful authority and power under the Constitution and laws of the
State, including, without limitation, the Act, to adopt the Resolution, to authorize and enter into
the Loan for the purposes for which such Loan was authorized, to finance the Project and to
authorize, execute and deliver the Loan Agreement and all other documents executed and delivered
by the Borrower in connection with the Loan (collectively, the "Loan Documents").
2.
The Borrower has taken all actions and received any approvals necessary for the
authorization, execution, delivery and performance by the Borrower of the Loan Documents. The
Resolution has been duly adopted by the Borrower and is in full force and effect; the Loan has
been duly and validly authorized and issued in accordance with the Act and the Resolution, and
the Loan Documents have been duly authorized, executed and delivered, and except as set forth
below, the Resolution and the Loan Documents constitute the valid, legal and binding obligations
of the Borrower enforceable in accordance with their respective terms, and no other authorization
of the Resolution is required.
3.
The Borrower's pledge of the Pledged Revenues expressed in the Loan Agreement
is valid and enforceable, and no election or referendum is required to make the pledge of the
Pledged Revenues valid and legally enforceable.
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